
                     NOTICE OF MEETING

              CABINET
will meet on

THURSDAY, 25TH JULY, 2019

At 8.15 pm

in the

GREY ROOM - YORK HOUSE, WINDSOR

TO: MEMBERS OF CABINET

DUDLEY, LEADER OF THE COUNCIL,MAIDENHEAD REGENERATION AND
MAIDENHEAD (INCLUDES COMMUNICATIONS AND PROPERTY)

COPPINGER, DEPUTY LEADER OF THE COUNCIL, PLANNING

RAYNER, DEPUTY CHAIRMAN OF CABINET, CULTURE, COMMUNITIES AND
WINDSOR (INCL. CUSTOMER AND BUSINESS SERVICES)

CARROLL, ADULTS, CHILDREN AND HEALTH

HILTON, FINANCE AND ASCOT

CLARK, SUSTAINABILITY, WASTE SERVICES AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

CANNON, PUBLIC PROTECTION

SHELIM, HR, LEGAL & IT (INCLUDES PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT)

JOHNSON, INFRASTRUCTURE, TRANSPORT POLICY AND HOUSING

Karen Shepherd – Service Lead Governance - Issued: Wednesday, 17 July 2019

Members of the Press and Public are welcome to attend Part I of this meeting. The agenda is available on the Council’s 
web site at www.rbwm.gov.uk or contact the Panel Administrator David Cook 01628 796560

Fire Alarm - In the event of the fire alarm sounding or other emergency, please leave the building quickly and calmly 
by the nearest exit.  Do not stop to collect personal belongings and do not use the lifts.  Do not re-enter the building 
until told to do so by a member of staff.
Recording of Meetings –In line with the council’s commitment to transparency the meeting will be audio recorded, 
and filmed and broadcast through the online application Periscope. The footage can be found through the council’s 
main Twitter feed @RBWM or via the Periscope website. The audio recording will also be made available on the 
RBWM website, after the meeting. 
Filming, recording and photography of public Council meetings  may be undertaken by any person attending the 
meeting. By entering the meeting room you are acknowledging that you may be audio or video recorded and that this 
recording will be in the public domain. If you have any questions regarding the council’s policy, please speak to the 
Democratic Services or Legal representative at the meeting.

Public Document Pack

http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/


AGENDA

PART I
ITEM SUBJECT PAGE 

NO

1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive any apologies for absence
 

-

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive any declarations of interest
 

5 - 6

3.  MINUTES

To consider the Part I minutes of the meeting held on 27 June 2019
 

7 - 12

4.  APPOINTMENTS -

5.  FORWARD PLAN

To consider the Forward Plan for the period August 2019 to November 2019
 

13 - 20

6.  CABINET MEMBERS' REPORTS

Infrastructure, Transport Policy and Housing

i. Highways and Transport Investment Programme 2019-20 21 - 30

Sustainability, Waste Services and Economic Development

ii. Energy Contract Procurement 31 - 36

Finance and Ascot

iii. Financial Update 37 - 48

Deputy Leader of the Council, Planning

iv. Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan Decision to Proceed to 
Referendum 

49 - 134





This page is intentionally left blank



 
MEMBERS’ GUIDE TO DECLARING INTERESTS IN MEETINGS  

 
Disclosure at Meetings 
 
If a Member has not disclosed an interest in their Register of Interests, they must make the declaration of 
interest at the beginning of the meeting, or as soon as they are aware that they have a DPI or Prejudicial 
Interest. If a Member has already disclosed the interest in their Register of Interests they are still required to 
disclose this in the meeting if it relates to the matter being discussed.   
 
A member with a DPI or Prejudicial Interest may make representations at the start of the item but must not 
take part in the discussion or vote at a meeting. The speaking time allocated for Members to make 
representations is at the discretion of the Chairman of the meeting.  In order to avoid any accusations of taking 
part in the discussion or vote, after speaking, Members should move away from the panel table to a public area 
or, if they wish, leave the room.  If the interest declared has not been entered on to a Members’ Register of 
Interests, they must notify the Monitoring Officer in writing within the next 28 days following the meeting.  

 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs) (relating to the Member or their partner) include: 
 

 Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

 Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit made in respect of any expenses occurred in 
carrying out member duties or election expenses. 

 Any contract under which goods and services are to be provided/works to be executed which has not been 
fully discharged. 

 Any beneficial interest in land within the area of the relevant authority. 

 Any licence to occupy land in the area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. 

 Any tenancy where the landlord is the relevant authority, and the tenant is a body in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest. 

 Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where:  
a) that body has a piece of business or land in the area of the relevant authority, and  
b) either (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued 
share capital of that body or (ii) the total nominal value of the shares of any one class belonging to the 
relevant person exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 

 
Any Member who is unsure if their interest falls within any of the above legal definitions should seek advice 
from the Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting. 
 
A Member with a DPI should state in the meeting: ‘I declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in item x 
because xxx. As soon as we come to that item, I will leave the room/ move to the public area for the 
entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Or, if making representations on the item: ‘I declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in item x because xxx. 
As soon as we come to that item, I will make representations, then I will leave the room/ move to the 
public area for the entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Prejudicial Interests 
 
Any interest which a reasonable, fair minded and informed member of the public would reasonably believe is so 
significant that it harms or impairs the Member’s ability to judge the public interest in the item, i.e. a Member’s 
decision making is influenced by their interest so that they are not able to impartially consider relevant issues.   
 
A Member with a Prejudicial interest should state in the meeting: ‘I declare a Prejudicial Interest in item x 
because xxx. As soon as we come to that item, I will leave the room/ move to the public area for the 
entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Or, if making representations in the item: ‘I declare a Prejudicial Interest in item x because xxx. As soon as 
we come to that item, I will make representations, then I will leave the room/ move to the public area for 
the entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Personal interests 
 
Any other connection or association which a member of the public may reasonably think may influence a 
Member when making a decision on council matters.  
 

Members with a Personal Interest should state at the meeting: ‘I wish to declare a Personal Interest in item x 
because xxx’. As this is a Personal Interest only, I will take part in the discussion and vote on the 
matter. 5

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET

THURSDAY, 27 JUNE 2019

PRESENT: Councillors Andrew Johnson, Simon Dudley (Chairman), David Coppinger
(Vice-Chairman), Samantha Rayner, Stuart Carroll, David Hilton, David Cannon, Gerry 
Clark and Shamsul Shelim

Also in attendance: Cllr Sharpe and Cllr Brar.

Officers: Duncan Sharkey, Russell O’Keefe, Kevin McDaniel, Louisa Dean, Rob 
Stubbs, Andy Jeffs, Hilary Hall, Nikki Craig, Jenifer Jackson and David Cook.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

There were no apologies received. 

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Councillor Rayner declared a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in item 6 iv JCEB Minerals and 
Waste Plan – Consultation on an Additional Allocation, because of her husband family trust. 
She left the room for the duration of the discussion and voting on the item.

MINUTES 

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That the minutes of the meeting held on 30 May 2019 were 
approved.

APPOINTMENTS 

Cllr Hilton was appointed to the AFC Joint Committee.

FORWARD PLAN 

Cabinet considered the contents of the Forward Plan for the next four months and noted the 
changes made since the last meeting including the addition of two petitions regarding 
Stafferton Way handed into Council to be considered by Cabinet and that the RBWM Property 
Company Business Plan will move from July to August Cabinet. 

CABINET MEMBERS' REPORTS 

A) BERKSHIRE LOCAL INDUSTRIAL STRATEGY CONSULTATION - RBWM 
RESPONSE 

The Lead Member responsible for Economic Development introduced the report regarding the 
RBWM response to the Berkshire Local Industrial Strategy Consultation.

The Lead Member informed that the report fed into the framework document and sought high 
level responses from members of the LEP looking at the key elements of building an 
infrastructure for the future within the Thames Valley taking into account future development 
over the next few years.  The aim was to make the Thames Valley remain an attractive place 
for employment to develop and be sustainable. 

7

Agenda Item 3



The Lead Member for Finance said he welcomed the document and that the LEP was looking 
at the long term future of Berkshire, however he would have liked to have seen more mention 
of the Royal Borough. 

Resolved unanimously: that Cabinet notes the report and agrees the consultation 
response to the BLIS Framework Document and authorises the Executive Director for 
Place to submit it formally to the Thames Valley Berkshire LEP.

B) FIRE COMPARTMENTALISATION WORKS 

The Chairman introduced the report that requested an additional budget of £464,202 for Fire 
Compartmentalisation works to maintained schools, in order to protect the occupants against 
the potential spread of fire, and to meet health and safety legislation.

The Lead Member for Adults, Children and Health informed that the funding was on top of 
what was already provided to maintain our schools and meet health ad safety requirements. 

Resolved unanimously: that Cabinet notes the report and approved the additional 
capital budget of £464,202 to ensure the council’s obligations are met and 
implemented.

C) FINANCIAL UPDATE 

The Lead Member for Finance and Ascot introduced the latest financial update report. 

Cabinet were informed that the £3.5 million previously reported by the then Lead Member for 
Finance, Cllr Saunders,  back in February 2019 had now been transferred into the accounts.  
After further movement such as additional redundancy costs left reserves at £10,133,000 
which was the highest the Lead member could remember.

Although reserves were healthy there would be calls upon them such as the 24 hour pot hole 
pledge and Heathrow legal challenge.  The Lead Member said that it was important to retain 
reserves at this level to help protect statutory services.  Cabinet were informed that there was 
a recommendation for revenue budget of £41,000 for the MAKE MAIDENHEAD marketing 
strategy, £31,000 is revenue costs and £10,000 is a capital programme budget.

The Chairman informed that the Make Maidenhead brand would replace Enjoy Maidenhead 
and Maidenhead Regen as the overarching brand for the town.  Twitter and Facebook would 
be transferred in September 2019 with a new website in place in time for the Christmas lights 
switch on. 

The Lead Member for Finance went on to explain that there were also recommendations for 
capital programme budget addition of £100,000 for the Oaks Leisure centre project, £121,000 
from the Pothole Action and Flood Resilience Fund and £74,000 for Parks improvement works 
funded by MHCLG grant.  Two risks had been identified relating to placements, particularly 
learning disability, and legal costs arising from complex court cases.  These were being 
mitigated by the service areas. 

Resolved unanimously:  that Cabinet notes the report and:

i)   Notes the council’s projected outturn position for 2019-20.
ii) Approves a revenue budget of £41,000 for the MAKE MAIDENHEAD marketing 

strategy, £31,000 is revenue costs (of which £10,000 is recurring) and £10,000 
is a capital programme budget, see paragraph 4.12 .

iii) Approves a capital programme budget addition of £100,000 for the Oaks 
Leisure centre project, see paragraph, 4.16.

iv) Approves a capital programme budget addition of £121,000 from the Pothole 
Action and Flood Resilience Fund, see paragraph 4.17.

8



v) Approves a capital programme budget addition of £74,000 for Parks 
improvement works funded by MHCLG grant, see paragraph 4.18.

D) JCEB MINERALS & WASTE PLAN - CONSULTATION ON A POTENTIAL 
ADDITIONAL ALLOCATION 

(Cllr Rayner left the room during the duration of this item and did not vote)

The Lead Member for Planning introduced the report that sought approval to publish a 
document on the potentially allocation of Bray Quarry Extension in the emerging Joint 
Minerals and Waste Plan for consultation.

Cabinet were informed that there was a lot of focus on housing and the Borough Local Plan 
but there were other supporting policies that were required such as the Minerals and Waste 
Plan.

The Council had been working with Bracknell Forest, Reading and Wokingham Borough 
councils to produce a Joint Minerals and Waste Plan. A draft version of the Plan was 
published in August 2018 for consultation.  It was then decided to undertake a further call for 
sites and one new site, Bray Quarry Extension, was put forward by the minerals and waste 
industry.  This would be a continuation of sand and gravel extraction at the Bray site, which 
had a long history of mineral workings.  Minerals would be transported by conveyor belt to the 
nearby Monkey Island processing plant in order to reduce HGV movements.  Cabinet were 
asked to approve a focused consultation on the proposed amendments. 

The Chairman asked who owned the site and was informed that it was Summerleaze and due 
to the conveyor belt there would not be a sharp rise in HGV movement.

Resolved unanimously:  that Cabinet notes the report and:

i) Approves a consultation, under Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Local Planning) Regulation 2012, on the possible inclusion of a new site (Bray 
Quarry Extension) in the Proposed Submission version of the Joint Central and 
Eastern Berkshire Minerals & Waste Plan;

ii) Approves the publication of consultation documents related to the Bray Quarry 
Extension site; and 

iii) Authorises the Head of Planning, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder, to 
make any minor amendments necessary to the consultation documents related 
to the Bray Quarry Extension site prior to community involvement.

E) ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018/19 

The Lead Member for HR, Legal and IT (includes Performance Management) introduced the 
2018/19 Annual Performance Report.

Cabinet were informed that the council performance management framework had 25 key 
measures aligned to the strategic objectives in the Council Plan 2017-21.  Of the 25 measures 
reported performance at year end, 1 April 2018 - 31 March 2019, resulted in 16 measures 
meeting or exceeding target, 7 measures just short of target but within tolerance and 2 
measures being below target.  The two measures had reported ‘Red’ were the percentage of 
children with a review at 2-2.5 years of age and the performance of the Tivoli contract.

The Chairman informed that the performance management framework was in a better position 
than before and he requested that the Lead Members for the two indicators that had not met 
their target to provide further detail.  

9



The Lead Member for Adults, Children and Health informed that the percentage of children 
with a review at 2-2.5 years of age was reported to the NHS by local authorities in a variety of 
ways.  The Royal Borough had taken a strict interpretation of the target and only included face 
to face contact whilst other authorities had included contact made in writing where a parent 
declined a visit.  It had been decided to keep the strict interpretation but add a secondary 
indicator reporting where parents had been contacted but declined a visit from the health 
visitor.   The Lead Member said that all vulnerable children had been visited and that the least 
deprived wards had a higher level of declines as parents felt the visit was not required.

The Lead Member for Culture, Communities and Windsor reported that the performance of the 
Tivoli contract had been a concern and mitigating actions had been taken.  Additional 
resources had recently been secured to improve poor performance in specific areas, however, 
sustained improvement across the contract was not being realised.

Increased performance management and monitoring had been put in place and issues had 
been escalated to Director level within Tivoli. Financial penalties had been applied and 
performance was due to be revived by scrutiny.  As the contract covered areas that where 
important to our residents officers had looked at alternative providers and Tivoli  had been 
given final notice to improve.  

The Chairman reported that the Council would terminate the contract if performance did not 
improve and meet expectations.  He expected performance to be improved by the time the 
performance report came back to Cabinet.  Tivoli would continue to receive financial penalties 
whilst performance was poor.  

The Lead Member for Planning highlighted the excellent performance for delayed transfers of 
care where nationally this was an issue for many authorities.  

Resolved unanimously:  that Cabinet notes the report and:

i) Endorses the 2018/19 Annual Performance Report, summarised in Table 1 
and Appendix A.

ii) Requests relevant Lead Members, Directors and Heads of Service to 
maintain focus on improving performance.

iii) Delegates authority to Executive Directors in conjunction with Lead 
Members to amend and confirm the Performance Management Framework 
for 2019/20.

 

F) APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE AND ASSOCIATED BODIES 

The Chairman introduced the report that dealt with the appointment of representatives to 
serve the Council on a number of associated and outside bodies.  He informed that he had 
received an email from Cllr Jones regarding her disappointment of the low number of 
appointments to opposition councillors, however due to the eagerness of the administration 
councillors to take up posts there were few places left.  The Chairman said he would review 
appointments and discuss them with Cllr Jones.

The Lead Member for Planning requested the following amendments to the appendix, that he 
be appointed to People to Places, that he be the appointee to the Building Control Board with 
Cllr Stimson as the deputy and that the Plastic Free Committee should be split into two one for 
Maidenhead and one for Windsor.  Cabinet approved these amendments.  

Unanimously approved: that Cabinet notes the report and:

10



I. Appoints representatives to serve on the organisations listed in Appendix 
1,as amended: cllr Coppinger be appointed to the Building Control Board 
with Cllr Stimson as deputy, that Councillor Coppinger be appointed to 
People to Places and that the Plastic Free Committee be split into two 
(Windsor and Maidenhead). 

II. Delegates authority to the Service Lead – Governance, in consultation 
with the Leader of the Council and Leaders of the Opposition Groups, to 
fill any ad hoc vacancies that might arise through the year from 
nominations received. 

III. Requests the Democratic Services Team Leader to contact organisations 
that Cabinet identifies as suitable to have a reduced or no council 
representation, to seek feedback on the proposal.

IV. Following receipt of feedback, delegates authority to the Democratic 
Services Team Leader, in consultation with the Leader of Council, to 
permanently reduce council representation on specific associated and 
outside bodies as appropriate. 

The meeting, which began at 7.30 pm, finished at 8.05 pm

CHAIRMAN……………………………….

DATE………………………………..........

11



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET

FORWARD PLAN - CHANGES MADE SINCE LAST PUBLISHED:

ITEM
ORIGINAL
CABINET

DATE

NEW
CABINET

DATE

REASON FOR
CHANGE

Req u es tto u s e the allowable C ontrac t
Extens ion P eriod of2 years forD ru g

and A lc oholS ervic es .
n/a 29/0 8 /19 N ew item

S ierra H ou s e, M aid enhead n/a 29/0 8 /19 N ew item
D ry M ixed Rec yc ling P roc es s ing

C ontrac t–P roc u rement
n/a 26/0 9/19 N ew item

13

Agenda Item 5



N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

FORWARD PLAN OF CABINET DECISIONS 
 

NB: The Cabinet is comprised of the following Members:  Councillor Dudley Leader of the Council, Maidenhead Regeneration and Maidenhead 
(includes Communications and Property), Councillor Coppinger Deputy Leader of the Council, Planning , Councillor Rayner Deputy Chairman of 
Cabinet, Culture, Communities and Windsor (incl. Customer and Business Services), Councillor Carroll Adults, Children and Health, Councillor 
Hilton Finance and Ascot, Councillor Clarke Sustainability, Waste Services and Economic Development, Councillor Cannon Public Protection, 
Councillor Shelim HR, Legal & IT (includes Performance Management), Councillor Johnson Infrastructure, Transport Policy and Housing. 

 
 
The Council is comprised of all the elected Members 
 
All enquiries, including representations, about any of the items listed below should be made in the first instance to Democratic Services, Town Hall, St 
Ives Road, Maidenhead. Tel (01628) 796560. Email: democratic.services@rbwm.gov.uk 
 

 
 

FORWARD PLAN 

 

ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 
below. 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 
or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER 
(to whom 

representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 
including other 

meetings 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of 
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

Financial Update 
 

Open -  
 

Latest Financial 
Update 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

No Lead Member for 
Finance and Ascot 
(Councillor David 
Hilton) 

 
Rob Stubbs 

 

Internal Process Cabinet 
29 Aug 
2019 

 

14



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 
below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 
or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 
including other 

meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

Request to use the 
allowable Contract 
Extension Period of 
2 years for Drug 
and Alcohol 
Services 
 

Open -  
 

The two Drug and 
Alcohol Service 
Contracts with 
Cranstoun and 
Claremont and 
Holyport, reach the 
end of their initial 3 
year period on 
31/3/20. There is 
an extension 
period within the 
contract that can 
be used to extend 
the contract by a 
further one or two 
years, which is the 
preferred option 

Yes Lead Member for 
Adults, Children and 
Health (Councillor 
Stuart Carroll) 

 
Hilary Hall 

 

Internal process Cabinet 
29 Aug 
2019 

 

Designation of Cox 
Green 
Neighbourhood 
Plan Area 
 

Open -  
 

Designation of Cox 
Green 
Neighbourhood 
Plan Area 

No Deputy Leader of the 
Council, Lead 
Member for  Planning 
(Councillor David 
Coppinger) 

 
Russell O'Keefe 

 

internal process Cabinet 
29 Aug 
2019 

 

RBWM Property 
Company Ltd - 
Business Plan 
2019-24 
 

Fully exempt - 
3 
 

Annual Business 
Plan update. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Yes Chairman of Cabinet 
including 
Maidenhead 
Regeneration and 
Maidenhead 
(Councillor Simon 
Dudley) 

 
Russell O'Keefe 

 

internal process Cabinet 
29 Aug 
2019 

 

15



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 
below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 
or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 
including other 

meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

Sierra House, 
Maidenhead 
 

Open -  
 

TBC Yes Chairman of Cabinet 
including 
Maidenhead 
Regeneration and 
Maidenhead 
(Councillor Simon 
Dudley) 

 
Richardson 

 

Internal process Cabinet 
29 Aug 
2019 

 

Parking 
Enforcement: 
Future Contract 
Arrangements 
 

Open -  
 

Parking 
enforcement is 
currently delivered 
under contract by 
NSL. The initial 
contract term was 
2-years which ends 
on 1st December 
2019, an option 
exists for a 2-year 
extension. This 
report considers 
options to extend 
the existing 
contract; reproduce 
or consider an 
alternative delivery 
model. 

Yes Lead Member for 
Infrastructure, 
Transport Policy and 
Housing (Councillor 
Andrew Johnson) 

 
Ben Smith 

 

internal process Cabinet 
29 Aug 
2019 

 

Dry Mixed 
Recycling 
Processing 
Contract – 
Procurement 
 

Open -  
 

To obtain 
delegated authority 
for the Director and 
Lead Member to 
award a new DMR 
Processing 
contract, to 
commence April 
2020. 

No Lead Member for 
Sustainability, Waste 
Services and 
Economic 
Development 
(Councillor Gerry 
Clark) 

 
Hilary Hall 

 

Internal process Cabinet 
26 Sep 
2019 

 

16



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 
below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 
or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 
including other 

meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

Financial Update 
 

Open -  
 

Latest Financial 
Update 

No Lead Member for 
Finance and Ascot 
(Councillor David 
Hilton) 

 
Rob Stubbs 

 

Internal Process Cabinet 
26 Sep 
2019 

 

Award of contract 
for temporary 
agency workers 
 

Open -  
 

Decision to award 
a contract for the 
supply of agency 
workers to the 
council following a 
procurement 
process. 

No Lead Member for HR, 
Legal & IT (incl. 
Performance 
Management) 
(Councillor Shamsul 
Shelim) 

 
Nikki Craig 

 

internal process Cabinet 
31 Oct 
2019 

 

School places in 
the Royal Borough 
 

Open -  
 

The report sets out 
a forecast of likely 
demand for school 
places and the 
impact on choice 
and availability. 

Yes Lead Member for 
Adults, Children and 
Health (Councillor 
Stuart Carroll) 

 
Kevin McDaniel 

 

internal process Cabinet 
31 Oct 
2019 

 

New provision for 
children and young 
people with Special 
Educational Needs 
 

Open -  
 

Permission to 
consult on options 
for new facilities in 
the borough for 
children and young 
people with special 
educational needs 

Yes Lead Member for 
Adults, Children and 
Health (Councillor 
Stuart Carroll) 

 
Kevin McDaniel 

 

internal process Cabinet 
31 Oct 
2019 

 

Financial Update 
 

Open -  
 

Latest Financial 
Update 
 
 
 
 
 
 

No Lead Member for 
Finance and Ascot 
(Councillor David 
Hilton) 

 
Rob Stubbs 

 

internal process Cabinet 
31 Oct 
2019 

 

17



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 
below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 
or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 
including other 

meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

Annual 
Consultation on 
School Admission 
Arrangements 
 

Open -  
 

The start of the 
annual statutory 
consultation on 
admission 
arrangements 

Yes Lead Member for 
Adults, Children and 
Health (Councillor 
Stuart Carroll) 

 
Kevin McDaniel 

 

Consultation with 
schools 

Cabinet 
28 Nov 
2019 

 

Financial Update 
 

Open -  
 

Latest financial 
update 

No Lead Member for 
Finance and Ascot 
(Councillor David 
Hilton) 

 
Rob Stubbs 

 

Internal process Cabinet 
28 Nov 
2019 

 

Annual 
Performance 
Report 2019/20 
 

Open -  
 

Report detailing 
performance of the 
Council against the 
corporate 
scorecard for 
quarters 1 and 2. 

No Lead Member for HR, 
Legal & IT (incl. 
Performance 
Management) 
(Councillor Shamsul 
Shelim) 

 
Hilary Hall 

 

Internal process Cabinet 
28 Nov 
2019 

 

 

18



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 
below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 
or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 
including other 

meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

 
 

DESCRIPTIONS OF EXEMPT INFORMATION: ENGLAND 

 

1 Information relating to any individual. 

2 Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 

3 Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information). 

4 Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated 
consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter 
arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or 
office holders under, the authority. 

5 Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be 
maintained in legal proceedings. 

6 Information which reveals that the authority proposes 
 
(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which 
requirements are imposed on a person; or 
 
(b) to make an order or direction under any enactment. 

7 Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the 
prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime. 

19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Report Title: Highways and Transport Investment
Programme 2019-20

Contains Confidential or
Exempt Information?

NO - Part I

Member reporting: Councillor Johnson – Lead Member for
Infrastructure, Transport Policy and
Housing

Meeting and Date: Cabinet - 25th July 2019
Responsible Officer(s): Hilary Hall – Interim Director of Adult

Services and Deputy Director, Strategy &
Commissioning

Wards affected: All

REPORT SUMMARY

1. The budget for 2019/20 approved by Council on 26th February 2019 included

significant investment of £11.8m to further maintain and improve highway

infrastructure including roads, bridges, street lighting road safety and carparks.

Within the £11.8m, an allocation of over £3m was approved for annual works

programmes, such as road resurfacing.

2. This is part of the Administrations key manifesto commitments of investing more

than £50m in our highways and pavements over the next four years and a further

annual investment of up to £450,000 to fix each reported actionable pothole within

24 hours on the public highway.

3. This report seeks approval to the detailed schemes which make up the generic

works programmes, see Appendix A

4. This report recommends implementation of the capital works programme; with

authority delegated to the Interim Director of Adult Services and Deputy Director,

Strategy and commissioning, in consultation with the Lead Member for

Infrastructure, Transport Policy and Housing, to agree amendments to the

approved schemes (within approved budgets) and to implement reserve or

substitute schemes should this become necessary.

5. The resurfacing programme for 2019/20 and reserve list is included as Appendix B

for information following its approval at Cabinet on 31st January 2019. This makes

up £1.9m of the £3m annual works programme.

21

Agenda Item 6i)



2

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATIONS

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the report and

i. Endorses the implementation of the programme of work set out in
Appendix A.

ii. Delegates authority to the Interim Director of Adult Services and Deputy
Director Strategy & Commissioning, in consultation with the Lead
Member for Infrastructure, Transport Policy and Housing, to agree minor
amendments to the approved schemes (within approved budgets) and
implement reserve or substitute schemes should this become necessary

2. REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 The Local Transport Plan (LTP) offers the high-level transport policy for the Royal
Borough setting out how we will improve transport between 2012 and 2026.

The plan aims to:
 improve access to local services and facilities.
 improve road safety and personal security.
 support economic growth.
 improve quality of life and minimise the negative impacts of transport.
 tackle climate change.
 Improve air quality.
 improve bus journeys and times.
 improve the quality of our road networks.

2.2 The recommended works programmes have been developed to support these
policy aims whilst seeking to positively respond to reports and requests from
residents, businesses and Parish Councils and ensure that performance targets
are achieved.

2.3 On 26th February 2019, Council approved the overall budget for 2019/20, which
includes investment of approximately £11.8m in highways and transport
infrastructure. This report seeks approval of work programmes (2019-20) for the
following activities:
 Road markings - safety programme
 Bridge maintenance
 Footway resurfacing
 Local safety schemes
 Reducing congestion and improving air quality
 Drainage schemes

2.4 Individual one-off schemes (for example: Elizabeth Bridge strengthening) and
operational pieces of work (for example: highway tree surgery works) that
comprise the remainder of the overall programme and form part of the core
approved budget are not included in this report.

2.5 Delivery of the recommended works programme (Appendix A) will directly benefit
residents, business and visitors by maintaining and improving highway and
transport infrastructure, which in turn improves facilities for pedestrians, cyclists
and motorists.

22



3

Table 1: Options
Option Comments
1. Approve the
programmes
recommended in
Appendix A

This is the
recommended
option

This will enable timely delivery and directly benefit
residents, business and visitors by maintaining and
improving highway and transport infrastructure, which in
turn improves facilities for pedestrians, cyclists and
motorists.

The recommended programmes respond to resident and
Member requests.

2. Develop and
approve an
alternative
programme

This is not recommended as the programme is considered
to offer benefits to residents, business and visitors in a
cost effective and timely manner. The current programme
has been well thought out and delivers our promises.

3. Do not approve
any programme for
implementation

This is not recommended as benefits to residents,
business and visitors would be delayed or undelivered.
The costs to repair the roads at a later date may cost
increase costs.

3 KEY IMPLICATIONS

3.1 The key implications are set out in table 2.

Table 2: Key implications
Defined

Outcomes
Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly

Exceeded
Date they
should be
delivered
by

Delivery of
highways
and
transport
schemes

Below 85% 85-90% 91-95% Greater
than 96%

31 March
2020

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE MONEY

Financial impact on the budget

4.1 The Highways & Transport Works Programme forms a major part of the Council’s
capital programme. Department of Transport (DfT) LTP grant funding of £2.7m
has been received and included in the approved budget £11.8m. The balance is
funded corporately and through Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) funding and
Section 106.

The below table sets out the funding split.

LTP grant
funding (£)

LEP funding
(£)

Borough
funded (£)

Section 106
(£)

Total (£)

(2,698,000) (5,058,000) (3,856,000) (146,000) 11,758,000

23



4

4.2 In December 2014, the Department for Transport introduced an incentive fund to
reward councils who demonstrate they are delivering value for money in carrying
out cost effective improvements. Each local highway authority in England
(excluding London) was invited to complete a self-assessment questionnaire
based on asset management; resilience; customers and operational delivery to
establish eligibility for incentive funding. In April 2019, the Royal Borough was
awarded Band 3 status (highest level possible), which enabled the maximum level
of incentive funding to be secured.

4.3 A summary of the approved budget for programmes included in this report is set
out in table 3.

Table 3: Approved budget
Cost
Centre

Work
Programme

2019-20
Budget

Description

CD07 Road Markings
Safety
Programme

50,000

This programme supplements the
basic road safety maintenance
budget for road markings and lining
across the Borough. It includes the
replacement and upgrading of
coloured safety surfaces; anti-skid
surfaces and pedestrian crossings.

CD13 Bridge
Assessments

£275,000

This programme focuses on major
detailed assessment of bridges and
key structures, works are identified,
prioritised and carried out. Joint
assessments of Network Rail
bridges are also carried out as part
of this programme.

CD23 Local Safety
Schemes

£150,000

These proposals are focused on
reducing the likelihood of road
accidents where sites have a pre-
existing poor accident record which
could be improved by engineering
measures including speed related
initiatives.

CD35 Reducing
Congestion &
Improving Air
Quality

£50,000

This programme seeks to deliver
schemes which deliver a reduction
in congestion (for example: local
road widening schemes) or target
areas of poor air quality.

CC33 Footway
reconstruction
and maintenance

£300,000

This programme focuses on
footways that are beyond basic
maintenance repairs and requires
more substantial repairs.

CD01 LTP feasibilities
studies £85,000

This programme looks into the
feasibility of Traffic management or
local safety scheme requests.

CD18 Highway
Drainage
Schemes

£60,000

This programme focuses on minor
highway drainage improvements
and ditch clearance within the
Borough.

CD43 Flood Prevention
£175,000

This programme seeks to deliver
schemes which deliver a reduction

24



5

Cost
Centre

Work
Programme

2019-20
Budget

Description

in flood risk from sources of
flooding.

TOTAL £1,145,000

Note: detailed appendices are split by geographic area not budget

4.4 There are no direct revenue implications as an outcome of this report. However,
planned capital investment over a longer-term period will impact positively on
revenue expenditure.

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 The council has a duty under the Highways Act 1980 to maintain the roads in
good order. This duty covers all roads which the council is obliged to maintain,
including public rights of way.

5.2 The council is also under a duty to promote road safety under the Road Traffic Act
1988, and a duty to monitor air quality under the Environment Act 1995.

5.4 Additionally, the recommended programme effectively manages risk which seeks
to reduce the likelihood of insurance claims.

6. RISK MANAGEMENT

Table 4: Risk management

Risks Uncontrolled
Risk

Controls Controlled Risk

Funds are
allocated to
work that
cannot be
completed.

Medium The proposed
programme has been
subject to rigorous
inspection and
prioritisation and
indicative programmes
for future years included

Low

Funding is
insufficient
to deliver
the
approved
programme

Medium Budget estimates
prepared; contractor
rates confirmed’ fixed
prices secured where
possible and robust
financial governance in
place

Low

Delays in
delivering
works
programme

Medium Achievable programme
recommended with
indicative programme
for future years should
individual schemes be
undeliverable.
Recommended that
existing contractors be
reappointed to ensure

Low

25



6

timely delivery with
minimised disruption

Inclement
weather
delays
programme
delivery

Medium Recommended that
existing contractors be
reappointed to
undertake weather
sensitive elements
during the summer /
autumn 2019

Low

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS

There are positive sustainability impacts through reducing congestion and
improving air quality. Encouraging walking and cycling and sustainable travel as a
key element of the local transport plan and these programme support that
objective.

8. CONSULTATION

8.1 The recommended programme is based on feedback from Ward Councillors,
residents, Parish Councils and the travelling public, as well as technical
assessments.

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION

Date Details
June 2019 –
March 2020

Consultation and implementation of schemes detailed in
Appendix A.

10. APPENDICES

Appendix A – Highway work programmes 2019-20
Appendix B –Approved resurfacing programme and reserve list 2019-20

11. BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Council 26/02/18 - Budget 2019/20, here.

12. CONSULTATION (MANDATORY)

Name of
consultee

Post held and
Department

Date
sent

Date
received

Cllr Johnson Lead Member Infrastructure,
Transport Policy and Housing

25/06/19 25/06/19
12/07/19

Duncan Sharkey Managing Director 13/06/19 04/07/19
Andy Jeffs Executive Director 13/06/19 14/06/19
Russell O’Keefe Executive Director 13/06/19 04/07/19
Rob Stubbs Section 151 Officer 13/06/19 17/06/19

26



7

Name of
consultee

Post held and
Department

Date
sent

Date
received

Nikki Craig Head of HR and corporate projects 13/06/19 14/06/19
Hilary Hall Interim Director of Adult Services

and Deputy Director Strategy &
Commissioning

04/06/19
13/06/19

14/06/19

Elaine Browne Team Leader, Contracts &
Employment Team, Solicitor

13/06/19 16/06/19

Louisa Dean Communications 13/06/19 14/06/19
Kevin McDaniel Director of Children’s Services 13/06/19 14/06/19

REPORT HISTORY

Decision type:
Key decision.
Date added to
forward plan:
Needs date
inserting here

Urgency item?
yes

To Follow item?
No

Full name of
report author

Job title Full contact no:

Ben Smith Head of Commissioning -
Communities

01628 796147

27



RBWM HIGHWAYS & TRANSPORT CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019-20 (Appendix A )

Local Safety Schemes CD23 150,000£

Scheme Details Origin Ward/s Parish Budget

Courthouse Road (A308 to All Saints Avenue) Traffic Calming Petition Belmont, Pinkneys Green, Furze Platt N/A 30,000£

A308 Maidenhead Rd / Mill Lane, Windsor Signing / lining improvements Technical recommendation Clewer East N/A 10,000£

B3024 Oakley Green Road, Bray 30mph speed limit Parish Council & residents Bray Bray 7,000£

Clarence Rd / Royal Windsor Way roundabout Signing, lining and other safety improvements Collision history Eton & Castle and Clewer East N/A 15,000£

Waltham St Lawrence Speed Limit Review Area wide speed limit review scheme Parish Council Hurley & Walthams Waltham St Lawrence 10,000£

B470 The Green, Datchet Zebra on flat topped hump Parish Council Datchet, Horton & Wraysbury Datchet 25,000£

Dean Lane, Cookham Traffic Calming (Herries School to Warners Hill Lane) Cllr / Resident request Bisham & Cookham Cookham 35,000£

Safety Schemes to be identified in year Requests received in year Varies - - 18,000£

Bridge Assessments CD13 275,000£

Scheme Details Origin Ward/s Parish Budget

Bridge inspections - special access requirements Special access requirements for bridge inspections Technical recommendation Boroughwide Boroughwide 15,000£

Waterproofing assessments Detailed investigations arising from inspections Technical recommendation Boroughwide Boroughwide 30,000£

Bridge and culvert maintenance works Works arising from inspections Technical recommendation Boroughwide Boroughwide 125,000£

Structural Assessments Structural / full loading assessments Technical recommendation Boroughwide Boroughwide 60,000£

Bridge painting programme Works arising from inspections Technical recommendation Boroughwide Boroughwide 45,000£

Highway drainage schemes CD18 60,000£

Scheme Details Origin Ward/s Parish Budget

Minor drainage programme

This programme focus on minor highway drainage improvements and ditch

clearance. This programme is generated from in year gulley clearance results and

other technical assessments. technical recommendation and customer requests. Boroughwide Boroughwide 60,000£

Congestion Reduction & Improving Air Quality CD35 50,000£

Scheme Details Origin Ward/s Parish Budget

MOVA upgrade schemes -a major signalised junctions and crossroads

MOVA is a traffic control system that is specifically designed to maximise the

operational effectiveness of a junction/crossing. It continually adjusts the green time

required for each approach by assessing the number of vehicles approaching the

signals, whilst at the same time determining the impact that queuing vehicles would

have on the overall operation of the junction. technical recommendation Boroughwide Boroughwide 50,000£

Road Marking Safety Programme CD07 50,000£

Scheme Details Origin Ward/s Parish Budget

Lining upgrades and refurbishments Addressing lining defects where identified Locations to be identified from inspections Boroughwide Boroughwide 15,000£

Major road lining improvements Enhancements and refreshes to major routes Locations to be identified from inspections Boroughwide Boroughwide 15,000£

Lining at pedestrian crossings and junctions Safety related enhancements Locations to be identified from inspections Boroughwide Boroughwide 10,000£

Road marking upgrades to tie in with resurfacing Changes to roads where resurfacing is carried out Technical reviews Boroughwide Boroughwide 10,000£

Major Footway Construction / Maintenance CC85 300,000£

Scheme Details Origin Ward/s Parish Budget

Shirley Avenue, Dedworth Footway reconstruction (area TBC) Highway inspections Clewer & Dedworth East N/A 25,000£

Rixman Close , Maidenhead Footway resurfacing (Area TBC) Highway inspections Oldfield N/A 18,000£

Castle Hill, Maidenhead Footway patching and surfacing (Sections) Highway inspections St Marys N/A 20,000£

Marlow Road, Maidenhead Outside War Graves Commission - New tegula paving Highway inspections St Marys N/A 28,000£

Coppermill Road, Wraysbury Footway resurfacing (Sections) Highway inspections Datchet, Horton & Wraysbury Horton and Wraysbury 30,000£

Rise Road, Sunninghill Footway resurfacing (South side: Larch Ave to Beech Hill Rd) Highway inspections Sunningdale & Cheapside Sunningdale 25,000£

Altwood Close, Maidenhead Footway patching. Uneven slabs due to tree roots Highway inspections Boyn Hill N/A 6,000£

St Peters Road, Maidenhead Footway resurfacing (Sections) Highway inspections Furze Platt N/A 25,000£

Islet Road, Maidenhead Footway resurfacing (Sections) Highway inspections Riverside N/A 30,000£

Kings Road, Windsor Footway resurfacing (Sections: Bolton Rd to Great Park) Highway inspections Old Windsor N/A 10,000£

London Road, Datchet Footway resurfacing (No. 45 to No. 63. Mainly on north side) Highway inspections Datchet, Horton & Wraysbury Datchet 15,000£

Kings Road, Sunninghill Footway resurfacing (South footway: Surgery to Larch Ave) Highway inspections Sunningdale & Cheapside S'dale and S'hill & Ascot 25,000£

In year footway requests Footway works identified in year To be identified in year - - 43,000£

RESERVE SCHEMES

Testwood Road, Dedworth Footway patching Highway inspections Clewer & Dedworth West N/A 18,000£

Boyn Valley Road, Maidenhead Footway patching and kerb adjustments Highway inspections Boyn Hill N/A 20,000£

South Road, Maidenhead Footway patching and edging Highway inspections St Marys N/A 10,000£

Footpath - Wolf Lane to Illingworth, Dedworth Footway resurfacing and patching Highway inspections Clewer & Dedworth East and West N/A 18,000£

The Covert, Ascot Footway resurfacing Highway inspections S'dale & Cheapside and Ascot & S'hill S'dale and S'hill & Ascot 22,000£

LTP Scheme Feasibility CD01 85,000£

Scheme Details Origin Ward/s Parish Budget

Feasibilities requested in year for traffic and road safety initiatives. Provision for requests received in year Requests from councillors / residents/ technical surveys Boroughwide Boroughwide 85,000£

Flood prevention CC43 175,000£

Scheme Details Origin Ward/s Parish Budget

Renewal of Telemetry System (feasibility only) Options to replace the system that measures water levels on critical watercourses Technical recommendation Boroughwide N/A 15,000£

Oaklands Drive / Oaklands Close Ascot Land drainage improvements Requests from councillors / residents Ascot & Sunninghill Sunninghill & Ascot 35,000£

Horton & Wraysbury Drains Improvements to be prioritised as agreed with councillors/parish Requests from councillors / residents Datchet Horton & Wraysbury Wraysbury 25,000£

Coningsby Lane Scheme implementation Technical recommendation Bray Bray 100,000£

28



DR AFT R BW M HIGHW AYS & T R A N S P O R T CA P IT A L P R O GR A M M E2019-20 (Appendix B)
W ard R oadN am eandS chem eL im its Estim ate(£)

Belmont/Boyn Hill A4 (Cannon Lane - Castle Hill) 125,000.00£
Belmont/Boyn Hill A308 Marlow Rd – A4 to Norfolk Road 81,296.20£
Bisham and Cookham Church Rd / Hills Lane – SD 55,000.00£

Bray B3024 Forest Green Road - Coningsby Lane to Moneyrow Green (Sections) 107,763.13£
Clewer and Dedworth east Dedworth Rd – Kenton Ln to Hatch Ln (phase 2) 125,410.26£
Clewer and Dedworth East St Andrews Avenue - Joint repairs 11,609.07£
Clewer and Dedworth East B3022 Winkfield Road - Borough boundary to LEGOLAND 45,000.00£
Clewer and Dedworth West Hanley Close - Junction 4,000.00£
Clewer and Dedworth West Frymley View - Junction 4,000.00£
Clewer and Dedworth West Ash Lane - Joint repairs 14,678.34£
Clewer and Dedworth West Forest Rd - Junction 4,000.00£
Clewer and Dedworth West Hemwood Road - Sections 40,897.98£

Cox Green / Hurley and Waltham's Woodlands Park Rd & Shoppenhangers Rd - Cox Green Rd to Cannon Ln 30,000.00£
Datchet / Horton and Wraysbury B376 Horton Road - Welley Road to Holmlea Road 32,000.00£
Datchet/Horton/Wraysbury B376 Slough Road - Eton Road to The Myrke -£
Hurley and Waltham's B3024 Twyford Road - Bend at Mire Lane junction 35,000.00£
Hurley and Waltham's B3024 Twyford Road - Downfield Lane to The Star 25,000.00£
Hurley and Waltham's A4130 Henley Road - Bend at Hurley Lane 34,770.40£
Old Windsor A308 Straight Road - St Lukes Rd to borough boundary 165,000.00£
Old Windsor B376 Staines Road - Windsor Road to Magna Carta Lane 30,000.00£

Oldfield

Forlease Rd – Stafferton Way to Bridge St (Excludes section recently

surfaced under bridge) 40,000.00£
Oldfield A308 Stafferton Way Roundabout with Braywick Road 102,000.00£
Pinkney's Green St Marks Crescent - Farm Road to Courthouse Road (delay due to gas works)
St Mary / Maidenhead Riverside A4 Bridge Road - Oldfield Road to St Cloud Way roundabout 38,000.00£
St Marys A308 Frascati Way - Broadway to A4 Castle Hill 150,000.00£
Sunningdale A30 London Rd - Chobham Rd north east to Borough boundary 43,000.00£

Assessm ents £ 50,000.00
L egalS ervices/T rafficO rders £ 40,000.00
M inorP atching £ 185,000.00
M ajorP atchingS chem es/R epairs £ 200,000.00
AntiS kid/S pecialS urfaceR epairs £ 32,000.00
Extrem eW eatherDam ageR epairs £ 50,000.00

T otal £ 1,900,425.38

P leasenotethattheseareindicativecostsandsubjecttochange.

29



R eservelist2019-20

W ard R oadN am eandS chem eL im its Estim ate(£)
Sunningdale/Cheapside Mill Lane, Cheapside – SD/L
Ascot and sunninghill Station Hill, Ascot – High St r/about to railway – SD/L
Ascot and sunninghill Windsor / Winkfield Rd r/about, Ascot (part)
Boyn Hill Stamford Road – SD/L
Boyn Hill Lexington Avenue
Boyn Hill Longleat Gardens
Boyn Hill Welbeck
Boyn Hill Penhurst
Bray A330 Ascot Road - A308(M) to Philberds Lodge
Clewer East /Eton and Castle Royal Windsor Way slips – joints/SD/L
Eton and Castle Victoria St – Sheet St to Peascod St
Eton and Castle Osborne Rd r/about j/w Frances Rd (part)
Eton and Castle St Leonards Rd, Windsor sections inc j/w Imperial Rd
Clewer East Clewer Hill Rd – section
Clewer and Dedworth East Vale Road, Windsor – SD/L
Clewer and Dedworth East Maidenhead Rd, Windsor sections
Clwere and Dedworth West Wolf Lane – section near White Horse Rd
Cox Green Highfield Lane – SD/L

Cox Green Cox Green Lane (sections)
Datchet /Horton/Wraysbury London Rd/Riding Ct Rd r/about, Datchet
Datchet King Edward VII Ave – section
Eton and Castle Slough Road – approach and exit to r/about (boundary with Slough BC)
Datchet/Horton/Wraysbury Railway bridges, Wraysbury
Old Windsor Albany Road, Old Windsor – SD/L
Oldfield A308 Braywick Rd (Western carriageway - Stafferton Way to Station
Sunningdale /Cheapside A30 London Rd – from B383 westbound approach to railway
Ascot and sunninghill Bouldish Farm Rd, Ascot
Ascot and sunninghill Lower Village Rd – Elizabeth Gdns to Woodend Dr

Note - this reserve list is a working document.

30



Report Title:    Energy Contract Procurement 
Contains Confidential or 
Exempt Information?

NO

Member reporting: Councillor Gerry Clark, Lead Member for 
Sustainability, Waste Management and 
Economic Development

Meeting and Date: 25th July 2019
Responsible Officer(s): David Scott, Head of Communities, 

Enforcement and Partnerships
Wards affected:  None

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the report and:

i) Agrees to continue using Crown Commercial Services frameworks to 
purchase electricity and gas

ii) Delegates authority to the Corporate Leadership Team in consultation 
with the Lead Member on specific purchasing strategies

iii) Commits to only purchasing electricity generated from renewable 
technologies

REPORT SUMMARY

1. The Council currently purchases gas and electricity through the Crown 
Commercial Services (CCS) frameworks. The value of the contract is 
approximately £2 million a year. The framework is compliant with the EU Public 
Procurement Directives and provides good value for money as the Council are 
part of a group purchasing over £2 billion a year of electricity and gas.

2. Following a review to ensure compliance with internal and external 
requirements as well as to ensure best value to residents, it is proposed to 
continue purchasing gas and electricity through the CCS frameworks. 

3. The Council can specify an energy purchasing strategy which reflects its 
appetite for risk and pricing certainty by specifying the period energy is bought 
over. Approval is sought to delegate the period over which our energy is 
purchased to CLT in consultation with the Lead Member to ensure the Council 
can react quickly to changing circumstances.

4. There is significant public concern surrounding climate change and to 
demonstrate leadership on the issue, approval is also sought to purchase all 
electricity from renewable sources.

31

Agenda Item 6ii)



2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED

Purchase of Electricity and Gas
2.1 The Council purchases approximately £2 million of gas and electricity each 

year. 87% of this spend is on electricity with the remainder on gas. Currently 
this is procured through the Crown Commercial Services framework with EDF 
(Electricity) and Corona (Gas) as the end suppliers.

2.2 CCS are owned by the Cabinet Office and purchase £2 billion of energy on 
behalf of public sector organisations each year. This significant buying power 
coupled with the expertise in CCS’s energy buying team results in competitive 
unit rates as well as good customer service.

2.3 The cost of using the CCS framework are approximately £12,500 a year based 
on an annual fee per meter. It is estimated that by using CCS, approximately 
£145,000 a year is saved compared to purchasing as a standalone body. This 
saving would be lost if we purchased independently, significantly increasing 
our costs.

2.4 Alternatives to the current purchasing arrangements would be to move to an 
alternative framework or conduct our own OJEU compliant tender.

2.5 A different framework is unlikely to result in any savings due to the size of 
aggregation enjoyed by CCS and would require a change to the end suppliers.

2.6 Conducting an OJEU compliant tender would require significant staff time as 
well as losing the bulk purchasing power and expertise the Council currently 
enjoy through a framework.

2.7 We are currently on a rolling contract with CCS. We can withdraw from the 
contract as soon as the energy purchase period has come to an end. For part 
of our portfolio this is April 2020 and for the remainder it’s April 2022. 

2.8 It is recommended that we remain on this contract and undertake a review in 3 
years’ time to ensure we are still receiving best value. 

Delegation of purchasing strategy
2.9 Within the CCS framework, the Council can choose the purchasing strategy 

used to procure the energy based on a number of available options.

2.10 There are 3 main ‘baskets’ that the energy can sit in; Locked 6 (L6), Variable 6 
(V6) or Variable 30 (V30).

2.11 The benefits of the L6 basket is that all energy is purchased before the 
delivery date providing a fixed price to help manage budgets. The V6 basket 
buys energy before the delivery date and through the first 6 months of the 
delivery period so potentially lower market prices can be accessed. However 
monthly bills are variable. The V30 basket can purchase up to 30 months 
before the delivery date as well as throughout the delivery period. This 

32



provides the ability to provide an element of price stability year on year rather 
than be exposed to short term market fluctuations. 

2.12 The half hourly electricity supplies currently sit in the V30 basket, the non-half 
hourly sites as well as the gas sit in the L6 basket.

2.13 It is proposed to delegate the decision on the purchasing strategy to CLT in 
consultation with the Lead Member so a more detailed paper can be 
presented and reviews can be conducted regularly to ensure best value.

Renewable energy tariff
2.14 Currently our electricity is sourced from a variety of sources including nuclear, 

gas, coal and renewables. 

2.15 As part of the CCS framework, we have the option to specify that all our 
electricity should be generated by renewable technologies such as solar, wind 
and hydro power. This would be a renewable energy tariff rather than a low 
carbon tariff which means no energy will be supplied by nuclear power.

2.16 This energy will continue to be supplied by EDF and will result in an increase 
in cost of 0.24% at current prices and consumption.

2.17 It is recommended that all electricity purchased is through the renewable tariff 
to demonstrate leadership on tackling climate change as well as providing 
support to low carbon technologies. 

Table 1: Options arising from first recommendation (Agrees to continue 
using Crown Commercial Services frameworks to purchase electricity and 
gas)

Option Comments
Do nothing

Not recommended

Whilst the default is to continue using 
CCS, without formal approval to use 
CCS, this is a breach of the Council’s 
constitution.

Conduct our own OJEU compliant 
tender to procure gas and electricity 
suppliers

Not recommended

This would involve large amounts of 
staff time and would not provide the 
purchasing power that we currently 
receive as part of the CCS 
framework. We would also need to 
appoint an energy trader to purchase 
on our behalf.

Use an alternative framework

Not recommended

Other frameworks have been 
reviewed and there is no obvious 
benefits to moving away from CCS 
who provide a good service.

Continue using the Crown Commercial 
Services frameworks to purchase gas 
and electricity
This is the recommended option

The Council remains compliant with 
the Council’s constitution and the EU 
Public Procurement Directives. The 
Council continues to benefit from the 
significant purchasing power of CCS 
to ensure best value for residents.

33



Table 2: Options arising from second recommendation (Delegates authority 
to the Corporate Leadership Team in consultation with the Lead Member on 
specific purchasing strategies)

Option Comments
Do nothing

Not recommended

The energy purchased would remain 
under the current purchasing 
strategy.

All decisions on purchasing strategy to 
be made by a member led committee

Not recommended

This would place an unnecessary 
burden on committees and prevent 
the Council from acting as 
opportunities arose.

Delegate decision making on 
purchasing strategy to CLT in 
consultation with the Lead Member.
This is the recommended option

This would allow the Council’s 
purchasing strategy to remain agile.

Table 3: Options arising from third recommendation (Commits to only 
purchasing electricity generated from renewable technologies)

Option Comments
Do nothing

Not recommended

Energy would continue to be 
purchased from combined generation 
such as coal, gas, nuclear and 
renewables. 

Purchase energy from a renewable 
tariff
This is the recommended option

This would demonstrate leadership 
on climate change with relatively little 
financial impact.

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS

3.1 From the 1st October 2019, CCS will begin purchasing the V30 half hourly 
basket for April 2022-23 as well as purchasing the L6 baskets for April 2020.

3.2 If we wish to begin to move our energy supplies to a new framework or change 
which baskets the Council utilises we will need to inform CCS by September 
2019.

Table 4: Key Implications
Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 

Exceeded
Date of 
delivery

Continuation 
of use of the 
CCS 
frameworks

After 1st 
September 
2019

1st 
September 
2019

Before 1st 
September 
2019

30th July 
2019

1st April 
2021

34



4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY

4.1 There are no capital financial implications.

4.2 Whilst this contract has a high value, the cost to the Council of using CCS is 
approximately £12,500 with a benefit of £145,000 based on the energy 
purchased.

4.3 The cost of moving to a renewable tariff would increase the overall electricity 
bill by 0.24%. Based on current costs and consumption this would result in a 
£3,705 annual increase. This would be added to bills and would be paid for by 
individual services through existing utility budgets.

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 The value of the contracts means an OJEU compliant tender would be 
required in order to award a contract(s) directly to an energy supplier. By using 
the CCS framework, the Council will remain compliant with national and 
European procurement legislation and regulations.

6. RISK MANAGEMENT 

Table 5: Impact of risk and mitigation
Risks Uncontrolled 

risk
Controls Controlled 

risk
That the 
Council does 
not comply with 
its constitution

High Work with Procurement to 
ensure procurement 
legislation and regulations 
are followed

Low

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS 

7.1 There are no staffing implications to any of the recommendations. An equality 
impact assessment is not required.

7.2 There are positive environmental and corporate image impacts by moving 
electricity to a renewable energy tariff.

8. CONSULTATION

8.1 The Corporate Leadership Team and Lead Member will be consulted on and 
will decide any changes to the purchasing strategy.

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION

9.1 Implementation date if not called in: Immediately. 

9.2 The full implementation stages are set out in table 3.

35



Table 6: Implementation timetable
Date Details
1st August 2019 All electricity purchased from this date will be from 

renewable sources
August 2019 Paper to CLT with recommendations on purchasing 

strategy
September 
2019

Confirm purchasing strategy with CCS

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

10.1 This report is supported by 1 background document:
Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Constitution

11. CONSULTATION (MANDATORY) 

Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent

Date 
returned 

Cllr Gerry Clark Lead Member for 
Sustainability, Waste 
Management and Economic 
Development

27/06/19 28/06/19

Duncan Sharkey Managing Director 28/06/19 04/07/19
Russell O’Keefe Executive Director 28/06/19 04/07/19
Andy Jeffs Executive Director 28/06/19 04/07/19
Rob Stubbs Section 151 Officer 28/06/19 04/07/19
Elaine Browne Interim Head of Law and 

Governance
28/06/19 04/07/19

Nikki Craig Head of HR and Corporate 
Projects

28/06/19 04/07/19

Louisa Dean Communications 28/06/19 04/07/19
Kevin McDaniel Director of Children’s Services 28/06/19 04/07/19
Hilary Hall Deputy Director of 

Commissioning and Strategy
28/06/19 04/07/19

REPORT HISTORY 

Decision type: 
Non-key decision 

Urgency item?
No

To Follow item?
N/A

Report Author: James Thorpe, Energy Reduction Manager, 
energy.manager@rbwm.gov.uk

36



Report Title: Financ ialUpd ate
Contains Confidential or
Exempt Information?

NO - Part I

Member reporting: Councillor Hilton, Lead Member for
Finance and Ascot

Meeting and Date: Cabinet – 25th July 2019
Responsible Officer(s): Robert Stubbs, Deputy Director and Head

of Finance.
Wards affected: All

1 . D ETA IL S O F REC O M M END A TIO N(S )

REC O M M END A TIO N : ThatC abinetnotes the reportand :

i) Notes the c ou nc il’ s projec ted ou ttu rn position for2019-20 –This is the
rec om m end ed option.

ii) A pproves ac apitalprogram m e bu d getad d ition of£ 30 , 7 50 form em ber
bu d gets –This is the rec om m end ed option.

iii)A pproves arevenu e bu d getad d ition of£ 7 5, 000 forthe c ontinu ed legal
proc ess ofH eathrow airport–This is the rec om m end ed option –see
paragraph 4. 12 .

2 . REA S O N(S )FO R REC O M M END A TIO N(S )A ND O P TIO NS C O NS ID ERED

2.1 Cabinet are required to note the council’s financial position.

3. KEY IM P L IC A TIO NS
Table 1 : Key im plic ations
O u tc om e Unm et M et Exc eed ed S ignific antly

Exc eed ed
D ate of
d elivery

General Fund
Reserves
Achieved

<£5,900,000 £5,900,000
to
£6,000,000

£6,000,001
to
£6,900,000

> £6,900,000 31 May
2020

4. FINA NC IA L D ETA IL S /VA L UE FO R M O NEY

C ou nc ilou ttu rn position
4.1 The projected position council-wide is an overspend of £509,000 on service budgets at

the end of the financial year. This mainly relates to a reduction in expectations in

REPORT SUMMARY

1 This report sets out the Councils financial position at month two in the financial
year 2019-20 and forecasts an overspend for the year of £359,000.

2 The council’s base budget is £92,773,000. Reserves stand at £10,285,000
(11.09% of budget) which remains in excess of the £5,810,000 (6.26% of budget)
recommended minimum level set at council in February 2019, see Appendix A.

37

Agenda Item 6iii)



housing benefit debtors which was last reported to Cabinet in April 2019. The projected
outturn for the council is shown in table 2.

Table 2 : O u ttu rn position
D irec torate Netbu d get P rojec ted

Varianc e
Managing Director £74,385,000 0
Executive Director – Communities £6,978,000 £359,000
Executive Director – Place £224,000 0
Non service expenditure £12,412,000 0
C ou nc ilreported O u ttu rn varianc es £ 93, 999, 000 £ 359, 000

M anaging D irec tor’ s D irec torate
4.2 The Managing Director has no variances to report for this period against a net

controllable budget of £74,385,000. However, there is currently a pressures being
managed within the service for the following areas.

4.3 Adult Social Care – pressures relating to placements, particularly learning disability and
continuing healthcare, and domiciliary care which is being managed within the service.

4.4 Children’s Services – there is currently pressure relating to legal costs arising from
complex court cases which is expected to reduce after quarter one and is being
managed within the service.

4.5 Commissioning Communities - report early indications of potential pressure in relation
to parking income which is being managed within the service.

4.6 Communications - following discussions with local stakeholders, the tourism function
will be delivered through a different model in the next financial year. There is, however,
an emerging pressure in this financial year which the service is seeking to mitigate in
advance of the introduction of the new model.

C om m u nities D irec torate
4.7 The Executive Director is reporting a reduced overspend of £359,000 against a net

controllable budget of £6,978,000, an improvement of £150,000 in Revenues and
Benefits following work carried out by the Benefits team to minimise the overspend. A
breakdown of the projected remaining overspend is detailed below.

4.8 Revenues and Benefits – an estimated overspend of £200,000 is being reported as a
result of a reduction in outstanding Housing Benefit Overpayments, and therefore
Housing Benefit Overpayment debtors. This is an improvement of £150,000 on what
was reported to Cabinet in June 2019, and is due to work carried out by the Benefits
team to minimise the overspend.

4.9 Communities, Enforcement and Partnerships – an overspend of £40,000 is being
reported on the annual cost of the BT network connections (known as Red Care lines).
This is due to a number of network connections for the new CCTV system that cannot
be achieved through a Wi-Fi network.

4.10 Communities, Enforcement and Partnerships – an overspend of £119,000 is being
reported. This is as a result of an historic delivering differently savings target which
cannot be met in year and was not written out of the 2019-20 budget build. This is

38



partly offset by a number of small underspends totalling £7,000. Further opportunities
areas are being explored to reduce the projected overspend.

P lac e D irec torate
4.11 There are no variances to report for the Executive Director in this period. The Place

Directorate has a net controllable budget of £224,000.

H eathrow A irportexpansion
4.12 On the 25th of June 2019, following discussions about the available options to the

Royal Borough, regarding the expansion at Heathrow Airport, Council resolved
unanimously to “agree to continue legal proceedings, by way of an appeal to the
outcome of the Judicial Review in March 2019”. Whilst acknowledged as a significant
sum , the cost of circa £75,000 was accepted as necessary to pursue this course of
action. As a result it is requested that £75,000 is added to the 2019-20 revenue budget.

Revenu e bu d getm ovem ents
4.13 The revenue budget has been amended this month to take account of three budget

changes detailed in Table 3 and explained below.

Table 3: Revenu e bu d getm ovem ent
A pproved S ervic e expend itu re bu d getreported to
Febru ary 2019 c abinet

£ 8 1 , 155, 000

Advantage card replacement costs £17,000
Reading development officer costs £17,000
Waste contract mobilisation £100,000
Pay Reward £298,000
S ervic e expend itu re bu d getthis m onth £ 8 1 , 58 7 , 000

C ash balanc es projec tion
4.14 Throughout the year the council’s cash balances have been revised, Appendix C

shows the twelve monthly capital cash flow which is based on the assumptions
contained in the 2019-20 budget report. The appendix includes total borrowing
projections, both long and short term debt.

C apitalP rogram m e
4.15 The approved 2019-20 capital estimate is £75,296,000, see table 4. The projected

outturn for the financial year is £75,296,000, see table 5 for capital programme status,
with further information in Appendices D - F.

Table 4: C apitalou ttu rn

Exp. Inc . Net
A pproved estim ate £75,296,000 (£17,278,000) £58,018,000

Variances identified £0 £0 £0

Slippage to 2019-20 £0 £0 £0

P rojec ted O u ttu rn 2018 -19 £75,296,000 (£17,278,000) £58,018,000

Table 5: C apitalprogram m e statu s
Ju ne 2019

Nu m berofsc hem es in program m e 291
Yet to start 28%

39



In progress 38%
Completed 15%
Ongoing programmes e.g. Disabled Facilities Grant 19%

Devolved formula capital grant schemes budgets devolved to
schools

0%

C apitalbu d getm ovem ents
4.16 Cabinet is asked to approve a capital budget of £30,750 for member budgets. This

equates to £750 per member and will be utilised for local projects.

B u siness rates
4.17 Business rate income at the end of May 19 was 19.90% against a target of 20%. The

overall target for 2019/20 is 98.3%.

5 L EGA L IM P L IC A TIO NS

5.1 In producing and reviewing this report the council is meeting its legal obligations to
monitor its financial position.

6 RIS K M A NA GEM ENT

6.1 No changes reported during this period.

7 P O TENTIA L IM P A C TS

7.1 None.

8 C O NS UL TA TIO N

8.1 None.

9 TIM ETA B L E FO R IM P L EM ENTA TIO N

9.1 Implementation date if not called in: immediately.

10 A P P END IC ES

10.1 This report is supported by six appendices:
 Appendix A Revenue Monitoring Statement
 Appendix B Revenue movement statement
 Appendix C Borrowing forecast
 Appendix D Capital budget summary
 Appendix E Capital monitoring report
 Appendix F Major capital scheme progress

11 B A C KGRO UND D O C UM ENTS

11.1 This report is supported by one background document:
 Budget Report to Council February 2019.

12 C O NS UL TA TIO N (M A ND A TO RY)

40



Nam e of
c onsu ltee

P ostheld D ate
issu ed for
c om m ent

D ate
retu rned
with
c om m ents

Cllr Hilton Lead Member for Finance and
Ascot

26/6/2019 27/06/2019

Duncan Sharkey Managing Director 21/06/2019 21/06/2019
Russell O’Keefe Executive Director 21/06/2019 22/06/2019
Andy Jeffs Executive Director 21/06/2019 22/06/2019
Rob Stubbs Section 151 Officer 21/06/2019 21/06/2019
Kevin McDaniel Director of Children’s services 21/06/2019
Nikki Craig Head of HR and Corporate

Projects
21/06/2019

Louisa Dean Communications 21/06/2019
Hilary Hall Deputy Director of

Commissioning and Strategy
21/06/2019 01/07/2019

REP O RT H IS TO RY

D ec ision type:
For information

Urgenc y item ?
No

To Follow item ?
No

Report Author: Ruth Watkins, Senior Finance and Accountancy Lead, 01628
793504.

41



Appendix A

Revenue Monitoring Statement 2019/20 for July 2019  Cabinet

Original 

Budget SUMMARY

Revised 

Budget

Projected 

Variance

£000 £000 £000

398 Management 399 0

466 Communications & Marketing 475 0

1,293 Human Resources 1,236 0

1,898 Law & Governance 1,907 0

2,101 Commissioning & Support 1,975 0

9,826 Commissioning - Communities 9,967 0

24,526 AfC Contract - Children's Services 24,526 0

11,140 AfC Contract - Dedicated Schools Grant 11,140 0

(2,546) Children's Services - Retained (2,546) 0

53,293 Dedicated Schools Grant - Retained 52,642 0

29,199 Adult Social Care - Optalis Contract 29,357 0

16,335 Adult Social Care - Spend 16,404 0

(11,725) Adult Social Care - Income (11,725) 0

12,728 Better Care Fund 12,728 0

4,659 Public Health 4,659 0

(80,585) Grant Income (79,934) 0

1,143 Finance 1,175 0

74,149 Total Managing Director's Directorate 74,385 0

141 Executive Director of Communities 143 0

830 Revenues & Benefits 856 200

1,327 Communities, Enforcement & Partnerships 1,376 159

3,150 Library & Resident Services 3,240 0

1,351 ICT 1,363 0

6,799 Total Communities Directorate 6,978 359

365 Executive Director of Place 368 0

1,086 Housing 1,087 0

1,302 Planning Service 1,332 0

(2,546) Property Service (2,563) 0

207 Total Place Directorate 224 0

81,155 TOTAL EXPENDITURE 81,587 359

42



Appendix A

Revenue Monitoring Statement 2019/20 for July 2019  Cabinet

Original 

Budget SUMMARY

Revised 

Budget

Projected 

Variance

£000 £000 £000

81,155 Total Service Expenditure 81,587 359

3,458 Contribution to / (from) Reserves 3,458 0

4,017 Pensions deficit recovery 4,017 0

300 Pay reward 0 0

Transfer from Provision for Redundancy 0 0

159 Environment Agency levy 159 0

Variance on Business Rates income 0 0

4,778 Capital Financing inc Interest Receipts 4,778 0

93,867 NET REQUIREMENTS 93,999 359

(1,094) Less - Special Expenses (1,094) 0

0 Transfer to / (from) balances (132) (359)

92,773 GROSS COUNCIL TAX REQUIREMENT 92,773 0

General Fund

Opening Balance 7,778 11,104

Contribution to / (from) Reserves 3,458

Transfers to / (from) balances (132) (359)

11,104 10,745

Estimated year end redundancy provision (460)

Projected General Fund outturn 10,285

43



Appendix B Revenue Monitoring Statement 2019/20

Appendix B

Revenue Monitoring Statement 2019/20
Funded by the 

General Fund 

(1)

Funded by 

Provision (2)

Included in 

the original 

budget (3) Total Approval

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Original Budget 81,155

1 Advantage card updates 17 17 CLT 6th March 2019

2 Reading development officer 17 17 CLT 6th March 2019

3 Waste mobilisation 100 100 Feb 2019 Cabinet

4 Pay Reward 298 298 Feb 2019 Cabinet

Changes Approved 134 0 298 432

Approved Estimate July 2019 Cabinet 81,587

NOTES

1

2

3

If additional budget is approved but no funding is specified, the transaction would, by default, be funded from the General Fund Reserve. 

Transactions in column 1 are funded by the General Fund.

A provision for future redundancy costs is created every year and this is used to fund additional budget in services for the costs of redundancy they 

incur during the year. Transactions in column 2 are redundancy costs funded by the provision for redundancy.

Transactions in column 4 are amounts approved in the annual budget which for various reasons need to be allocated to service budgets in-year. 

An example would be the pay reward budget. Pay reward payments are not approved until June. The budget therefore has to be re-allocated.

44



     Appendix C Borrowing Forecast 
 

 

 

The above figures are as at the 14th of June 2019, March to May 2019 are actual figures and June 2019 to May 2020 are projections based on current 

information held. 

Mar-19
Actual

Apr-19
Actual

May-19
Actual

Jun-19
Estimate

Jul-19
Estimate

Aug-19
Estimate

Sep-19
Estimate

Oct-19
Estimate

Nov-19
Estimate

Dec-19
Estimate

Jan-20
Estimate

Feb-20
Estimate

Mar-20
Estimate

Apr-20
Estimate

May-20
Estimate

Short term borrowing £'000 87,741 86,493 84,660 89,318 86,318 86,318 93,745 92,505 96,505 100,806 100,806 111,806 125,707 146,582 136,902

Long term borrowing £'000 57,049 57,049 57,049 57,049 57,049 57,049 57,049 57,049 57,049 57,049 57,049 57,049 57,049 57,049 57,049

Total Borrowing 144,790 143,542 141,710 146,368 143,368 143,368 150,795 149,555 153,555 157,855 157,855 168,855 182,756 203,631 193,951

£0

£50

£100

£150

£200

£250

M
ill

io
n

s

Borrowing Forecast @ 14/06/19

45



APPENDIX D

 

Portfolio Summary Gross Income Net Gross Income Net Gross Income Net

2019/20 

Projected

2019/20 

SLIPPAGE 

Projected

TOTAL 

Projected

VARIANCE 

Projected

VARIANCE 

Projected

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's (£'000) (£'000) (£'000) (£'000) (%)

Communities Directorate

Revenues & Benefits 170 0 170 170 0 170 69 0 69 239 0 239 0 0%

Communities, Enforcement & Partnerships 3,641 (1,255) 2,386 13,553 (1,345) 12,208 3,703 (1,211) 2,492 17,256 0 17,256 0 0%

ICT 506 0 506 506 0 506 139 0 139 645 0 645 0 0%

Library & Resident Services 443 0 443 443 0 443 834 (104) 730 1,277 0 1,277 0 0%

Total Communities Directorate 4,760 (1,255) 3,505 14,672 (1,345) 13,327 4,745 (1,315) 3,430 19,417 0 19,417 0 0

Place Directorate

Property 1,425 0 1,425 1,490 0 1,490 14,060 (159) 13,901 15,550 0 15,550 0 0%

Housing 0 0 0 35 (35) 0 381 (356) 25 416 0 416 0

Planning 947 0 947 947 0 947 1,673 (729) 944 2,620 0 2,620 0 0%

Total Place Directorate 2,372 0 2,372 2,472 (35) 2,437 16,114 (1,244) 14,870 18,586 0 18,586 0 0

Managing Director

Human Resources 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Adult Social Care 220 (200) 20 220 (200) 20 0 0 0 220 0 220 0 0%

Commissioning - Communities 17,224 (8,109) 9,115 18,310 (8,230) 10,080 2,383 (1,078) 1,305 20,693 0 20,693 0 0%

Law and Governance 46 0 46 46 0 46 10 0 10 56 0 56 0 0%

Green Spaces & Parks 425 (85) 340 499 (159) 340 213 (114) 99 712 0 712 0 0%

Non Schools 787 0 787 787 0 787 271 (162) 109 1,058 0 1,058 0 0%

Schools - Non Devolved 4,334 (973) 3,361 4,334 (973) 3,361 9,284 (1,487) 7,797 13,618 0 13,618 0 0%

Schools - Devolved Capital 195 (195) 0 196 (196) 0 740 (740) 0 936 0 936 0 0%

Total Managing Director 23,231 (9,562) 13,669 24,392 (9,758) 14,634 12,901 (3,581) 9,320 37,293 0 37,293 0 0

Total Committed Schemes 30,363 (10,817) 19,546 41,536 (11,138) 30,398 33,760 (6,140) 27,620 75,296 0 75,296 0 0

(£'000) (£'000) (£'000)

Portfolio Total 30,363 75,296 75,296

External Funding

Government Grants (9,686) (13,018) (13,018,006) (13,018)

Developers' Contributions (846) (1,880) (1,880,027) (1,880)

Other Contributions (285) (2,380) (2,379,787) (2,380)

Total External Funding Sources (10,817) (17,278) (17,278)

Total Corporate Funding 19,546 58,018 58,018

2019/20 Original Budget

New Schemes -                                         

2019/20 Approved Estimate Schemes Approved in Prior Years Projections - Gross Expenditure

46



APPENDIX E

Capital Monitoring Report - Projected Outturn 2019/20

At 30 June 2019, the approved estimate stood at £75.296m 

Exp Inc Net

£'000 £'000 £'000

Approved Estimate 75,296 (17,278) 58,018

Variances identified 0 0 0

Slippage to 2020/21 0 0 0

Projected Outturn 2019/20 75,296 (17,278) 58,018

Overall Projected Expenditure and Slippage

Projected outturn for the financial year is £75.296m

There are no variances or slippage to report this month.

Overall Programme Status

The project statistics show the following position:

Scheme progress No. %

Yet to Start 81 28%

In Progress 111 38%

Completed 43 15%

Ongoing Programmes e.g.. Disabled Facilities Grant 55 19%

Devolved Formula Capital Grant schemes budgets devolved to 

schools 1 0%

Total Schemes 291 100%

47



Appendix F

Major Capital Scheme Progress

Project CAPITAL SCHEME

TOTAL SCHEME 

VALUE

Gross Gross Income Estimate Gross Income Estimate Gross Income Estimate

2019/20 

Projected 

Variance 

Underspend 

as negative

2020/21 

SLIPPAGE 

Projected

Yet To 

Start

Preliminary 

/ Feasibility 

Work

Work On-

site

Ongoing 

Annual 

Programme

Expected 

Completion

£'000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Communities Directorate

Communities, Enforcement & Partnerships

CT52 Disabled Facilities Grant 600 600 (600) 0 0 0 0 600 (600) 0 0 0

CZ18 Braywick Leisure Centre 36,386 10,000 0 10,000 (334) 0 (334) 9,666 0 9,666 0 0

Place Directorate

Property

CI29 Broadway Car Park & Central House Scheme 35,313 0 0 0 408 0 408 408 0 408 0 0

Non Schools

CT61 AfC Case Management System 460 460 0 460 0 0 0 460 0 460 0 0

Schools - Non Devolved

CSJX St Peters Middle 2,700 2,700 (39) 2,661 0 0 0 2,700 (39) 2,661 0 0

CSJR Works to explore expansions for all Schools 500 500 0 500 475 0 475 975 0 975 0 0

Commissioning - Communities

CF05 Waste Vehicles 4,500 4,500 0 4,500 0 0 0 4,500 0 4,500 0 0

CD42 Maidenhead Station Interchange & Car Park 4,500 3,050 (2,442) 608 280 0 280 3,330 (2,442) 888 0 0

CF09 Maidenhead Local Plan Site Works 2,165 2,165 (1,765) 400 (60) 0 (60) 2,105 (1,765) 340 0 0

CD12 Roads Resurfacing-Transport Asset & Safety 1,900 1,900 (1,750) 150 0 0 0 1,900 (1,750) 150 0 0

CC62 Maidenhead Missing Links (LEP Match Funded) 2,151 1,418 (891) 527 610 (510) 100 2,028 (1,401) 627 0 0

CC89 Elizabeth Bridge 850 850 (50) 800 0 0 0 850 (50) 800 0 0

FROM PRIOR YEARS

PROJECT STATUSPROJECTIONS

APPROVED ESTIMATE 2019/20

2019/20 APPROVED SLIPPAGE TOTAL BUDGET

48



Report Title: Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan
Decision to Proceed to Referendum

Contains Confidential or
Exempt Information?

No - Part I

Member reporting: Councillor Coppinger, Lead Member for
Planning

Meeting and Date: Cabinet - 25 July 2019
Responsible Officer(s): Russell O'Keefe, Executive Director

Jenifer Jackson, Head of Planning
Wards affected: Old Windsor

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the report and:

i) Confirms that the plan meets the Basic Conditions tests and an SEA
has been carried out.

ii) Accepts the proposed changes to the Neighbourhood Plan set out in
Appendix B.
a. Gives delegated authority to the Head of Planning to issue a

decision statement; and
b. agrees to put the modified Neighbourhood Plan to referendum. The

date of the referendum to be set in accordance with the legal
requirements; and

iii) Delegates authority to the Head of Planning, in consultation with the
Lead Member for Planning, to make minor, non material, amendments
to the Neighbourhood Plan prior to the referendum being announced.

iv) Provides advance funding up to £20,000, if required, for the
referendum; this will then be claimed back from Government.

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the Localism Act (2011)
give local communities direct power to develop their shared vision for their
neighbourhood and deliver the sustainable development they need.
Neighbourhood planning provides a powerful set of tools for local people to get
the right type of development for their community. The referendum is the
culmination of the neighbourhood plan production process.

REPORT SUMMARY

1. This report seeks approval from Cabinet for the Old Windsor Neighbourhood
Plan to proceed to referendum at the earliest practicable opportunity.

2. The Neighbourhood Plan has been formally examined by an independent
examiner, and a number of changes have been recommended by the examiner
to ensure that the plan meets the basic conditions.

3. The cost of the referendum can be claimed back from the government.

49

Agenda Item 6iv)



2.1 The Royal Borough has been encouraging neighbourhood planning across the
Borough. There are currently 2 neighbourhood plan areas in the Borough at
different stages of production, with 3 more seeking neighbourhood area
designation or preparing to seek designation and another 2 in the process of
being examined. Old Windsor is the fourth Neighbourhood Plan to reach this
stage in the process.

2.2 The group producing the plan has placed community consultation at the heart
of their plan, undertaking a series of consultations and developing evidence to
support their policies, they have also worked closely with a consultant to
undertake the production of this neighbourhood plan. This process has
generated a lot of interest in the local community. The plan and the policies
within it have been supported by many respondents at the earlier stages.

2.3 Following publication, the neighbourhood plan was scrutinised by an
independent examiner. The examiner was appointed by the Royal Borough,
with the agreement of the Qualifying Body. This examination was carried out
without a public examination, using the written representations process, and
the examiner’s report recommends that the plan proceeds to referendum,
subject to modifications, see Appendix A.

2.4 These modifications are considered necessary by the independent examiner,
to ensure the neighbourhood plan meets the Basic Conditions, as required by
the Localism Act. The Basic Conditions for Neighbourhood Plans are:

 Having regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by
the Secretary of State it is appropriate to make the neighbourhood plan.

 The making of the neighbourhood plan contributes to the achievement of
sustainable development.

 The making of the neighbourhood plan is in general conformity with the
strategic policies contained in the development plan for the area of the
authority

 The making of the order (or neighbourhood plan) does not breach, and is
otherwise compatible with, EU obligations.

 Prescribed conditions are met in relation to the Order (or plan) and prescribed
matters have been complied with in connection with the proposal for the order
(or neighbourhood plan).

2.5 Officers have reviewed the plan in light of the proposed modifications and
conclude that the plan will continue to meet the Basic Conditions when
incorporating the Examiner’s modifications. The assessment of the
Examiner’s modifications can be found at Appendix B. Since receiving the
modifications, these have been discussed with representatives of the
Qualifying Body (the parish council in this case) who have agreed that these
changes are acceptable and that they wish for it to proceed to referendum at
the earliest practicable opportunity.

2.6 If approved, the referendum will be held at the earliest practicable opportunity,
in accordance with legislation. The question to be used in the referendum is
set by the ‘Neighbourhood Planning (Referendums) Regulations 2012’, and
must be “Do you want the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead to use
the neighbourhood plan for Old Windsor to help it decide planning applications
in the neighbourhood area?’.

50



2.7 If more than 50% of those voting in the referendum answer ‘yes’, the plan
would then form part of the Development Plan for the Royal Borough and
would need to be formally ‘made’ (adopted) by the Royal Borough. This
‘making’ of the neighbourhood plan would be a decision made by full Council.

Options

Table 1: Options arising from this report
Option Comments
1. Accept the modifications of the
Examiner, issue a decision
statement to this effect and approve
the Neighbourhood Plan to go
forward to referendum.

This is the recommended option

This is the next step in the Borough
adopting localism in planning, to
enable our communities to shape
their area. It enables the community
as a whole to decide if the plan
should be used by the Council for
determining planning applications.

2. Reject some or all of the
modifications of the examiner and
delegate authority to the Executive
Director Place to publish the
decision.

This option is not recommended.

Officers and the steering group
producing the plan have agreed that
the modifications are acceptable
and that the plan is suitable to be
the subject of a referendum.

3. Do not approve the
neighbourhood plan to go forward to
referendum.

This option is not recommended.

The plan has been recommended to
proceed to referendum, subject to
the modifications listed, by an
independent examiner and it is
supported by officers and the group
producing the plan. This option
would deny the local community the
opportunity to express their formal
support for the plan.

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS

Table 2 : Key Implications
Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly

Exceeded
Date of
delivery

An adopted
neighbourhood
plan that
delivers the
wishes of the
community.

From
Referendum
decision.

Neighbourhood
Plan receives
50-65% of
voters
choosing “yes”.

Neighbourhood
Plan receives
65-80% of
voters
choosing “yes”.

Neighbourhood
Plan receives
80%+ of voters
choosing “yes

Day of
referendum

Development
in accordance
with policies of
the
neighbourhood
plan.

Panel and
appeal
decisions do
not comply
with the
plan
policies.

Planning
applications
and appeals
are determined
in accordance
with the
neighbourhood
plan.

Majority of
applications
submitted
comply with
the policies of
the
neighbourhood
plan.

All applications
submitted
comply with
the policies of
the
neighbourhood
plan.

51



4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY

4.1 The Council has received grant payments from the former Department of
Communities and Local Government in association with the progress of this
particular plan (grants have also being received in association with the
progress of other plans).

4.2 A further grant payment of £20,000 can be applied for once a date has been
set for the referendum, this will fund the referendum. This will be the final grant
that can be applied for in association with this plan, this grant is to cover the
cost of the examination and referendum. Cabinet is asked to forward fund the
cost of the referendum in the event that cost is incurred before the funding is
received from Government.

Table 3: Financial Impact of report’s recommendations
REVENUE COSTS 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Additional total £20,000 £0 £0
Reduction £20,000 £0 £0
Net Impact £0 £0 £0

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 The Localism Act (2011) and The Neighbourhood Planning (General)
Regulations (2012) give power to Local Planning Authorities to approve a
neighbourhood plan to proceed to referendum. Under the Neighbourhood
Planning Act 2017 if the referendum results in a simple majority ‘Yes’ vote the
Neighbourhood Development Plan will immediately form part of the
Development Plan for the Royal Borough. Following this Act the Council
should ‘have regard to a post-examination neighbourhood development plan
when dealing with an application for planning permission, so far as that plan is
material to the planning application’

6. RISK MANAGEMENT

Table 4: Impact of risk and mitigation
Risks Uncontrolled

risk
Controls Controlled

risk
Community will
not have an
opportunity to
guide
development in
their area.

Medium Approve the
neighbourhood
plan to go to the public
vote in a referendum.

Low

Risk of legal
challenge if
examiner’s
recommendations
not accepted.

Medium Accept the examiner’s
recommendations.

Low

52



Risks Uncontrolled
risk

Controls Controlled
risk

If not approved,
planning
applications and
issues in the
neighbourhood
area will not be
dealt with in a
way the
communities
intended

Medium Approve plan for
referendum and if
successful use in
planning decisions.

Low

Development in
neighbourhood
area may
continue to
receive significant
levels of objection
from residents
and not meet
some local
needs.

High Approve plan for
referendum and if
successful use in
planning decisions.

Medium

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS

7.1 The examiner has confirmed that the neighbourhood plan (with modifications)
meets the Basic Conditions. One of these conditions is that it must be
compatible with human rights requirements. Officers agree that the plan, with
modifications, meets the Basic Conditions.

7.2 The recommendations in this report has no identified equality impacts.

7.3 Another of the Basic Conditions is to contribute to the achievement of
sustainable development. The neighbourhood plan was supported by a
Strategic Environmental Assessment screening and report, that concluded that
the plan would not trigger significant environmental effects. In addition to this,
the Council has confirmed that it believes the plan meets the Basic Conditions,
including in terms of sustainability.

8. CONSULTATION

8.1 During the production of the Neighbourhood Plan the Steering Group
undertook several consultations and engagement events with Local
Stakeholders in the Neighbourhood Plan Area. After the Draft Neighbourhood
Plan was submitted to the Royal Borough a formal process of consultation was
undertaken by planning officers and the results of this were forwarded to the
independent examiner for their consideration during the examination process.
The consultation process has met the legal requirements.

53



9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION

9.1 Implementation date if not called in: immediately. The full implementation
stages are set out in table 5.

Table 5: Implementation timetable
Date Details
Autumn 2019 Referendum
November Depending on the Outcome of the referendum formal

Making of the Neighbourhood Plan

10. APPENDICES

10.1 This report is supported by 2 appendices:
 Appendix A – Examiner’s Report - The examiner’s report is appended for

consideration and should be read in conjunction with the submission version
of the neighbourhood plan which is available on the Council’s website at
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web/

 Appendix B – Officer Assessment of the recommended changes to the
neighbourhood plan.

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

11.1 This report is supported by 6 background documents:
 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) -

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-
framework--2

 Localism Act (2011)
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted

 Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations (2012)
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/schedule/1/made

 Neighbourhood Planning (Referendum) Regulations (2012)
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2012/9780111525050/contents

 Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/20/contents/enacted

 Cabinet Report – Neighbourhood Planning Designations (March 2013)

12. CONSULTATION (MANDATORY)

Name of
consultee

Post held Date
sent

Date
returned

Cllr Coppinger Lead Member for Planning 26/06/19 28/06/19
Duncan Sharkey Managing Director 26/06/19 04/07/19
Russell O’Keefe Executive Director 26/06/19 04/07/19
Andy Jeffs Executive Director 26/06/19 04/07/19
Rob Stubbs Section 151 Officer 26/06/19 04/07/19
Elaine Browne Interim Head of Law and

Governance
26/06/19 04/07/19

Nikki Craig Head of HR and Corporate
Projects

26/06/19 04/07/19

54



Name of
consultee

Post held Date
sent

Date
returned

Louisa Dean Communications 26/06/19 04/07/19
Hilary Hall Deputy Director of

Commissioning and Strategy
26/06/19 04/07/19

REPORT HISTORY

Decision type:
Non-key decision
June 2019

Urgency item?
No

To Follow item?

Report Author: Robert Paddison, Principal Planning Policy Officer
(Neighbourhood Plans), 01628 796508

55



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  1 

 

 

 

 

Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 

Submission Version - August 2018  

Examination Report  

A Report to Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead Council into the 
Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan Submission Version  

By Independent Examiner, Jeremy Edge BSc (Hons) FRICS MRTPI 

 

 

 
 

Jeremy Edge BSc (Hons) FRICS MRTPI 

Edge Planning & Development LLP 

20th May 2019 

  

56



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  2 

 

Table of Contents 
Introduction and Role of the Independent Examiner ................................................................................ 4 

Old Windsor – Background .................................................................................................................... 5 

Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 – Geographic extent ..................................................... 6 

Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018 -2033 – Plan Preparation and Consultation .............................. 7 

Consultation Summary ........................................................................................................................... 9 

Basic Conditions ......................................................................................................................................... 9 

Conformity with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). ..................................................... 10 

Achieving sustainable development .................................................................................................... 11 

General conformity with the strategic policies of the Local Planning Framework .............................. 12 

EU obligations ...................................................................................................................................... 12 

Basic Conditions – Interim Conclusion ................................................................................................. 16 

Background Documents ........................................................................................................................... 18 

Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 – Planning Policies .......................................................... 18 

POLICY OW1: SETTLEMENT BOUNDARY .............................................................................................. 19 

POLICY OW2: COALESCENCE WITH WINDSOR ..................................................................................... 21 

POLICY OW3: DWELLING MIX .............................................................................................................. 21 

POLICY OW4: RESIDENTIAL INFILL AND BACKLAND DEVELOPMENT ................................................... 25 

POLICY OW5: FLOODING AND DRAINAGE ........................................................................................... 27 

POLICY OW6: SUDS DESIGN AND MANAGEMENT ............................................................................... 29 

POLICY OW7: SEWERAGE DISPOSAL AND WINDSOR SEWAGE TREATMENT WORKS ......................... 30 

POLICY OW8: TOWNSCAPE .................................................................................................................. 34 

POLICY OW9: HERITAGE ASSETS .......................................................................................................... 35 

POLICY OW10: ARCHAEOLOGICAL ASSETS .......................................................................................... 37 

POLICY OW11: PARKING STANDARDS FOR NEW RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT ................................. 39 

POLICY OW12: COMMERCIAL PARKING AND TRAVEL PLANNING ....................................................... 41 

POLICY OW13: HIGHWAY CAPACITY .................................................................................................... 42 

POLICY OW14: PEDESTRIAN ROUTES ................................................................................................... 45 

POLICY OW15: PROTECTION OF NATURAL HABITATS, LANDSCAPE AND ECOLOGY ........................... 45 

POLICY OW16: LOCAL GREEN SPACES ................................................................................................. 47 

57



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  3 

POLICY OW17: PROVISION OF COMMUNITY FACILITIES ADJACENT TO OLD WINDSOR RECREATION 

GROUND............................................................................................................................................... 48 

SUMMARY ................................................................................................................................................ 49 

EU OBLIGATIONS .................................................................................................................................. 51 

Habitats Regulation Assessment ........................................................................................................... 51 

In-combination effects .......................................................................................................................... 52 

People Over Wind & Sweetman v Coillte Teoranta, the Court of Justice of the European Union........... 52 

Convention on Human Rights ................................................................................................................ 52 

Conclusions and Recommendations ........................................................................................................ 53 

Referendum Area ................................................................................................................................. 54 

Appendix 1 ............................................................................................................................................... 55 

Background Documents ....................................................................................................................... 55 

Appendix 2 ............................................................................................................................................... 57 

Recommended Revised Policies (Tracked changes) ............................................................................ 57 

Appendix 3 ........................................................................................................................................... 6765 

Recommended Revised Policies (Clean) .......................................................................................... 6765 

Appendix 4 ........................................................................................................................................... 7573 

Berkshire Archaeology - Suggested Revisions to Policy OW10 Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan – 

Submission Version .............................................................................................................................. 7573 

 

 

        

58



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  4 

Introduction and Role of the Independent Examiner 

1.1  Neighbourhood Planning is an approach to planning introduced by the Localism Act 2011 which 

provides communities with the power to establish the priorities and policies to shape the future 

development of their local areas. This Examination Report sets out the findings of the 

independent examination of the Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission 

Version. 

 

1.2         My role as an Independent Examiner, when considering the content of a neighbourhood plan is 

limited to testing whether a draft neighbourhood plan meets the basic conditions and other 

matters set out in paragraph 8 of Schedule 4B to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 

amended). The role is not to test the soundness of a neighbourhood development plan, or to 

examine other material considerations. 

 

1.3 Paragraph 8 of Schedule 4B (2) to the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), states 

that the Plan must meet the following “basic conditions”; 

 

 it must have appropriate regard for national policy; 

 it must contribute towards the achievement of sustainable development; 

 it must be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the development plan for the 

local area; 

 it must be compatible with human rights requirements and  

 it must be compatible with EU obligations. 

 

1.4 In accordance with Schedule 4B, section 10 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 (as 

amended), the examiner must make a report on the draft plan containing recommendations 

and make one of the following three recommendations: 

(a) that the draft order is submitted to a referendum, or 

(b) that modifications specified in the report are made to the draft order and that 

the draft order as modified is submitted to a referendum, or 

(c)        that the proposal for the order is refused. 

 

1.5 If recommending that the Plan proceeds to a referendum, I am also then required to consider 

whether the Referendum Area should extend beyond the Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 

designated area to which the Plan relates. I make my recommendations at the end of this 

Report. 

 

59



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  5 

1.6 I am independent of the qualifying body, associated residents, business leaders and the local 

authority. I do not have any interest in any land that may be affected by the Plan and I possess 

appropriate qualifications and experience. 
 

1.7 I was appointed to undertake the independent examination of the Submission Version of the 

Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan (OWNP) on 30th January 2019.  The Regulation 16 

"Submission" Consultation ran from Monday 19 November 2018 until Friday 18 January 2019 

and the consultation responses were forwarded to me for consideration on 5th February 2019.  

The principal local documents available to me for this examination and which I have taken into 

account include: 
 

 

 The Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan Submission Stage Consultation (Regulation 16) 

Version, August 2018 

 Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Basic Conditions Statement, June 2018, 

Old Windsor Parish Council; 

 Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Consultation Statement 
June 2018, Old Windsor Parish Council; 

 Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan Census and Evidence Base Analysis 
October 2014, Old Windsor Parish Council; 

 Archaeology in Old Windsor – a brief appraisal, Berkshire Archaeology October 2014; 

 The Natural Environment in Berkshire Biodiversity Strategy 2014 – 2020, Berkshire Local 

Nature Partnership 2014; 

 Biodiversity Resource Report – Figures, Acorn Ecology Limited, May 2015;  

 Old Windsor Parish Heritage Survey,  Klara Spandl and Angela Warner, 20th July 2015; 

and 

 Neighbourhood Plan: Drainage Issues within the Parish, Old Windsor, Stilwell 

Partnership, October 2015. 

 

1.8 These and further documents that I have taken into consideration in preparing this examination 

report are referred to in Appendix 1. 

 

Old Windsor – Background 
 

1.9 Section 2 of the Submission Version of the OWNP explains the local heritage and development 

of Old Windsor, citing that in 1086, the settlement contained accommodation for nearly 100 

families, indicating a population at that time of perhaps 500. The Parish of Old Windsor now 

extends from the River Thames, over most of Windsor Great Park, to Virginia Water.  The OWNP 

notes that the Parish includes the ‘Copper Horse’ statue of King George III and the top half of 

the Long Walk from Windsor Castle as well as, ‘The Village’ a second, smaller settlement for the 

Crown Estate workers in the Great Park and Smiths Lawn, famous for polo. The village of Old 

60



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  6 

Windsor is set on the banks of the Thames and is bordered by Windsor Great Park and the 

meadows of Runnymede. The popular Thames Path National Trail runs from Runnymede to Old 

Windsor Lock and on to Albert Bridge.  

  

1.10 The village of Old Windsor is predominantly residential in terms of land use, with some small 

retail outlets including convenience stores, takeaways, a café, restaurant and three 

hairdressers/beauty parlours and various pubs. The evidence prepared by Navigus Planning for 

the preparation of the OWNP in 2014 indicated that the population was almost 5,000 and noted 

that the proportion of the population over 45 years of age exceeded the Borough and National 

average, whilst the population below this age was lower than both the Borough and national 

average, pointing to a bias towards a greater proportion of elderly residents living in Old 

Windsor. 

  

1.11 Due to the proximity to Windsor Great Park, the River Thames and the need to prevent the 

coalescence of settlements, 93% of the parish is within the metropolitan green belt and 7% of 

the area is floodplain. A large proportion of the Parish comprises Windsor Great Park and is 

designated Grade 1 Registered Historic Park and Garden.  Straight Road is classed as one of the 

busiest single carriageway roads of its type in the Borough, providing access to the M4 

motorway.  The Parish also includes a number of large estates, the oldest being the Manor (near 

the church), Woodside (at Crimp Hill to the south-west of the village), Beaumont (at the junction 

of Burfield Road and Priest Hill), and Runnymede House, to the east of Priest Hill.  

 

1.12 Despite the constraints of the River Thames and the effectiveness of Green Belt planning policy 

over the last 60 years, the OWNP notes the continued increase in dwellings in the Parish from 

about 475 dwellings in 1930, some 675 by 1940, 775 by 1950, 1,600 by 1960 and nearly 1,900 

by 1970.  

 

1.13 The OWNP explains that to keep pace with the increases in the resident population, new schools 

have been built, more shops have opened, and other amenities have been provided.  As a 

consequence of growth within the Parish and the wider area, the adequacy of local 

infrastructure capacity and management for transport and travel is a major issue in Old Windsor, 

exacerbated as explained in the OWNP by the lack of public transport links to Datchet train 

station, the nearest station serving Old Windsor and no direct public transport link to the Langley 

campus of the Further Education (FE) college.   Further social and physical infrastructure 

provision comprising a constrained GP service with an increasingly elderly client base and 

concerns over the capacity of the sewerage treatment works on Ham Island are noted in the 

OWNP.   

 

 

Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 – Geographic extent 
 

61



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  7 

1.14 Old Windsor Parish Council made application to Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead 

Council on 22nd October 2012 to prepare a neighbourhood plan for the area covered by the 

Parish, including a Statement of Support and plan identifying the extent of the geographic area 

covered in the application, as shown on the map extract below:  

 

 

 

Figure 1 – Designated Area – Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 (not to scale) 

 

1.15 The Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead Council designated the neighbourhood plan area 

on 21st March 2013. 

 

1.16 The Neighbourhood Plan has been submitted by Old Windsor Parish Council; the qualifying body 

entitled to submit a Neighbourhood Plan for the designated Plan Area.  The Basic Condition 

Statement avers that the OWNP expresses policies that relate to the development and use of 

land only within the neighbourhood area. 

 

Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018 -2033 – Plan 
Preparation and Consultation 

 

62



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  8 

2.0 The Consultation Statement confirms that it has been prepared in accordance with Regulation 

15(2) of Neighbourhood Planning Regulations 2012, which requires that a consultation 

statement should: 

 contain details of the persons and bodies who were consulted about the proposed 

neighbourhood development plan; 

 explain how they were consulted; 

 summarise the main issues and concerns raised by the persons consulted; and 

 describe how these issues and concerns have been considered and where relevant 

addressed in the proposed neighbourhood development plan. 

 

2.1 It is clear from the Consultation Statement that the policies in the Old Windsor Neighbourhood 

Plan (OWNP) have been developed through considerable interaction and consultation with the 

community from designation of the neighbourhood plan area in March 2013 onwards 

throughout the OWNP preparation stages.  The Consultation Statement explains that the Parish 

website was harnessed to publicise information about the emerging Plan; Facebook was used 

to communicate messages about the emerging Plan to 4,200 individuals and Focus groups were 

established with members from the local community including the school PTA, the football club 

and the guides to seek views on the future of the parish.  The Consultation Statement explains 

that community groups approached included the Allotment and Horticultural Association and 

King’s Court First School PTA.  To assess housing need, the two local estate agents were 

contacted to establish information on the housing type, price, location and tenure sought in the 

area. This information was supplemented, I understand by a Parish Survey, undertaken via a 

parish-wide questionnaire constructed around a set of local topics and delivered to all 2,000 

households in the parish.  The Consultation Statement notes that 95 questionnaires were 

completed. 

 

2.2 Further public engagement was conducted via a series of drop in day events with displays about 

the area, key information and statistics and opportunities for people to input their views into 

specific topics, including history and heritage, housing and economy. These were advertised 

locally via the local newspaper, village noticeboards, the newsletter, via local businesses and the 

parish website and were consequently well attended.  The Consultation Statement advises that 

over 150 people attended a two-day exhibition at the village day centre and a further 90 

attended an interactive exhibition on the ‘History of Windsor and its future’ held in the Youth 

Club.  During 2015, in order to extend the reach of the neighbourhood planning consultation 

activity, issues were canvased at the annual village carnival.  From these events, the feedback 

and comments were assessed and from this information, the steering group distilled a series of 

thematic issues, outlined in the Consultation Statement, which in turn were crystallised into a 

Vision Statement for the Plan and nine objectives, around which 17 draft land use planning 

policies were prepared. 

 

63



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  9 

2.3 The Consultation Statement explains that the OWNP group finalised the draft Plan in May 2016 

at which point the Regulation 14 Pre-Submission Consultation ran for an extended period until 

23 September 2016 to give more people the opportunity to provide their views over the summer 

period.  The Consultation Statement records that the Regulation 14 consultation was widely 

publicised, including via social media, and in accordance with the regulations, relevant non 

statutory and statutory consultees were invited to submit comments on the Plan, following 

which the Plan was appropriately amended in order to prepare the Submission version, the 

subject of this examination. 

 

Consultation Summary  
 

2.4 I acknowledge that the Steering Group has gone to considerable effort to ensure that everyone 

in the parish has had an opportunity to input their views.  In addition, the Group has consulted 

widely in relation to statutory and non-statutory consultees.   It is also clear that the Steering 

Group has been provided with helpful advice from consultees and from RBWM at the Regulation 

14 stage.   

 

2.5 The consultation processes reviewed above are acceptable in relation to meeting the Basic 

Conditions test and I am therefore satisfied that the information in the OWNP Consultation 

Statement complies with Section 15(2) of part 5 of the Regulations in demonstrating that the 

proposed neighbourhood development plan meets the requirements of paragraph 8 of 

Schedule 4B to the 1990 Act. 

 

Basic Conditions 
 

3.1 The Neighbourhood Plan contains policies relating to the development and use of land within 

the Neighbourhood Plan area and has been prepared in accordance with the statutory 

requirements and processes set out in the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended 

by the Localism Act 2011) and the Neighbourhood Planning Regulations 2012. 

 

3.2 The Neighbourhood Plan states that the period to which it relates is from 2018 until 2033 to 

align with the proposed Borough Local Plan incorporating Alterations, June 2003.   I am content 

that the OWNP policies do not relate to excluded development, being county matters (mineral 

extraction and waste development), nationally significant infrastructure or any other matters 

set out in Section 61K of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 

64



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

10 

3.3 I also concur that there was extensive consultation and engagement with the community on the 

emerging draft Neighbourhood Plan, as required by Regulation 14 of the Neighbourhood 

Planning (General) Regulations 2012. I agree that the Consultation Statement meets the 

requirements set out in Paragraph 15 (2) of the Regulations. 

 

Conformity with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).   
 

3.4 On 24th July 2018, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government published the 

NPPF (2018).  Annex 1 to the new NPPF states at paragraphs 212- 214: 

 

“212. The policies in this Framework are material considerations which should be taken into 

account in dealing with applications from the day of its publication. Plans may also need to 

be revised to reflect policy changes which this replacement Framework has made. This should 

be progressed as quickly as possible, either through a partial revision or by preparing a new 

plan.  

 

213. However, existing policies should not be considered out-of-date simply because they were 

adopted or made prior to the publication of this Framework. Due weight should be given to 

them, according to their degree of consistency with this Framework (the closer the policies in 

the plan to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given).  

 

214. The policies in the previous Framework will apply for the purpose of examining plans, 

where those plans are submitted on or before 24 January 2019. Where such plans are 

withdrawn or otherwise do not proceed to become part of the development plan, the policies 

contained in this Framework will apply to any subsequent plan produced for the area 

concerned……..” 

 

3.5 Footnote 69 to paragraph 214 states: 

 

“69  For spatial development strategies, ‘submission’ in this context means the point at which 

the Mayor sends to the Panel copies of all representations made in accordance with regulation 

8(1) of the Town and Country Planning (London Spatial Development Strategy) Regulations 

2000, or equivalent. For neighbourhood plans, ‘submission’ in this context means where a 

qualifying body submits a plan proposal to the local planning authority in accordance with 

regulation 15 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012.” 

 

3.6 I note that the OWNP was formally submitted to the Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead 

Council together with supporting documents for Regulation 16 consultation and subsequent 

65



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

11 

examination in November 2018.  Therefore, in the light of the transitional arrangements 

outlined above it is not necessary to examine the OWNP against the revised national policy 

guidance issued on 24th July, but rather the NPPF (2012).  

  

3.7 In section 2, the Basic Conditions Statement compares the 9 key objectives within the OWNP 

with the goals within the NPPF to demonstrate how the objectives of the OWNP will contribute 

to achieving the goals of the NPPF.  This is set out in tabular form in Table 2.1.  For the purpose 

of this examination, the Basic Conditions Statement (BCS) helpfully sets out in Table 2.2, each 

policy of the OWNP alongside the relevant policies in the NPPF to which it has had regard and 

briefly indicates how each OWNP policy contributes to achieving the objectives of the NPPF. In 

addition, alongside each policy within the Plan, the text in Table 2.2 of the BCS helpfully includes, 

‘conformity references’ relating to relevant NPPF policy paragraphs considered in the 

preparation of each OWNP policy.   

 

Achieving sustainable development 

3.8 The NPPF (2012) advises that all plans should be based upon the presumption in favour of 

sustainable development with clear policies that guide how the presumption should be applied 

locally.  Paragraph 16 of the NPPF acknowledges that the application of the presumption in 

favour of sustainable development will have implications for how communities engage in 

neighbourhood planning.  In particular neighbourhoods should develop plans that support the 

strategic development needs set out in Local Plans, including policies for housing and economic 

development and plan positively to support local development, shaping and directing 

development in their area that is outside the strategic elements of the Local Plan. The NPPF 

explains at paragraph 183, that neighbourhood planning gives communities direct power to 

develop a shared vision for their neighbourhood and deliver the sustainable development they 

need.   The national guidance explains that Parishes and neighbourhood forums can use 

neighbourhood planning to: 

 set planning policies through neighbourhood plans to determine decisions on planning 

applications; and 

 grant planning permission through Neighbourhood Development Orders and 

Community Right to Build Orders for specific development which complies with the 

order. 

 

3.9 Section 3 of the Basic Conditions Statement identifies how the OWNP has been positively 

prepared, reflecting the presumption in the NPPF in favour of sustainable development and that 

the Plan has been prepared with regard to this principle in seeking environmental, economic 

and social benefits.  Table 3.1 in the BCS summarises how the objectives and policies in the Plan 

will contribute towards the three strands of sustainable development, noting that many of the 

66



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

12 

objectives of the Plan overlap the three strands of sustainability.   

 

General conformity with the strategic policies of the Local 
Planning Framework   
 

3.10 Paragraph 184 of the NPPF requires that neighbourhood planning policy should be aligned with 

the strategic needs and priorities of the wider local area and that neighbourhood plans must be 

in general conformity with the strategic policies of the Development Plan. Furthermore, 

neighbourhood plans should reflect these policies and neighbourhoods should plan positively 

to support them.   

 

3.11 Section 4 of the BCS advises that the development plan currently consists of the Royal Borough 

of Windsor & Maidenhead Local Plan (Incorporating Alterations Adopted June 2003) – saved 

policies, the Maidenhead Area Action Plan and the made neighbourhood plans.  Furthermore, 

Table 4.1 of the BCS identifies the strategic policies of the development plan and a consideration 

whether the OWNP policies are in general conformity with those policies.  The BCS explains that 

the Draft Borough Local Plan reached the Examination stage in January 2018.  The BCS also 

considers the OWNP policies with reference to the Draft Borough Local Plan, however whilst 

this is helpful as a general comparator, it is to the adopted local planning policies that the 

examination of the OWNP must have regard.  I have therefore not given weight to the Draft 

Borough Local Plan in undertaking this examination. 

 

3.12 I agree that the general thrust of the draft policies in the Neighbourhood Plan will contribute to 

achieving sustainable development by seeking positive improvements to the quality of the 

natural, built and historic environment, as well as in people’s quality of life as outlined in the 

Basic Conditions Statement.  I am also content that the OWNP subject to the recommended 

policy alterations, is in general conformity with national and adopted local planning strategic 

policies and that the OWNP does not promote less development than set out in the Local Plan 

or undermine its strategic policies.  The OWNP if made, subject to the recommendations in this 

examination report and a successful referendum, would effectively shape and direct sustainable 

development in the OWNP neighbourhood area.  I am also content that the OWNP complies 

with the provisions of paragraph 185 of the NPPF which seeks to avoid duplication of adopted 

planning policies covering the same geographic area, at the neighbourhood spatial scale. 

 

 

EU obligations 
 

Strategic Environmental Assessment  
 

67



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

13 

3.12 As part of the Regulation 14 (Pre-Submission) Consultation on the Neighbourhood Plan in July 

and August 2016, the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead formally requested an initial 

screening opinion on the need for SEA or HRA from the Environment Agency, Historic England 

and Natural England. The consultation period ran for 6 weeks.  

 

3.13 The Environment Agency considered that an SEA was not required and had no comment to make 

on the need for an HRA. Natural England considered that neither an SEA nor an HRA was 

required, but Historic England stated that an SEA would be required if the wording of Policy 

OW9 was retained as drafted in the Regulation 14 version of the Plan. This was because it had 

concerns, in the absence of detailed proposals, for any expansion of the Sewage Treatment 

Works and an assessment of what, if any, harm might be caused and requiring further 

archaeological investigation.  There could also be potential for significant impacts on the 

Kingsbury Scheduled Monument and potentially nationally important archaeological remains 

beyond the scheduled area. Historic England recommended wording changes to Policy OW9 

which it stated would address the concern and would mean that, in its view, an SEA would no 

longer be required.  I understand this wording was incorporated into Policy OW9 in the 

Regulation 16 version of the Neighbourhood Plan. Historic England made no comment on the 

need for an HRA.  

 

3.14 Historic England stated in its response that it may be prudent to undertake a proportionate SEA, 

but compliant with the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004, 

to confirm that the revised Policy OW9 would not be likely to lead to significant environmental 

effects. As such, the initial screening conclusion was that the Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 

did not require a SEA to be undertaken. However, following the earlier advice by Historic 

England, a SEA was undertaken in respect of Policy OW9 (Windsor Sewage Treatment Works) 

and also Policy OW12 (Archaeological assets) in as far as Policy OW12 also relates to the area of 

Ham Island.  

 

3.15 The Screening Assessment of 2017 notes that a formal scoping process had not been undertaken 

to inform the SEA.  In seeking to take forward on a proportionate approach, the advice provided 

by Historic England in its initial SEA screening letter, provided sufficient clarity on the issues that 

need to be considered by the SEA.  I concur that in combination with the initial SEA screening 

responses provided at the same stage by the Environment Agency and Natural England 

represent sufficient guidance on the scope of the SEA. 

 

 

Strategic Environmental assessment of OWNP Policies OW7 and OW10 
  

68



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

14 

3.16 Objective 5 of the Regulation 14 (Pre-Submission) Consultation draft of the Neighbourhood Plan 

was, “To maintain and protect the substantial archaeological sites and historic landscape for 

future generations.”  However, in commenting on the Regulation 14 (Pre-Submission) 

Consultation draft of the Neighbourhood Plan, Historic England identified that there was no 

objective to enhance the character and vitality of Old Windsor village or the “substantial 

archaeological sites” or historic landscapes”.  Consequently, the draft Submission Stage 

Neighbourhood Plan amended Objective 5 as follows: “To protect, conserve and enhance the 

historic environment of Old Windsor, including both designated (listed buildings, scheduled 

monuments, the conservation area and registered historic parks and gardens) and non- 

designated heritage assets.”   The screening report of Policies OW9 and OW12, May 20171, 

noted that the OWNP Submission Version of the Plan, included amendments to Policy OW9 as 

a final paragraph of Policy OW7 (Sewerage Disposal and Windsor Sewage Treatment Works) and 

amendments to former Policy OW13 were included as renumbered Policy OW10 (Archaeological 

Assets).  

 

3.17 In the SEA screening report concerning Policies OW9 and OW12, these are considered to be the 

only policies in the Neighbourhood Plan which directly relate to the area of the scheduled 

monument and the area where archaeological assets could reside.  The statutory bodies, in their 

initial screening of the need for SEA, did not identify any other potential impacts of the Draft 

Neighbourhood Plan policies and whether these would trigger the need for SEA.  

 

Cumulative effects of Neighbourhood Plan policies 
 

3.18 The screening report concluded that there will be no cumulative impact of the other 

Neighbourhood Plan policies in respect of issues relating to harm to scheduled monuments or 

protection of archaeological assets and that overall, neither Policies OW9, nor OW12, are 

expected to have a negative impact on environmental sustainability. Therefore, the report 

considered that this would give sufficient confidence that these policies will contribute to 

sustainable development.  The assessment considered that the amendments would not have a 

significant environmental impact and therefore SEA was not required.  I accept that conclusion. 

 

Habitats Regulation Assessment Screening Report, June 2018 
 

                                                           

1 The Strategic Environmental Assessment and Habitats Regulation Assessment Screening Report and Strategic 

Environmental Assessment of Policies OW9 and OW12, May 2017 

69



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

15 

3.19 The HRA screening report identified the European sites potentially affected by the OWNP, 

noting that one designated site lies within (and extends beyond) the neighbourhood area, being  

Windsor Forest and Great Park SAC  

 

3.20 The report notes that four designated sites lie wholly or partly within the wider borough of 

Windsor and Maidenhead, being:  

• Chiltern Beechwoods SAC; 

• South West London Water Bodies SPA and Ramsar; 

• Thames Basin Heaths SPA; and 

• Thursby, Ash, Pirbright & Chobham SAC (part of Thames Basin Heaths SPA)  

 

Relevant designated sites outside the borough are:  

• Broadmoor to Bagshot Heaths SSSI (part of Thames Basin Heaths SPA); and 

• Burnham Beeches SAC 

 

3.21 The screening report noted that at that time, the then emerging draft OWNP Policies that sought 

to address positively the environmental aspects of sustainable development – specifically, 

protection of natural habitats included:  

 (Draft Policy OW17) landscape and ecology,  

 (Draft Policy OW18) and protection of amenity green spaces and 

 (Draft Policy OW20); and that they would be likely to serve to have a positive effect 

on the SACs and other protected sites. 

 

In-combination effects 
 

3.22 In relation to considering existing plans and proposals, when assessing new plans or 

programmes, it is necessary to consider whether they may give rise to ‘in combination’ effects.  

I understand that the HRA and SEA screening reports (2016) on the emerging RBWN Local Plan, 

found that the policies in the Local Plan were unlikely to have significant effects on the European 

sites, due to the nature of the proposed policies themselves. The HRA screening assessment in 

relation to the Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan considered the impact on the relevant sites on 

the same basis as used in assessing the Local Plan in 2016, where Habitat Regulations 

Assessment Screening Reports were carried out in respect of the likely adverse impact on any 

of the identified sites within approximately 5km of the boundary of the Borough.  I note that the 

HRA Screening outcome concluded that no likely significant effects in regard to the SPAs and 

SACs in the Borough would occur as a result of the implementation of the OWNP.  Furthermore, 

it was also concluded that no likely significant effects in respect of the European sites designated 

70



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

16 

for conservation interest will occur as a result of the implementation of the OWNP and therefore 

the OWNP did not require a full HRA to be undertaken. 

 

3.23 In April 2018, in the case People Over Wind & Sweetman v Coillte Teoranta (“People over Wind”), 

the Court of Justice of the European Union clarified that it is not appropriate to take account of 

mitigation measures when screening plans and projects for their effects on European protected 

habitats under the Habitats Directive. This judgment led to uncertainty for those working on 

neighbourhood plans and rendered a range of other planning tools inoperable where a case is 

determined likely to have significant effects on a protected habitats site as explained in the Chief 

Planning Officer’s letter to planning officers dated 15th January 2019, informing them that 

consequential changes to the Conservation of Habitats and Species and Planning (Various 

Amendments) (England and Wales) Regulations 2018 came into force on 28 December 2018. 

The regulations now allow neighbourhood plans and development orders in areas where there 

could be likely significant effects on a European protected site to be subject to an ‘Appropriate 

Assessment’ to demonstrate how impacts will be mitigated, in the same way as would happen 

for a draft Local Plan or planning application.  

 

3.24 It is sufficient to re-state the HRA Screening outcome which concluded that significant effects in 

respect of the European sites within 5 km of Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan Area are unlikely 

to occur as a result of the implementation of the OWNP and its policies.  Consequently, the 

OWNP does not require a full HRA to be undertaken. 

 

3.25 It may therefore be concluded that following the changes referred to above to the Conservation 

of Habitats and Species and Planning (Various Amendments) (England and Wales) Regulations 

2018 that the following basic condition prescribed for the purpose of paragraph 8(2)(g) of 

Schedule 4B to the 1990 Act the making of the OWNP would not breach the requirements of 

Chapter 8 of Part 6 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. 

 

Convention on Human Rights 

3.26 The Basic Conditions Statement confirms that the OWNP has regard to and is compatible with 

the fundamental rights and freedoms guaranteed under the European Convention on Human 

Rights.  This statement is justified through the extensive engagement with the community and 

stakeholders as indicated in the Statement of Consultation.  I note that considerable care has 

been exercised throughout the preparation and drafting of the Plan to ensure that the views of 

the whole community were considered to avoid unintentional negative impacts on particular 

groups. 

Basic Conditions – Interim Conclusion 

3.27 The Basic Conditions Statement (BCS) has been clearly and systematically prepared.  In setting 

out how the Plan meets the Basic Conditions.  These are cited in the BCS as follows:  

71



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

17 

 

“Paragraph 8(2) of Schedule 4B to the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 requires a 

neighbourhood plan to meet five basic conditions before it can proceed to a referendum. 

These are: 

i. Having regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by the Secretary 

of State it is appropriate to make the neighbourhood plan; 

ii. The making of the neighbourhood development plan contributes to the achievement of 

sustainable development; 

iii. The making of the neighbourhood development plan is in general conformity with the 

strategic policies contained in the development plan for the area of the authority (or any part 

of that area); 

 

iv. The making of the neighbourhood development plan does not breach, and is otherwise 

compatible with, EU obligations; and 

 

v. Prescribed conditions are met in relation to the neighbourhood plan and prescribed matters 

have been complied with in connection with the proposal for the neighbourhood plan. The 

prescribed condition is that the ‘making’ of the neighbourhood plan is not likely to have a 

significant effect on a European site (as defined in the Conservation of Habitats and Species 

Regulations 2012) or a European offshore marine site (as defined in the Offshore Marine 

Conservation (Natural Habitats etc.) Regulations 2007) (either alone or in combination with 

other plans or projects). 

3.28 In addition to the Basic Conditions Statement (BCS), the OWNP is supported by a Consultation 

Statement, a Strategic Environmental Assessment and Habitats Regulation Assessment 

Screening Report and an evidence base seeking to justify the Plan’s policies. 

3.29 The BCS helpfully confirms in the Key Statements at the beginning of the BCS that: 

 Old Windsor Parish Council is a qualifying body and entitled to submit a 

Neighbourhood Plan for its own parish.  

 The OWNP expresses policies that relate to the development and use of land only 

within the neighbourhood area.  

 The neighbourhood area is contiguous with the parish boundary, as shown in the map 

accompanying the neighbourhood area designation application.  

 The OWNP covers the period from 2018 to 2033.   

 No provision for excluded development as defined by section 61K of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990 such as national infrastructure is contained within the 

Neighbourhood Plan.  

72



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

18 

 The OWNP does not relate to more than one neighbourhood area. It is solely related 

to the area of Old Windsor as designated by The Royal Borough of Windsor and 

Maidenhead Council on 21st March 2013.  

 There are no other Neighbourhood Development Plans in place for the Old Windsor 

neighbourhood area.  

 

3.30 The Basic Conditions Statement notes that the OWNP is in general conformity with the strategic 

policies of the adopted RBWM Local Plan, incorporating Alterations, June 2003 In evaluating the 

OWNP submission plan draft policies in this examination report, I have assessed the extent to 

which these policies are consistent with the strategic planning policies in the adopted Local Plan 

in considering each policy and the Plan as a whole.  I make my comments in respect of specific 

draft policies in Section 4 and more generally in the Conclusions section of this report below. 

Subject to the recommended policy modifications in this examination report, I consider that the 

Plan has appropriate regard to national policy and will contribute towards the achievement of 

sustainable development.   

Background Documents 

 
4.1 The background documents referred to in this examination report are listed in Appendix 1.  

Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 – Planning 
Policies 

 

5.1 The submission draft OWNP sets out a vision for the designated area which is expressly 

aspirational and positive, seeking to build on the uniqueness of the settlement to meet the 

needs of residents of the Parish over the life of the Plan.  This has been distilled into a series of 

town planning objectives to deliver the Plan’s vision.  These are:  

 

1. To maintain the character and the vitality of Old Windsor village.  

2. To provide future and existing generations with the opportunity to remain in the 

community.  

3. To maintain, protect and enhance the areas of biodiversity within Old Windsor.  

4. To encourage development that is sustainable and of a high quality design which respects 

amenity and is sympathetic to the local townscape, particularly in terms of density.  

73



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

19 

5. To protect, conserve and enhance the historic environment of Old Windsor, including both 

designated (listed buildings, scheduled monuments, the conservation area and registered 

historic parks and gardens) and non- designated heritage assets.  

6. To ensure that new development is supported by adequate infrastructure.  

7. To ensure that development comes with suitable off-street parking.  

8. To reduce harm to the community by seeking to minimise pollution.  

9. To enhance the facilities available to the community. 

 

5.2 These objectives have in turn set the framework for the neighbourhood plan land-use planning 

policies.   

 

5.3 Where, in my opinion, the explanatory or supporting text to the OWNP requires some alteration 

those changes suggested in this report are advisory and for clarification; they are not mandatory 

in order to meet the Basic Conditions test. If the OWNP is to proceed to referendum, the 

recommended alterations to the policies must be accepted by the Parish Council in order that 

the Plan may move forward to that stage.  Where I have recommended changes to the draft 

policies, the recommended revisions are shown as tracked changes in Appendix 2 with “clean” 

copies of the policies in Appendix 3.   Where policy revisions are recommended, the explanatory 

text relating to those policies subject to alteration may require some modification to reflect the 

recommended modified policies.  Such changes will be a matter for the Parish Council to 

prepare, doubtless in conjunction with the Planning Department of the Borough Council as part 

of the duty to support and advise, although I have in most cases offered suggested alterations. 

 

5.4 I now consider each of the OWNP draft planning policies and the related explanatory text within 

the Plan.  As previously indicated, in accordance with paragraph 184 of the NPPF, the 

neighbourhood plan policies must be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the 

adopted Local Plan.   

POLICY OW1: SETTLEMENT BOUNDARY  

The development of Old Windsor village shall be focused within the settlement 

boundary as identified on the Policies Map.  

 

Development proposals will be supported within the settlement boundary subject to 

compliance with the other policies in the development plan.  

 

Development proposals outside the settlement boundary will not be permitted 

unless: 

• they represent uses appropriate in the countryside; and  

• they comply with national policy on development in the Green Belt. 

74



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

20 

 

5.5 The purpose of this policy is stated in the Basic Conditions Statement defining the built-up 

boundary to ensure appropriate uses in the countryside and compliance with national policy on 

development in the Green Belt.  The BCS states that the policy complies with national planning 

guidance in the NPPF at paragraphs 55 and 109.  The policy complies generally with the section 

9 of the NPPF 2012, paragraphs 79-92 on protecting the Green Belt.  At the Borough level, the 

Basic Conditions Statement advises that Policy OW1 conforms to the adopted Local Plan 

(Incorporating Alterations Adopted June 2003) policies GB1: Acceptable uses and development 

in the Green Belt, GB2: Unacceptable development, and GB3: New residential development.   

 

5.6 In relation to the Regulation 16 replies, developer Gladman raised concerns that Policy OW1 

precludes development outside the defined settlement boundary, unless such proposals include 

uses appropriate in the countryside and national policy on development in the Green Belt. 

Gladman states that it does not consider the use of development limits to be an effective 

response to future development proposals if they would act to preclude the delivery of 

otherwise sustainable development opportunities, as indicated in the policy and that 

development which is sustainable, should go ahead without delay.  In this instance, as the 

supporting text to the policy indicates, the Green Belt boundary is tightly drawn up to the 

settlement boundary on the adopted Local Plan Proposals Map 3, for Datchet, Old Windsor and 

Windsor. There is no realistic prospect for development to take place, other than that 

considered to be appropriate development in the Green Belt, except in very special 

circumstances, on land beyond the designated settlement boundaries within the parish. These 

are not arbitrary settlement limits but are well defined and well established.  The only realistic 

basis upon which these might be altered would be on a future adoption of an alternative Local 

Plan.  There is no current expectation that the Green Belt is likely to be relaxed for development 

as far as I am aware over the life of this neighbourhood plan.  It follows that it is not necessary 

and indeed would be inappropriate under the circumstances, to alter the draft policy to provide 

“flexibility”, particularly having regard to the assumed permanence of Green Belt boundaries in 

national planning policy. 

 

5.7 To avoid potential land-use misunderstandings and to reflect the need to maintain openness 

within Green Belts, rather than referring in the first bullet point of Policy OW1 to uses that are 

appropriate in the countryside as being acceptable, it would be preferable to limit uses to those 

normally acceptable within the Green Belt.  These are set out in paragraphs 89 and 90 of the 

NPPF.  Accordingly, I recommend that Policy OW1 is amended to read as shown with tracked 

changes in Appendix 2 and as shown in Appendix 3 with those changes in place. 

 

75



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

21 

POLICY OW2: COALESCENCE WITH WINDSOR 

Development proposals in the gap between Old Windsor and Windsor should ensure 

that the separation between the settlements is maintained. 

 

5.8 Paragraph 80 of the NPPF explains that designating land within the Green Belt serves the 

following five planning purposes: 

●  to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas;  

●  to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;  

●  to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;  

●  to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and  

● to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and other 

urban land. 

 

5.9 The Green Belt in the designated plan area performs these purposes, the second bullet point in 

particular is relevant in assisting in preventing coalescence between Windsor and Old Windsor. 

It is not clear to me that paragraph 55 of the NPPF supports Policy OW2 as successfully as 

paragraph 80.  The strategic Green Belt policies as identified in the adopted Local Plan and 

referred to in relation to Policy OW1, will in combination ensure that the separation between 

these settlements is maintained.   

 

5.10 There were no specific policy comments from parties commenting on this policy at the 

Regulation 16 consultation stage.   I believe that this policy will assist in managing and delivering 

sustainable development in Old Windsor over the Plan period, if the Plan is subsequently made.  

I recommend that Policy OW2 needs no alteration and therefore appears unchanged in 

Appendix 2 and 3. 

 

POLICY OW3: DWELLING MIX 
Residential developments must provide a mix of dwelling sizes (market and 

affordable) that fall within the following ranges: 

•  1   bed dwellings: 10-15% of all dwellings  

•  2   bed dwellings: 25-35% of all dwellings  

•  3   bed dwellings: 25-35% of all dwellings  

•  4+ bed dwellings: 15-20% of all dwellings  

An alternative dwelling mix will only be permitted where it is demonstrated that the 

above mix would fundamentally compromise the viability of the scheme, taking into 

account other requirements of the development.   

76



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

22 

Where a site is too small to secure the full required mix, development will be expected 

to provide a mix of dwelling sizes which maximises the potential number of dwellings 

on the plot whilst ensuring a high quality of design and without having a detrimental 

impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties.  

5.11 The Basic Conditions Statement (BCS), comments that this policy which defines the dwelling mix 

for residential developments by reference to bedrooms within the Parish for market and 

affordable dwellings, is said to accord with NPPF paragraphs 50 and 159, reflecting demand and 

need for market and affordable dwellings respectively.  The evidence prepared by Navigus 

Planning in October 2014, for the preparation of the OWNP housing policies, noted at the time, 

based on evidence, that the SHMA proposed that 57% of new dwellings by 2029 should be one 

bedroom, with a further 22% as two-bedroom dwellings, reflecting a significant change in 

provision compared to the existing stock of properties.  The conclusion of the study insofar as 

housing need was concerned at paragraph 1.18 was that, “There is a clear need for new 

properties that are built in Old Windsor to be smaller dwellings.”  This conclusion was carried 

forward into the submission draft OWNP, where the supporting policy text explains at 

paragraph 5.7 that, 

 

 “Demand for larger affordable units by those on the Housing Register is very limited, 

with the predominant demand being for 1 and 2 bed units. As at May 2018, the 

Housing Register showed the following breakdown of applications:  

• 1 bedroom - 307 applications  

• 2 bedrooms - 298 applications  

• 3 bedrooms - 91 applications  

• 4 bedrooms – 22 applications”   

 

5.12 This translates to the following percentage dwelling requirement in relation to affordable 

housing need: 

1 bedroom    307 42.8% 

2 bedrooms  298 41.5% 

3 bedrooms    91 12.7% 

4 bedrooms   22 3.1% 

Total    718 100.0% 

 

5.13 Therefore, both the private housing demand and affordable housing need is skewed towards 

smaller dwellings, whilst the existing housing stock in Old Windsor is predominantly larger 

dwellings.  It is therefore unclear why the draft neighbourhood plan policy requirement for both 

market and affordable housing does not reflect the identified need, but rather a housing mix 

that displays little regard to the evidence used to support the policy.  The matter is further 

77



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

23 

compounded in relation to the supply of affordable housing, to the extent that in areas of high 

house prices like Old Windsor, it is difficult for housing associations and other registered 

providers to deliver affordable housing, due to the high cost of construction relative to 

capitalised net rental income.  This has led to an affordability / deliverability problem and for 

several years, registered housing providers have had considerable difficulty in delivering 

affordable housing, other than for smaller dwellings without grant.   

 

5.14 It is thus not clear that draft Policy OW3 genuinely provides the broad housing mix appropriate 

to meet need and demand in the Parish, that would meet the local requirement as sought by 

paragraph 50 of the NPPF (2012).  This instructs plan-makers to:  

“● plan for a mix of housing based on current and future demographic trends, market 

trends and the needs of different groups in the community (such as, but not limited to, 

families with children, older people, people with disabilities, service families and people 

wishing to build their own homes);  

● identify the size, type, tenure and range of housing that is required in particular 

locations, reflecting local demand; and  

● where they have identified that affordable housing is needed, set policies for meeting 

this need on site….” 

 

5.15 At the Local Plan level, the BCS notes that the relevant strategic policy to which Policy OWNP3 

conforms are said to be housing policies H8 and H9.  Policy H8 encourages housing development 

meeting a range of housing needs but acknowledges the need to favour proposals that will be 

suitable for smaller households.  Again, Policy OW3 does not appear to properly reflect local 

identified need.  It is therefore questionable whether Policy OW3 conforms sufficiently to 

national and adopted local planning policy.  My assessment is that it does not adequately reflect 

assessed need and could result in a development management conflict in relation to reaching 

decisions on planning applications for housing proposals in the neighbourhood plan area.   

 

5.16 The relevance of the housing mix policy is further questionable because the OWNP does not 

include housing allocations.  This is not a criticism of the neighbourhood plan; many similar 

neighbourhood plans do not seek to allocate land for new housing development.  This is entirely 

understandable in Old Windsor where Green Belt and flood plain constraints materially 

influence the ability to identify realistic development sites outside the settlement boundaries 

of the Parish.  Even if there were significant opportunities to develop brownfield sites in the 

neighbourhood area, these would need to offer the opportunity to develop at least 10 dwellings 

before an approximation of the specified mix in Policy OWNP could be achieved.  The prospect 

of many such sites being delivered on brownfield land within the settlement boundaries of the 

Parish would appear to be remote.  A more likely scenario would be for the delivery of mainly 

small housing developments through infill development and the recycling of existing urban land. 

78



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

24 

 

5.17 The most up to date assessment of likely development land for a variety of land uses in Old 

Windsor may be found in The Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment (HELAA), 

December 20182, prepared to identify future sources of land to help meet development needs.  

This is a technical study of all potential land for housing and economic uses (such as offices and 

retail), formerly restricted to housing land only and referred to as the Strategic Housing Land 

Availability Assessment (SHLAA).  The HELAA prepared has been prepared by Reading Borough 

Council, the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Slough Borough Council, West 

Berkshire Council and Wokingham Borough Council using a joint methodology to assess the land 

proposed for development.  The current HELAA was published in December 2018 and sets out 

the way the councils broadly propose to assess the suitability of land put forward for 

development; whether it is available; achievable and whether the development could 

realistically be built in the timescales expected. This version of the HELAA supersedes the 2016 

version and includes updated information collected in a Call for Sites exercise which was 

undertaken in July and August 2017.  It is correct relating to site completions and planning 

permissions granted up to 31st March 2018.  Appendix D to the HELAA provides assessments by 

parish relating to potential development land over a 15-year time horizon.  Sites likely to come 

forward for housing development for less than 5 dwellings are excluded from the assessment.  

Within Old Windsor, only two housing sites are identified.  The former BP garage site on Straight 

Road was granted planning permission on appeal in 2015 and is being developed for 11 

dwellings due to be completed and sold this year by regional housebuilder, Acquinna Homes.  

The second site, Straight Works, which is also accessed from Straight Road extends to about 

0.55ha.  I note from Appendix D of the HELAA that this might be expected to be developed at a 

density of around 40dph based on local character, and predominantly medium style housing, 

the site being located in an established residential area with good access to local facilities and 

services. The site is currently in employment use in the form of B2/B8 uses, and could be 

retained for use for employment, and/or retail development.  The site might come forward after 

the next 5 years and within a period of 10 years.  It is considered developable, within the terms 

of the HELAA.  None of the other sites postulated as possible sites are considered to be feasible 

principally for reasons of being designated Green Belt land and / or subject to flood risk.  Table 

9, from the HELAA, showing the maximum potential housing supply by parish area appears 

below; the Aquinna Homes site referred to as being deliverable within 5 years, is in fact currently 

in the course of development, whilst the Straight Works site, which might yield 20 dwellings, is 

shown as being developable in the 6-10 year category.  

                                                           

2 Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment (HELAA) 2018, 

December 2018 

79



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

25 

 
5.18 I accept that over the life of the plan that other sites may come forward and that the HELAA is 

simply an assessment of likely housing supply as at December 2018, but the conclusion that can 

be drawn is that there are likely to be very few occasions where the housing mix policy as 

defined in the first part of the policy might be used.  Given that it does not accord with the 

evidence of demand and need, as explained in the evidence and explanatory memorandum to 

the plan, I recommend that proposed housing mix component of Policy OW3 be deleted. 

 

5.19 In the light of the evidence, I recommend that the residual part of Policy OWNP 3 should be 

modified to read as indicated by the tracked changes in Appendix 2 and as shown in Appendix 

3 with those changes accepted. The recommended policy alterations should not necessitate any 

change to the supporting policy text in the OWNP. 

 

 

POLICY OW4: RESIDENTIAL INFILL AND BACKLAND DEVELOPMENT  

Within the settlement area boundary shown on the Policies Map, planning permission for 

residential development proposals on infill and backland sites will be permitted subject to the 

following criteria:   

80



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

26 

• Density - proposals that would lead to over-development of a site or the appearance of 

cramming will be resisted. It should be demonstrated that development is of a similar density 

to properties in the immediate surrounding area  

• Plot width - plots must be of sufficient width to allow a building(s) to be sited with adequate 

separation between dwellings. The width of the remaining and the new plot should be similar 

to that prevailing in the immediate area.  

• Building line - where the prevailing depth of existing dwellings is a feature of the area new 

development should respect that building line.   

• Visual separation - new dwellings must have similar spacing between buildings to that 

commonly found on the street frontage. Where houses are terraced the new development 

should normally adjoin the adjacent property(s).  

• Building height - new buildings should reflect the height of original, existing buildings. 

Where existing buildings are of a uniform height, new buildings should respect that height. 

• Daylight and sunlight - new buildings should not adversely affect neighbouring properties 

by seriously reducing the amount of daylight available through windows. Blocking direct 

sunlight from reaching neighbouring properties can cause overshadowing and is not 

acceptable.  

• Development must not unacceptably reduce the level of private amenity space provision for 

existing residential properties.  

• Development should not adversely affect the significance of heritage assets, including the 

special interest, character and appearance of the Conservation Area.  

 

This policy also applies to applications for two or more properties on a site previously 

occupied by a single property. 

 

5.20 This housing policy is justified in the BCS by reference to national planning policy in the NPPF by 

guidance in paragraphs 58 and 64.  The policy seeks to ensure that infill development respects 

and reflects the character of the area and the existing street scene, safe and that attractive 

residential layouts and local distinctiveness and identity are promoted.  In relation to Local Plan 

planning policy, the BCS advises that Policy OWNP conforms to the guidance in DG1: Design 

guidelines, H10: Housing layout and design, H11: Housing density and H14: House extensions. 

 

5.21 No consultee comments were received by RBWM in relation to this policy.   

 

5.22 The policy as drafted seeks to retain the local townscape character through the general 

development management expectations within the policy and seeks to protect the amenity of 

neighbours to development proposals within the parish.  The policy specifically seeks to control 

infill and backland development.  This policy is likely to encourage efficiency and economy in 

land use, whilst respecting amenity and thereby encourage sustainable land use and 

81



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

27 

development in what is a highly constrained locality for urban development.  The policy would 

however benefit from some minor modifications which I recommend should be included.   

 

5.23 It would be more correct for example, for the policy to “support” development proposals, rather 

than to say that development would be permitted, as this is the prerogative of RBWM.   

 

5.24 I recommend that the policy be amended as shown in Appendix 2 by tracked changes, which 

would then read as shown in Appendix 3. 

 

5.25 To justify this policy, in relation to the supporting text, it would be desirable to include advice 

to developers that where a significant diminution of daylight and / or sunlight to habitable 

rooms is a likely consequence of development, objective assessment should be encouraged by 

applicants, having regard to recognised technical guidance such as offered in the Building 

Research Establishment (BRE) Digest 209 ‘ Site Layout Planning for Daylight and Sunlight’.3 

 

POLICY OW5: FLOODING AND DRAINAGE 

New development should be designed to take full account of any existing flood risk, 

irrespective of the source of flooding.  Where a site or its immediate surroundings have been 

identified to be at flood risk, all opportunities to reduce the identified risk should be 

investigated at the master planning stage of design and subsequently incorporated at the 

detailed design stage.  

 

It is essential that the drainage scheme proposed to support new development:  

• protects people and property on the development site from flooding; and  

• does not create any additional flood risk outside of the development in any part of the 

catchment, either upstream or downstream.   

 

Planning permission should only be granted for new development subject to a condition that:  

• no development shall commence until full details of the proposed drainage schemes for 

surface and foul water (including details of their routing, design, and subsequent 

management and maintenance) have been submitted to and approved by the planning 

authority; and  

• no building shall be occupied until the drainage schemes have been implemented in 

accordance with the approved details.  

                                                           

3 Site layout planning for daylight and sunlight: a guide to good practice, (BR209), written by P Littlefair, Building 

Research Establishment, 12 September 2011 

82



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

28 

 

This shall apply to all built development for active use with the exception of residential 

extensions which do not propose additional bedrooms and/or bathrooms.  

  

5.26 The OWNP explains that the majority of the Parish residents live in about 2,000 properties close 

to the River Thames situated on low lying land defined by the Environment Agency as being 

within Flood Zones Fluvial Zone 2 (medium probability) and Zone 3 (high probability).  The 

OWNP is graphically illustrated with photographs of the effects of flooding in the 

neighbourhood area in February 2014. 

 

5.27 Policy OW5 seeks to reduce the impact of flooding on new development and mitigate the impact 

of flooding of existing development, as a consequence of new development in the Parish, 

protecting people and property through the appropriate siting, design and layout of buildings. 

The proposed policy is broadly compliant with the advice in the NPPF at paragraphs 99, 100 and 

103 in accommodating risk associated with flood risk and climate change by requiring new 

development to be planned to avoid increased vulnerability to flooding and the range of impacts 

arising from climate change and by managing risk through suitable adaptation measures. 

 

5.28 At the Borough level, strategic Policy F1 explains that development in areas shown on the 

proposals map which are liable to flood will not be permitted, including residential extensions 

of >300m2, unless it can be demonstrated that the proposal would not in itself, nor in 

combination with other development: 

(i)  maintain adequate flood storage capacity within the identified flood area; 

(ii)  ensure the flow of flood water is not impeded; and 

(iii)  ensure that development does not increase the number of people and 

properties at risk from flooding and the associated costs of providing 

emergency services. 

 

5.29 Comments received from Thames Water during the Regulation 16 consultation period 

concerning Policy OW5 and the supporting text, encouraged use of the sequential approach by 

local planning authorities in areas known to be at risk from forms of flooding, notably flooding 

from sewers.  The representations from Thames Water requesting that the supporting text to 

the policy should be revised to make reference to the likely need for additional water and/or 

sewerage infrastructure over the life of the Plan which may be required to be developed in flood 

risk areas, appear reasonable and I support such an inclusion, as suggested in Appendix 3. 

 

5.30 Subject to the recommended alterations to the Policy OW5, I believe that it would assist in 

delivering sustainable development within the Parish in conformity with national and local 

planning guidance, if the OWNP were subsequently to be made. 

83



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

29 

 

POLICY OW6: SUDS DESIGN AND MANAGEMENT 
In line with NPPF paragraph 163, surface water drainage on any development must not add 

to the existing site run off or cause any adverse impact to neighbouring properties or the 

surrounding environment/wildlife habitat.    

Development proposals creating new drainage requirements must demonstrate that 

Sustainable Drainage Systems (SUDS) will be effective and incorporated in any proposed 

developments. This should allow for above surface water management on site taking account 

of the underlying geology and seasonally high ground water table affecting parts of Old 

Windsor.   

Any drainage scheme must manage all sources of surface water, including exceedance flows 

and surface flows from offsite, provide for emergency ingress and egress and ensure adequate 

connectivity.  

Development proposals should be supported by a drainage scheme maintenance plan which 

demonstrates a schedule of activities, access points, outfalls and any biodiversity 

considerations. The maintenance plan should also include an indication of the adopting or 

maintaining authority or organisation and may require inclusion within a register of drainage 

features.  

 

5.31 The BCS notes that this policy conforms with the advice in NPPF paragraphs 100 and 103 in 

seeking to incorporate effective Sustainable Drainage Systems (SUDS) in development proposals 

whilst concerning adopted local plan policy, the BCS notes conformity with policies, F1: 

Development within areas liable to flood NAP4; Pollution of groundwater and surface water; 

and ARCH 1 Development on Scheduled Ancient Monuments.  The supporting text to Policy 

NAP4 advises developers to liaise with the Environment Agency and the Water Companies over 

proposed protection measures associated with planning proposals.   

 

5.32 Commenting on this policy, Thames Water Authority’s Regulation 16 reply advises that 

concerning surface water drainage, it is the responsibility of the developer to make proper 

provision for drainage to ground, watercourses or surface water sewer.  Regarding this policy, it 

is also important to reduce the quantity of surface water entering the sewerage system in order 

to maximise the capacity for foul sewage to reduce the risk of sewer flooding.   Thames Water 

states that limiting the opportunity for surface water entering the foul and combined sewer 

networks is of critical importance to Thames Water and that SuDS limiting the volume of and 

rate at which surface water enters the public sewer system have the potential to play an 

84



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

30 

important role in helping to ensure the sewerage network has the capacity to cater for 

population growth and the effects of climate change.  In addition, Thames Water points to 

improved water quality; opportunities for water efficiency; enhanced landscape and visual 

features; the support for wildlife; and amenity and recreational benefits that may be derived 

from the use of SuDs.  

  

5.33 In making its Regulation 16 comments Thames Water requested that the following paragraph 

should be included in the Neighbourhood Plan: “It is the responsibility of a developer to make 

proper provision for surface water drainage to ground, water courses or surface water sewer. It 

must not be allowed to drain to the foul sewer, as this is the major contributor to sewer flooding.”  

I agree that this would be helpful advice in this area where development has the potential to 

exacerbate flood risk and recommend that this advice be included in the explanatory text after 

paragraph 6.17 of the submission version of the OWNP as shown in Appendix 2 and 3. 

 

POLICY OW7: SEWERAGE DISPOSAL AND WINDSOR SEWAGE TREATMENT 
WORKS  
Development will be permitted if the sewer network can accommodate the additional 

demand for sewerage disposal, both from the development itself and from any accumulated 

developments in the area. This can be accommodated within the sewer network either in its 

existing form or through planned improvements to the system in advance of the construction 

or occupation of the development. Development proposals will not be supported unless it can 

be shown by a drainage study commissioned by the developer and carried out in consultation 

with Thames Water that there is sufficient capacity in the local sewerage system and that any 

new connections will not increase the risk of system back up/flooding.  

 

On individual sites of at least 10 dwellings or 500m2 of floorspace, planning permission will 

only be granted if the necessary wastewater infrastructure is either available or can be 

provided in time to serve the development. The planning authority will consult Thames Water 

on major applications and planning conditions will be imposed, if necessary to ensure that, in 

advance of any construction work:   

• a connection is provided to the existing local sewerage network at the nearest point of 

adequate capacity, or developers will need to provide alternative and proven methods of 

treating and disposing of wastewater that meet Environment Agency requirements and water 

quality objectives;   

85



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

31 

• where a new Sewage Treatment Works is proposed by the developer, the whole route to 

the Sewage Treatment Works has adequate capacity and the risk of flooding is not increased 

in wet weather conditions;   

• a management plan is provided for future maintenance of any on-site wastewater treatment 

systems;   

• discharge into the River Thames meets Environment Agency requirements so that they do 

not endanger the ecology.  

 

The expansion of Windsor Sewage Treatment Works will be supported if the development 

does not cause harm to the significance of the Kingsbury Scheduled Monument or other 

archaeological remains (which might be either directly or by being within their setting) unless 

such harm is conclusively shown to be unavoidable, has been minimised or mitigated, and is 

clearly and convincingly justified by being outweighed by the public benefits of the 

development. 

 

5.34 In defining the adequate requirements regarding sewerage and wastewater disposal in Old 

Windsor, the BCS advises that this policy conforms to the NPPF at paragraphs 100, 103 and in 

respect of protecting the Kingsbury Scheduled Ancient Monument, paragraph 126.  Regarding 

local plan policy, like Policy OW6, this policy conforms to policies, F1: Development within areas 

liable to flood NAP4; Pollution of groundwater and surface water; and ARCH 1 Development on 

Scheduled Ancient Monuments.   

 

5.35 Only Thames Water made comments in relation to this policy during the Regulation 16 

consultation, but these are detailed and helpful in relation to the appropriateness and 

application of this policy to deliver sustainable development.  Thames Water has provided 

support for the inclusion of policy covering wastewater treatment and sewerage in the Plan, 

including support for upgrades to Windsor Sewage Treatment Works in Policy OW7.  However, 

Thames Water notes in its submission that the supporting text includes some inaccuracies.  

Concerning the NPPF (2018) at paragraph 20, Thames Water notes that this states: “Strategic 

policies should set out an overall strategy for the pattern, scale and quality of development, and  

make sufficient provision for… infrastructure for waste management, water supply, 

wastewater…” and at paragraph 28, “Non-strategic policies should be used by local planning 

authorities and communities to set out more detailed policies for specific areas, 

neighbourhoods or types of development. This can include allocating sites, the provision of 

infrastructure…” and paragraph 26 of the revised NPPF advises “Effective and on-going joint 

working between strategic policy-making authorities and relevant bodies is integral to the 

production of a positively prepared and justified strategy. In particular, joint working should 

help to determine where additional infrastructure is necessary….”    Thames Water’s comments 

86



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

32 

helpfully note that the Neighbourhood Plan should therefore seek to ensure that there is 

adequate wastewater and water supply infrastructure to serve all new developments.  This is 

consistent with the “Implementation” chapter in the adopted Local Plan, considering 

infrastructure capacity.  Thames Water’s representations advise that where there are 

infrastructure constraints, it is important not to under estimate the time required to deliver 

necessary infrastructure, stating that local network upgrades take around 18 months and 

Sewage Treatment & Water Treatment Works upgrades can take 3-5 years.   

 

5.36 The comments also explain the water company’s charging regime which came into effect in April 

2018, advising that more of Thames Water’s charges will be fixed and published, rather than 

provided on application.  As a consequence, Thames Water does not require drainage studies 

from developers as set out in the submission version of Policy OW7.  Therefore, the policy 

requires amendment.   I agree with the proposal to correct the draft policy and Thames Water’s 

suggestion that that developers should be encouraged to engage with Thames Water at the 

earliest opportunity, as indicated in paragraph 26 of the revised NPPF to evaluate:  

• The development’s demand for Sewage/Wastewater Treatment and network 

infrastructure both on and off site and can it be met;  

• The surface water drainage requirements and flood risk of the development both on 

and off site; and 

• The development’s demand for water supply and network infrastructure, both on and 

off site.  

 

5.37 Thames Water’s Regulation 16 comments also included a suggestion that the Neighbourhood 

Plan should include a specific policy reference to the provision of water supply and 

sewerage/wastewater infrastructure, to service development proposed because it will not be 

possible to identify all water/sewerage infrastructure required over the Plan period due to the 

way water companies are regulated and plan in 5 year periods.  As the planning decisions will 

be taken by RBWM, rather than the Parish Council, I have modified the proposed text, but I 

agree that further clarification would be desirable.  I have provided recommended supporting 

text in Appendix 2 and 3.  I also note Thames Water’s comment in its Regulation 16 reply that 

the Windsor Sewage Treatment Works has capacity for identified development to the period up 

to 2025. 

 

5.38 In preparing the OWMP, I understand that this has been informed by the report prepared by 

the Stilwell Partnership, October 2015 as part of the evidence base for the Neighbourhood Plan4.  

                                                           

4 NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN:  DRAINAGE ISSUES WITHIN THE PARISH, The Parish of Old Windsor, West Berkshire 

prepared by the Stilwell Partnership, October 2015. 

87



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

33 

It would appear from the comments of Thames Water that the cause of the flooding 

experienced in the Parish in 2014 may have been as a result of inundation by groundwater 

ingress into the sewer network, rather than fluvial flooding.   

 

5.39 Concerning water efficiency/climate change, Thames Water explains that The Environment 

Agency has designated the Thames Water region to be “seriously water stressed” noting that 

future pressures on water resources will continue to increase due to population growth and 

climate change.  Thames Water points to the mains water consumption target of 110 litres per 

head per day as set out in the NPPG (Paragraph: 015 Reference ID: 56-015-20150327) and 

considers that this should be included in the policy.  However, the water efficiency standard of 

105 litres per person per day is only applied through the building regulations where there is a 

planning condition requiring this standard.  As the Plan area is defined as water stressed, 

Thames Water considers that such a condition should be attached as standard to all planning 

approvals for new residential development in order to help ensure that the standard is 

effectively delivered through the building regulations and added to Policy OW7.  I disagree with 

this suggestion, in accordance with the Ministerial Statement5 which advised: 

 

“The optional new national technical standards should only be required through any new Local 

Plan policies if they address a clearly evidenced need, and where their impact on viability has 

been considered, in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and Planning 

Guidance. Neighbourhood plans should not be used to apply the new national technical 

standards.” 

 

5.40 It should also be recognised that in June 2009, RBWM adopted its Sustainable Design and 

Construction Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)6.  Requirement 4 of the SPD on water 

resource management expects all developments to include water efficiency measures to reduce 

overall water consumption.  Requirement 4 demands that for residential development, “All 

developments involving the replacement or creation of a dwelling will be expected to achieve a 

per capita consumption of potable water of 120 litres or less per person per day.”  It would be 

helpful to cross reference the supporting text to this policy in the OWNP to RBWM’s adopted 

Sustainable Design and Construction SPD.    

                                                           

5 Planning Update:Written statement - HCWS488, Made by: Mr Eric Pickles (Secretary of State for Communities 

and Local Government) Department for Communities and Local Government Made on: 25 March 2015 

https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-

statement/Commons/2015-03-25/HCWS488/ 

6 Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Local Development Framework Sustainable Design and 

Construction SPD, June 2009 

88

https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2015-03-25/HCWS488/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/publications/written-questions-answers-statements/written-statement/Commons/2015-03-25/HCWS488/


Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

34 

 

5.41 Turning to the policy requirement in respect of residential development of 10 dwellings or more 

or development of more than 500m2, this criteria-based element of the policy seeks to impose 

planning conditions in relation to various engineering, ecological and management matters on 

larger developments.  It is not clear why these particular thresholds have been set, having regard 

to the evidence base material or consultation replies.  In the light of these considerations, I 

recommend the modification of this policy reflecting the guidance in paragraph 26 of the NPPF 

(2018). 

 

5.42 As to the last element of the policy relating to proposals for the expansion of Windsor Sewage 

Treatment Works upon the extent of the Kingsbury Scheduled Monument, the policy would 

benefit from being applied proportionately.  To encourage this, I would recommend that the 

draft policy to be modified in order that an appropriate balance may be struck between the 

objectives of satisfying the public interest in relation to heritage conservation and the 

reasonable development needs to support the local community through the provision of 

appropriate physical infrastructure.  Again, the recommended modifications are shown by way 

of tracked changes and a clean version in Appendix 2 and 3 respectively. 

 

5.43 Finally, in regard to the Non-Policy Actions, as these are not planning policies, they are of no 

relevance in relation to the examination of this neighbourhood plan in meeting the Basic 

Conditions test, therefore I have not considered them as part of this examination.   

 

POLICY OW8: TOWNSCAPE 
 
Development proposals should reflect the character of the surrounding area and protect the 

amenity of neighbours. Development proposals must demonstrate how they are in keeping 

with and contribute positively to the respective townscape classification area, as defined by 

the RBWM Townscape Assessment, or any successor document. Opportunities for 

enhancement of the townscape through high quality design which reinforces the local 

distinctiveness of Old Windsor is encouraged.  

 

In particular, development proposals shall:   

1. where possible, seek to retain listed buildings and Buildings or Structures of Character 

(listed in Appendix C) that contribute to the distinctive character and historic and 

architectural interest of Old Windsor village; and  

2. ensure they do not detrimentally impact on the setting of buildings in the Old Windsor 

Conservation Area; and  

89



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

35 

3. have a similar form of development to properties in the immediate surrounding area; (this 

is particularly the case for applications for two or more dwellings on a site currently or 

previously occupied by a single property); and  

4. provide appropriate parking and access arrangements, both for the new development and 

existing properties where they would be affected; and 5. reflect the boundary treatments 

prevailing in the surrounding area.  

 

5.44 The BCS considers the extent to which Policy OW8 conforms to NPPF, the relevant paragraph 

being 126, which relates principally to conserving and enhancing the historic environment.  

Arguably the design policies are equally applicable in assessing townscape and the identity and 

sense of place that defines an area, indeed at the Borough planning policy level, the BCS notes 

that Policy OW8 conforms to Policy DG1: Design guidelines.  

 

5.45 During the Regulation 16 consultation period there were no consultation replies commenting 

on this draft townscape policy.  

 

5.46 The policy proposals should assist in maintaining and reinforcing the which local distinctiveness 

and character of the neighbourhood area and encourage sustainable development.  I consider 

the policy needs no modification.  It is replicated in its current form in Appendix 3. 

 

POLICY OW9: HERITAGE ASSETS 
 

Development proposals within the designated areas shown on the Policies Map must 

demonstrate that they have fully considered the significance of the heritage assets within the 

designated area and have included appropriate measures to conserve those assets, based on 

their significance.   

 

Proposals within the setting of heritage assets as shown on the Policies Map must 

demonstrate that they will not affect the setting of the heritage assets, based on their 

significance.  

 

Planning permission will not be granted for development that would result in the loss of either 

listed buildings, or the following Buildings or Structures of Character:   

• Penny Royal Almshouses   

• Fox and Punchbowl building  

• Newtonside  

• Manor Lodge Cottage (Glassworks)  

• The Tapestries  

• The Bells of Ouseley  

90



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

36 

• The Jolly Gardeners  

• The Oxford Blue   

 

5.47 The BCS explains that this policy seeks to protect the significance of the heritage assets and is 

supported by advice at paragraphs 126 and 128 of the NPPF of the national guidance and Policy 

LB2; Proposals affecting Listed Buildings or their settings, in local adopted guidance.    

 

5.48 The evidence base for the analysis of the historic environment in Old Windsor, is the survey 

conducted by Oxford Archaeology, “Old Windsor Parish Survey”, published in July 2015.  This is 

a comprehensive and systematic assessment of the built heritage in the Parish identifying the 

rich historical legacy in the built environment in the designated neighbourhood area, and only 

three areas where development might occur without causing harm to the heritage buildings or 

their settings.  

 

5.49 Draft policy OW9 however, appears to cut across adopted policy LB2.  This criteria-based policy 

offers some flexibility in relation to considering the development management of listed 

buildings in the Parish, albeit in very special circumstances, not afforded in Policy OW9.  This is 

too restrictive.  Furthermore, the Parish cannot direct the refusal of planning permission which 

is the prerogative and responsibility of RBWM as local planning authority, although through the 

process of neighbourhood planning, once the Plan is made, the Parish can make strong 

representations to the local planning authority which will carry weight and assist in determining 

the outcome of local planning authority’s decision.  

 

5.50 The policy makes no specific comments relating to proposals relating to potential uses of 

heritage buildings and the draft policy advice appears to be directed towards physical 

development.  I consider that the encouragement of appropriate alternative uses for buildings 

which contribute to the historic environment, is already provided generally through adopted 

planning policy by RBWM. 

    

5.51 In considering Regulation 16 representations, I note that no comments were received relating 

specifically to this policy.  

 

5.52 In order for Policy OW9 to be included in the OWNP if this is to be taken forward to referendum, 

having regard to the comments above, I recommend that a small amendment be made to it in 

order that it should conform to local adopted policy and to assist in delivering sustainable 

development, consistent with supporting and maintaining the local distinctiveness of Old 

Windsor.  This is shown by way of a tracked change in Appendix 2 and by a clean copy in 

Appendix 3.  No alteration to the supporting policy text is necessary. 

 

91



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

37 

POLICY OW10: ARCHAEOLOGICAL ASSETS 
 

Due to the potential impact on archaeological assets and the need to preserve and enhance 

the historic environment, development proposals within the designated areas shown on the 

Policies Map should undertake the following action:  

• proposals for development on greenfield land must be accompanied by an archaeological 

evaluation that assesses the risk of discovering unknown archaeological remains; or  

• proposals for replacement dwellings and other small-scale development are encouraged to 

seek and act on advice from RBWM’s archaeological advisor on the need for an archaeological 

investigation and carry out any recommended action.  

  

On land outside the designated areas shown on the Policies Map, development proposals 

where there have been no previous disturbances of the ground are encouraged to undertake 

a programme of archaeological work. To be considered appropriate, such a programme 

should be agreed in advance with the local planning authority.   

 

Where archaeological evaluation demonstrates that significant archaeology is present it may 

need to be preserved in situ.  

  

5.53 Consistent with the advice contained within paragraph 128 of the NPPF, which expects planning 

authorities to require applicants to describe the significance of any heritage assets affected by 

planning applications in relation to those heritage assets, including any contribution made by 

their setting. This advice explains that the level of detail provided should be proportionate to 

the assets’ importance and no more than is sufficient to understand the potential impact of the 

proposal on their significance.  In considering this requirement, the advice continues that as a 

minimum, the relevant historic environment record should have been consulted and the 

heritage assets assessed using appropriate expertise where necessary.  The advice expects that 

where a site on which development is proposed includes or has the potential to include heritage 

assets with archaeological interest, local planning authorities should require developers to 

submit an appropriate desk-based assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation.  The 

proposed policy is in broad alignment with this national guidance.   

 

5.54 As to adopted local planning policy, the BCS notes that Policy OWNP 10, is broadly consistent 

with Policies ARCH 1, which includes a presumption in favour of the preservation of scheduled 

and nationally important monuments and their settings; ARCH 3, which seeks to conserve 

archaeological sites and monuments of unknown importance and areas of high potential, unless 

adequate evaluation enabling the full implications of the development on matters of 

archaeological interest is carried out by the developer prior to the determination of the 

application; and ARCH 4, which relates to sites where evaluation demonstrates the presence of 

archaeological remains but which do not merit permanent in situ preservation.  In such 

92



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

38 

circumstances, this policy advises that, planning permission will not be granted for any 

development unless provision is made for an appropriate level of archaeological investigation 

excavation, recording and off-site preservation / publication / display of such remains, prior to 

damage or destruction, or to the commencement of development.   

 

5.55 Commenting on the OWNP during the Regulation 16 consultation, Fiona Macdonald MA (Oxon) 

MCIfA, Principal Archaeologist of Berkshire Archaeology submitted a brief reply, on 18th January 

2018 commending the focus on Old Windsor’s important heritage noting the particular help 

provided by the heritage survey commissioned by the Parish Council, with its consideration of 

the broader historic environment and the potential for safeguarding previously unrecorded 

significant archaeology which may be present in this area.  Berkshire Archaeology commented 

that the Policy OW10 might benefit from some minor edits, that would retain the aim of 

conservation of the historic environment, whilst clarifying parts of the archaeological process.  

These suggested enhancements were forwarded to me during the course of the examination 

and appear in Appendix 4 of this report as tracked changes, ensuring that the distinction 

between archaeological assessment, evaluation and mitigation was clear and the policy 

remained in line with NPPF guidance and that measures to conserve archaeological significance 

are justifiable and proportionate. 

 

5.56 Representations were also made by Historic England in relation to Policy OW10. Again, the 

comments made were complimentary and supportive, indicating that the OWNP was well-

prepared with thoughtful elements of planning for the historic environment, taking advantage 

of several areas of opportunity for the community to identify and, through policy, secure 

positive management of those features that are valued for their historic, architectural, artistic 

or archaeological interest. Historic England raised no objections to any of the plan policies 

proposed, advising that comments were restricted to areas where policy might be amended to 

provide clarity of meaning, better secure the objectives of the plan makers or provide 

conformity with the policies and process set out in the NPPF.  Historic England’s comments were 

prefaced by a brief reminder that the neighbourhood area includes heritage assets that are of 

the highest national importance and some, including the Great Park and (arguably) Anglo-Saxon 

palace site, that are of international importance.  Whilst Historic England recognised that in 

evaluating the proposals, a balancing exercise should be undertaken with regard to the public 

benefits that development might provide and the need to sustain and enhance heritage assets, 

the NPPF states 7  that in some cases it might be appropriate to rule out some forms of 

development.  Given the of the archaeological assets in Old Windsor, within the ‘designated 

                                                           

7 NPPF, 2012, paragraph 14, footnote 9 and NPPF, 2018, paragraph 11, footnote 6. 

93



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

39 

areas,’ Historic England advised that a robust statement preventing harmful development is 

justified.  

 

5.57 Historic England further commented that the submission version of Policy OW10 was 

insufficiently definitive, leaving too much to the discretion of applicants.  Instead it should set 

clear requirements.  To assist, amended policy text prepared by Historic England to strengthen 

the policy, having regard to the established archaeological value and potential within the Parish 

was submitted with its Regulation 16 comments.  Both Berkshire Archaeology and 5.57

 Historic England expressed the need for early assessment and engagement prior to preparation 

of development proposals in order that significance may be evaluated and appropriate 

measures advanced to record, protect and preserve assets of archaeological interest prior to 

the preparation and submission of a planning application for development, if this is appropriate.   

 

5.58 In considering both proposed policy modifications I have a preference for those offered by 

Historic England as I consider their suggested amendments sits more comfortably with advice 

regarding neighbourhood planning and the historic environment in the Planning Practice 

Guidance8 concerning, where relevant neighbourhood plans include enough information about 

local heritage to guide decisions and put broader strategic heritage policies from the Local Plan 

into action at a neighbourhood scale.  Accordingly, I recommend that this policy be amended as 

shown by way of tracked changes in Appendix 2 and as amended in Appendix 3.  The supporting 

text would benefit from minor amendment to reflect the strengthened policy seeking to 

conserve archaeological remains in the neighbourhood area and the importance of submitting 

appropriate details to the Historic Environmental Record, particularly where remains will not be 

retained in situ. 

 

POLICY OW11: PARKING STANDARDS FOR NEW RESIDENTIAL 
DEVELOPMENT  

Development proposals that generate an increased need for parking must provide adequate 

and suitable off-street parking in order to minimise obstruction of the local road network in 

the interests of the safety of all road users, including pedestrians and cyclists.  

 

For all new residential developments, the provision of off-road parking must be adequate with 

the following minimum standards:  

                                                           

8 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/conserving-and-enhancing-the-historic-environment#plan-making-historic-

environment, Planning Practice Guidance - Paragraph: 007 Reference ID: 18a-007-20140306                           

Revision date: 06 03 2014 

94

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/conserving-and-enhancing-the-historic-environment#plan-making-historic-environment
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/conserving-and-enhancing-the-historic-environment#plan-making-historic-environment


Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

40 

- 1-bed house/flat  1 off-road car parking space 

- 2-bed house/flat  2 off-road car parking spaces 

- 3-bed house/flat  2 off-road car parking spaces 

- 4-bed house/flat  3 off-road car parking spaces 

- 5+ bed house/flat  4 off-road car parking spaces 

Alternative levels of provision will only be permitted where it can be satisfactorily 

demonstrated that this would be appropriate on a specific site. Parking spaces can take the 

form of spaces or garaging/car port facilities, but must be permanently available for parking 

use.  

 

Any development of 10 or more dwellings should provide additional visitor parking. 

 

5.59 The BCS states that this policy is in accord with the NPPF guidance at 39.  Policy OW11 is also 

said to be in accordance with adopted local plan policy DG1: Design guidelines and Policy P4: 

Parking within Development, although this was superseded by the adopted Parking Strategy, 

2004.  This recognised (at paragraph 9.1) that the Borough is constrained by the amount of land 

available for new developments, necessitating efficient land use, pointing to RBWM’s Local Plan 

which set parking standards for new developments (Appendix 7 of the Adopted Local Plan). The 

Parking Strategy set maximum parking provision associated with new residential development, 

in order to achieve the triple objective of: 

 applying parking standards on all new and expanded developments; 

 to reducing the amount of land dedicated to parking; and  

 to reducing the need to travel by cars. 

 

5.60 Ministerial guidance issued in 20159 also referred to the application of parking standards in plan 

making and noted that where the NPPF advice was being cited to justify the application of 

parking standards, this should be subject to the statement below; 

 “Local Planning authorities should only impose local parking standards for residential and 

non-residential development where there is clear and compelling justification that it is 

necessary to manage their local road network.” 

5.61 There were no Regulation 16 comments in relation to this draft policy. 

 

5.62 In examining the Plan with regard to draft Policy OW11, it is not clear to me how this policy 

which is based on minimum parking standards for new development and which, particularly for 

larger dwellings and which is generous, could be considered as being compatible with the 

                                                           

9 Op cit 

95



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

41 

objective of delivering sustainable development.  It therefore appears to conflict with RBWM’s 

Parking Strategy, setting maximum parking provision associated with new development 

Furthermore, and somewhat unusually there appears to have been little if any consideration of 

other policy measures such as outlined in NPPF (2012) at paragraph 35, to exploit opportunities 

for the use of sustainable transport modes.  No survey work or objective evidence has been 

offered to provide the clear and compelling justification for the imposition of minimum parking 

standards proposed in Policy OW11 for the effective management of the local highway network.  

 

5.63 The justification for the policy is to reduce traffic congestion caused by on street parking.  This 

is evidently a pre-existing problem, not caused by proposed residential development, but which 

may be exacerbated by it. No other consideration of measures that might encourage more 

sustainable approaches to travel appear to have been assessed in the preparation of the OWNP, 

particularly for identified traffic congestion caused through on street parking.    

 

5.64 For these reasons I recommend that Policy OW11 should be deleted from the OWNP in the 

event that the Parish Council wishes to take the Plan forward to a referendum.  The supporting 

text relating to residential parking standards would obviously also require deletion.  

 

POLICY OW12: COMMERCIAL PARKING AND TRAVEL PLANNING 

Proposals for new commercial development (A- or B-use class) must demonstrate that the  

additional vehicle parking created by its workforce will not have a detrimental impact on the 

highway network, neighbouring residential properties or existing businesses.  

 

New commercial developments should seek to provide off-street parking for their workforce 

which meets the requirements of the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Parking 

Strategy or any successor document.   

 

Subject to demonstrating that they will not have a detrimental impact on the highway 

network, neighbouring residential properties or existing businesses, proposals for new 

commercial activity that include for the provision of a Travel Plan will be supported. 

 

 

5.65 The BCS identifies this policy as conforming to paragraph 39 of the NPPF.  This paragraph deals 

with parking standards and I agree is partially relevant in seeking to ensure that new commercial 

development (A and B use classes) provides adequate off-street parking for employees.  The 

policy also conforms with paragraph 36 in advocating the use of travel plans to assist in 

promoting sustainable development.  Regarding adopted local plan policy, Policy P4 and the 

96



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

42 

 Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead (2004) Parking Strategy10 are also relevant in relation 

to this policy.  I note that concerning business use development, the Parking Strategy advises at 

paragraph 9.8.1 that, “ the occupier of the commercial site will be responsible for restraining 

staff parking in adjacent areas through implementation of a travel plan. The provision of on-

street parking controls may be considered where resident parking is severely affected by 

commercial developments.”  

 

5.66 There were no Regulation 16 comments in relation to this draft policy. 

 

5.67 The policy would benefit from minor simplification to avoid repetition.  I therefore recommend 

the minor modifications shown in Appendix 2 and Appendix 3.  The policy would also benefit 

from expressly reflecting the intentions to deliver sustainable development through planning 

policy at the neighbourhood plan level, but I am satisfied that this should be deliverable through 

the application and monitoring of Travel Plans where appropriate, which this policy encourages.  

In that regard, it would be desirable to alter the explanatory text at paragraph 8.5 of the 

submission version of the Plan as again recommended in Appendix 2 and Appendix 3.  

 

POLICY OW13: HIGHWAY CAPACITY   

Development proposals which actively seek to address the cumulative transport impacts on 

road junctions in Old Windsor will be strongly encouraged.  

 

Transport Assessments (for larger sites) or Transport Statements (for smaller sites) - as 

required by Paragraph 32 of the National Planning Policy Framework - should address to the 

satisfaction of the highway authority the cumulative transport impact on road junctions, in 

particular including the following:   

1. Straight Road junction (with St Lukes Road/St Peter’s Road)  

2. Crimp Hill junction (with St Lukes Road/Burfield Road) 

3. Old Windsor roundabout (junction of Albert Road/Straight Road/Datchet Road/Albany 

Road) 

 

Where mitigation measures are required, this will be expected to be provided either directly 

or through a financial contribution in the form of a planning obligation. 

 

 

                                                           

10 Parking Strategy, Planning Policy Unit, Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead, May 2004 

4 

97



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

43 

5.68 The NPPG explains that it is legitimate for neighbourhood plans to promote infrastructure 

improvements needed to support development and to ensure that a neighbourhood can grow 

in a sustainable way.  This policy will assist in assessing the cumulative impact of development 

proposals on three road junctions in the Parish, identified in the OWNP.  The evidence of need 

appears to be largely anecdotal, although a study by Peter Brett Associates in 2015 referred to 

in the Consultation Statement refers to a 50% increase in traffic volumes along Straight Road 

within 5 years, although the capacities of junctions on the local network are not disclosed.  There 

is no evidence referred to in support of the improvements sought as far as I can ascertain in for 

example, The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead’s Infrastructure Delivery Plan, 2013 – 

2030, prepared by AECOM in June 2015, in which a systematic review of infrastructure needs in 

the Council’s administrative area was assessed and where transport infrastructure projects 

were assessed in section 5 of that report.  This study was published in advance of the 

preparation of the OWNP.  It is clear however that traffic issues together with flood risk are 

major issues of concern from the perspective of local residents and this is evident from the more 

general evidence provided for the Parish Council by Navigus Planning, forming part of the 

evidence for the submission version of the OWNP.   

 

5.69 The BCS explains that Local Plan support for Policy OW13 is provided by Policy T5, which states 

that all development proposals will be expected to comply with the Council’s adopted highway 

design standards.  At first blush, it is not clear how this might translate to requiring development 

proposals to mitigate cumulative harm that might be related more widely on the network to 

specific proposals, but the supporting text to the policy, at paragraph 6.2.12 explains that,…”the 

Borough Council will seek to ensure that new development does not place an undue burden, or 

create problems of congestion on the highway network. In many parts of the Borough existing 

roads have reached their environmental capacity and the Borough Council is concerned that new 

development does not adversely affect the living conditions of residents. It is important that 

where new development occurs, there should be appropriate provision either through 

improvements to existing infrastructure or new works to accommodate increased traffic 

generation, and that such measures be funded by the developer……”.  

 

5.70 This policy attracted adverse comment from Mr Gripton relating to the entire Parking and 

Transport section within the OWNP on the grounds that reference to cycling is omitted as a 

means of transport, which offers a low cost, sustainable alternative to movement using private 

cars and might assist in overcoming local highway and junction capacity congestion.  Cycling is  

amongst other transport options supported through the NPPF as a sustainable means of travel.  

I have considerable sympathy with Mr Gripton’s assessment, although I do not consider that 

this alone would amount to sufficient reason to consider that the Plan should fail the Basic 

Conditions test on the grounds of insufficiently supporting sustainable development, but is 

98



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

44 

nonetheless a shortcoming of the general approach to transport related planning policy in this 

neighbourhood plan. 

 

5.71 In assessing Policy OW13, this refers to proposals requiring Transport Assessments (for larger 

sites), or Transport Statements (for smaller sites).  As explained in the Glossary within the NPPF, 

transport assessment is defined as a comprehensive and systematic process that sets out 

transport issues relating to a proposed development, whilst by contrast, a transport statement 

is defined as a simplified version of a transport assessment where the transport issues arising 

out of development proposals are limited and a full transport assessment is not required.  Thus, 

it is the complexity of the transport issues that will determine whether a transport assessment 

or transport statement is appropriate, rather than the size of the proposed development, 

although I accept that in many cases the size of development may generate more complex 

transport – planning issues.   

 

5.72 Policy OW13 is not limited to assessing transport issues on three identified junctions, but having 

regard to RBWM’s Infrastructure Delivery Plan, junctions along Straight Road are probably likely 

candidates for assessment.  The policy anticipates that other junctions than the three specified 

in the policy, may also be relevant.  Due to the lack of identified evidence to support the policy, 

or evidence as to junction capacities, I recommend that the policy is amended to become more 

generic in nature.  Encouragement to applicants to seek formal pre-application advice from 

RBWM prior to completing and submitting development proposals, including, whether 

proposals in the neighbourhood area should include assessments of expected individual and / 

or cumulative transport impacts on relevant road junctions, where appropriate, would be 

constitute helpful guidance, if included in the supporting text to this policy.   

 

5.73 Accordingly, I propose that the policy be amended as shown in Appendix 2 by way of tracked 

changes and the amended version in Appendix 3. 

 

5.74 If accepted, the recommended changes to this policy which provides a more general approach 

to conducting transport assessments and preparing transport statements, I do not consider that 

it is necessary to alter the supporting text, or alter the maps relating to this policy.  This is 

because I accept that the identified junctions may well be those worthy of testing, having regard 

to the likely location of new developments within this constrained area over the life of the Plan, 

and that the policy recognises that other junctions may require testing, depending on the 

location of proposed development and likely related traffic impact.   

 

  

99



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

45 

POLICY OW14: PEDESTRIAN ROUTES 

New development should provide good access to pedestrian routes, preferably from more 

than one access point if possible. Site layouts must be designed to provide safe routes to 

schools and other local amenities, giving consideration to footpaths and other off-site 

schemes, where appropriate.   

 

5.75 I agree that this policy conforms generally to the guidance in the NPPF at paragraphs 35 and 69 

respectively concerning the design and delivery of sustainable and safe pedestrian movement 

and providing safe and accessible developments, encouraging the active use of public areas.  

The policy also conforms to Local Plan guidance in Policy T8. 

 

5.76 No comments relating to this policy were made during the Regulation 16 consultation. 

 

5.77 To improve clarity, I recommend minor modifications to the policy as shown in Appendix 2 by 

way of tracked changes and as modified in Appendix 3.  

 

 

POLICY OW15: PROTECTION OF NATURAL HABITATS, LANDSCAPE AND 
ECOLOGY  
In accordance with the NPPF development which is likely to threaten any site which has been 

designated under the Habitats Regulations or Wildlife and Countryside Act or species 

protected by European or National legislation will not be permitted.  

Development proposals that would result in the loss of or unacceptable harm to a habitat or 

species of principal importance within the meaning of the NERC Act will not be permitted 

within the Parish unless the principals of avoidance, mitigation or compensation within the 

plan area are applied.  If it is not possible to put in place the necessary compensatory 

measures to protect these habitats and species, then development will not be permitted.  

Development retains well-established features of the landscape, including mature trees, 

species rich hedgerows and ponds will be supported. This is particularly important in the areas 

of historic landscape integrity.  

If there is significant loss of trees and shrubs as part of development, then new provision will 

be expected elsewhere on the site. The loss of mature trees should be offset through the 

planting of native tree species with local provenance.  

 

5.78 Policy OW15 which seeks to protect natural habitats and biodiversity as well as landscape and 

ecosystems within the designated neighbourhood area is in general conformity with the advice 

contained in the NPPF at paragraph 109 as identified in the BCS and also the advice contained 

100



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

46 

in paragraph 118.  As to adopted Local Plan policies, this policy is generally in accord with 

policies, N1: Areas of Special Landscape Importance; N4: Common Land, Village Greens and 

Ponds; and N7: Trees and development. 

 

5.79 The OWNP explains how during the early phase of the preparation of the Plan, the community 

expressed concerned about the perceived loss of wildlife habitats and habitats put at risk from 

inappropriate development.  The Plan further notes that residents expressed a wish to enhance 

and preserve wildlife seen in the village.  Accordingly, following a review of the material held in 

the Parish, an ecological assessment was commissioned by OWPC to assess the ecological 

information held within the neighbourhood area and interpret the findings11. This Phase I 

Habitat Survey and ecological study was undertaken by Acorn Ecology Ltd in 2015. The 

assessment included a desk-based study and extended Phase 1 habitat surveys of nine sites to 

appraise the baseline ecological conditions, as well as the potential for protected species and 

species of conservation concern.  The objective was to use the findings of the desk study and 

extended Phase 1 habitat survey to map areas of nature conservation importance within the 

parish (excluding Windsor Forest and Great Park Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and other 

land owned by the Crown Estate) so that the local ecological network of the parish could be 

identified and areas which require further ecological survey and/or ecological enhancement 

could be highlighted. 

 

5.80 Gladman submitted comments regarding this policy, helpfully pointing out that it is not within 

the remit of a neighbourhood plan to determine planning applications. I agree that it would be 

appropriate to amend the policy to “support” rather than permit development.   

 

5.81 Natural England expressed comments on this policy seeking to conserve and provide a net gain 

in biodiversity through planning policy in accordance with the requirement of section 40 of the 

Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 and paragraph 109 of the National 

Planning Policy Framework (2012).  I agree and have provided for this in the recommended 

modifications to this policy.  

 

5.82 To reflect the objective of the policy which is to protect natural habitats and biodiversity as well 

as landscape and ecosystems within the designated neighbourhood area, I have recast the 

policy setting out a series of criteria that need to be met. These recommended modifications 

appear as tracked changes in Appendix 2 and full changes in Appendix 3. 

 

                                                           

11 Acorn Ecology Ltd (2015) Biodiversity Resource Report, for Old Windsor Parish Council 

101



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

47 

POLICY OW16: LOCAL GREEN SPACES 

The following areas shown on the Policies Map are designated as a Local Green Spaces: 

A. Recreation Ground 

B. Allotments 

C. Newton Green 

D. Manor Riverside 

E. Ouseley Riverside 

F. Garden and green space behind Day Centre and Memorial Hall 

G. Green in front of the Fox & Castle and the Punchbowl 

H. Woodland at end of Burfield Road/Straight Road 

Proposals for development on these Local Green Spaces will only be permitted in very special  

circumstances in accordance with national policy on Green Belts. 

 

5.83 This policy conforms generally to the guidance in the NPPF at paragraphs 76 and 77 as 

recognised in the BCS provides and in addition paragraph 78.  The adopted Local Plan provides 

for protection of urban opens spaces and draft policy OW16 conforms generally with adopted 

policy providing protection from development to land in open space use.  Paragraph 77 of the 

NPPF advises that Local Green Space (LGS) designation will not be appropriate for most green 

areas or open space.  

 

5.84 There was comment relating to this policy during the Regulation 16 consultation from developer 

Gladman, cautioning against the designation of Local Green Space unless the proposal met the 

tests provided in the NPPF.  These are stringent. The three tests to be satisfied for land to qualify 

for such designation are as follows: 

 

●  the green space is in reasonably close proximity to the community it serves; 

●  the green area is demonstrably special to a local community and holds a particular 

local significance, for example because of its beauty, historic significance, recreational 

value (including as a playing field), tranquillity or richness of its wildlife; and 

● the green area concerned is local in character and is not an extensive tract of land. 

 

5.85 In considering these tests, I am satisfied that the first and third criteria are met for the eight 

proposed areas for LGS designation.  However, the second test which requires that LGS 

designation should only be used where the green area is demonstrably special to a local 

community and holds a particular local significance, is not sufficiently met for any of the 

proposed LGS areas in the OWNP and supporting evidence.   

 

102



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

48 

5.86 In reaching this assessment, a key message noted in the Consultation Statement following the 

Regulation 14 consultation concerning environmental matters sought by the local community 

was that, “Trees and hedgerows should be protected and green spaces kept.”  A distinction, 

albeit narrow, may be drawn from this text between protecting and keeping green spaces.  

There is no evidence to suggest that there was any demonstrable support in the Regulation 14 

consultation for the designation of LGS within the emerging OWNP.  Turning to the submission 

draft OWNP, no detailed evaluation or assessment is offered which might amount to convincing 

evidence that any of these eight areas of open space are “demonstrably special” and that they 

“hold a particular local significance”.  Were this to be the case, it would be a reasonable 

expectation for the Borough Council to have received at least some community support for 

some of these proposed LGS areas during the Regulation 16 consultation, but there was none. 

 

5.87 Accordingly, I recommend that the OWNP is amended by deleting Policy OW16 and the 

supporting text, together with other references to LGS, for example in Policy OW17.  For 

completeness, this recommendation is noted in Appendix 2 and 3 to this examination report. 

 

 

POLICY OW17: PROVISION OF COMMUNITY FACILITIES ADJACENT TO OLD 
WINDSOR RECREATION GROUND 

The provision of improved community facilities on the site of the existing Old Windsor 

community building will be strongly supported, including:  

• rebuilding of the community building, including an activity hall; 

• kitchen facilities; 

• changing rooms; 

• Youth club  

 

Improvements and new provision should seek to provide for the range of needs of all sectors 

of the community.  

 

Development must not have a detrimental impact on the adjacent Local Green Space at Old  

Windsor Recreation Ground. 

 

5.88 This policy which seeks to support demolition and redevelopment of the site upon which the 

Old Windsor community building is located, conforms to guidance within the NPPF at 

paragraphs 70 and 73, as noted by the BCS.  The policy also conforms to Local Plan Policy CF2: 

Provision of new facilities, again as indicated in the BCS.  I am satisfied that this proposed policy 

is a land use planning policy, although might be taken forward as a “project”.  Somewhat 

surprisingly, the Regulation 16 consultation generated no local community support, despite an 

103



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

49 

expectation in the supporting text that delivery of the proposal might be funded by developer 

and possibly CIL contributions. 

 

5.89 I have little doubt that demolition and redevelopment of the building on the site to provide 

improved community facilities has the potential to deliver sustainable development.   However, 

I recommend minor modifications to the policy.  Without wishing to stray beyond my 

examination remit, but picking up on my earlier concerns relating to positive planning policies 

to encourage more sustainable means of travel the proposals for the redevelopment of this 

facility appear to offer potential to encourage cycling to and from the proposed community 

building as a means of both enhancing the sustainability credentials of the OWNP and improving 

opportunities for healthy living, in accordance with the NPPF advice in for example, paragraphs 

7, 17, 73 and 171.  The Steering Group may wish to include such encouragement in the 

supporting text to the amended policy in the event that the modified Plan proceeds to 

referendum.    

 

5.90 Accordingly, I recommend that Policy OW17 is amended as shown by tracked changes in 

Appendix 2 and the clean amended policy in Appendix 3. 

 

SUMMARY 

6.1 I set out the summary of my findings below. 

 

6.2 In accordance with the Town and Country Planning Act, 1990 Schedule 4B, Paragraph 5, I am 

satisfied that the submission plan proposal is not a ‘repeat ’proposal (i.e. the Borough Council 

has not refused a submission under paragraph 12 or Section 61E and it has not failed a 

referendum). 

 

6.3 I am satisfied that Old Windsor Parish Council is the body who submitted the Plan and is a 

qualifying body for the purposes of making a neighbourhood development plan.  The 

Designation of Old Windsor Neighbourhood Area was approved in accordance with the 

Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 and with section 61G of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990 as amended for the purposes of Neighbourhood Planning. It was 

formally designated by the Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead Council on 21st March 

2013. 

 

6.4 Concerning the requirement to comply with the requirements of the Town and Country Planning 

Act, 1990 Schedule 4B, Paragraph 6 (2) (c) and the Neighbourhood Planning (General) 

104



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

50 

Regulations (as amended) – Regulation 15, I confirm that the Royal Borough of Windsor & 

Maidenhead has submitted the following in a satisfactory form: 

 

(i) A map identifying the area to which the Plan relates; 

(ii) A consultation statement (which contains details of those consulted, how they 

were consulted, summarises the main issues or concerns raised and how these 

have been considered and where relevant addressed in the proposed 

neighbourhood development plan under Regulation 15 (2) (a); 

(iii) The proposed neighbourhood development plan; and 

(iv) A statement explaining how the neighbourhood development plan meets the 

‘Basic   Conditions’ requirements of paragraph 8 (2) of Schedule 4b to the 1990 

Act; 

  

6.5 As to public consultation, the process and management of the community consultation has been 

satisfactory and I am confident that the Consultation Statement outlining the terms of reference 

and actions of Old Windsor Parish Council, the supporting evidence from the workshops,  

consultation correspondence and feedback leading to the formulation of draft policies and 

subsequent pre-submission and submission plan consultation on the draft Plan policies 

adequately fulfils Section 15 (2) of Part 5 of the Neighbourhood Planning Regulations 2012 and 

Section 16 of these Regulation in relation to publicising the consultation opportunities during 

the preparation of the OWNP. 

 

6.6 The Plan has been examined against national policies in the NPPF (2012) and adopted planning 

policy of the Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead Borough Council.  A Basic Conditions 

Statement in a satisfactory form has been prepared which meets the ‘Basic Conditions’ 

requirements of paragraph 8 (2) of Schedule 4b to the 1990 Act; 

 

6.7 The OWNP meets the definition of a ‘Neighbourhood Development Plan’ in that it sets out 

policies in relation to the development and use of land in the neighbourhood area and therefore 

complies with the requirement of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2005, Section 38A 

(2). 

 

6.8 The ‘Neighbourhood Development Plan’ (as defined under Section 38A), specifies the time 

period for which it is to have effect in paragraph 1.1 of the Introduction to the Plan, as being 

from 2018 - 2033 thereby satisfying the requirement of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 

Act 2005, Section 38B (1) (a). 

 

6.9 I confirm that the OWNP does not include any policies relating to excluded development, 

including minerals, waste or nationally significant infrastructure projects, as defined s61K of the 

105



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

51 

Town & Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).  Thus, the requirement of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2005, Section 38B (1) (b) is also satisfied.  

 

6.10 As required by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2005, Section 38B (1) (c), I am also 

satisfied that the OWNP does not relate to more than one neighbourhood area and that there 

is no other Neighbourhood Development Plan in place within this neighbourhood area. 

 

EU OBLIGATIONS 
 

Strategic Environmental assessment of OWNP Policies 

6.11 The Consultation Statement explains that RBWM requested an initial screening opinion on the 

Regulation 14 version of the Plan to ascertain the need for a Strategic Environmental 

Assessment (SEA).  Following consultee responses, from Historic England and Natural England, 

the Plan was updated and in May 2017, a further SEA screening and Habitats Regulation 

Assessment was undertaken on the updated Plan, along with an assessment of (then) Policies 

OW9 (Windsor Sewage Treatment Works) and OW13 (Archaeological Assets), where issues had 

been raised by Historic England in its response to the initial SEA screening request in 2016.  The 

assessment considered that proposed amendments would not have a significant environmental 

impact and therefore an SEA was not required. In the Submission Version of the Plan, the 

amendments were included as a final paragraph of Policy OW7 (Sewerage Disposal and Windsor 

Sewage Treatment Works) and renumbered Policy OW10 (Archaeological Assets).  I concur that 

the combined modifications to these policies as a result of the intervention of the consultees 

represent sufficient guidance on the scope of the SEA.   

 

6.12 I also agree that that there will be no cumulative impact due to the other Neighbourhood Plan 

policies in respect of issues relating to harm to scheduled monuments or protection of 

archaeological assets and that overall, neither (renumbered) Policies OW7, nor OW10, are 

expected to have a negative impact on environmental sustainability and that consequently SEA 

was not required. 

 

Habitats Regulation Assessment  
 

6.13 The HRA screening assessment in relation to the Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan, June 2018, 

considered the impact on the relevant sites on the same basis as used in assessing the Local 

Plan in 2016, where Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Reports were carried out in 

respect of the likely adverse impact on any of the identified sites within approximately 5km of 

the boundary of the Borough.  The HRA Screening outcome concluded that no likely significant 

106



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

52 

effects in regard to the SPAs and SACs in the Borough would occur as a result of the 

implementation of the OWNP.  Furthermore, it was also concluded that no likely significant 

effects in respect of the European sites designated for conservation interest will occur as a 

result of the implementation of the OWNP and therefore the OWNP did not require a full HRA 

to be undertaken. 

 

In-combination effects 
 

6.14 The HRA Screening outcomes in 2016 and 2018 concluded that no likely significant effects in 

regard to the SPAs and SACs in the Borough would occur as a result of the implementation of 

the OWNP.  Furthermore, it was also concluded that no likely significant effects in respect of the 

European sites designated for conservation interest will occur as a result of the implementation 

of the OWNP and therefore the OWNP did not require a full HRA to be undertaken. 

 

People Over Wind & Sweetman v Coillte Teoranta, the Court of Justice of the 
European Union 
 

6.15 In April 2018, in the case People Over Wind & Sweetman v Coillte Teoranta (“People over Wind”), 

the Court of Justice of the European Union clarified that it is not appropriate to take account of 

mitigation measures when screening plans and projects for their effects on European protected 

habitats under the Habitats Directive.  As a consequence, changes to the Conservation of 

Habitats and Species and Planning (Various Amendments) (England and Wales) Regulations 

2018 came into force on 28 December 2018. The regulations now allow neighbourhood plans 

and development orders in areas where there could be likely significant effects on a European 

protected site to be subject to an ‘Appropriate Assessment’ to demonstrate how impacts will be 

mitigated, in the same way as would happen for a draft Local Plan or planning application.  In 

the light of the HRA Screening outcome, summarised above, it may therefore be concluded that 

following the changes referred to above to the Conservation of Habitats and Species and 

Planning (Various Amendments) (England and Wales) Regulations 2018,  that the basic condition 

prescribed for the purpose of paragraph 8(2)(g) of Schedule 4B to the 1990 Act, the making of 

the OWNP would not breach the requirements of Chapter 8 of Part 6 of the Conservation of 

Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. 

 

Convention on Human Rights 
 

6.16 The Basic Conditions Statement confirms that the OWNP has regard to and is compatible with 

the fundamental rights and freedoms guaranteed under the European Convention on Human 

Rights.  This statement is justified through the extensive engagement with the community and 

stakeholders as indicated in the Statement of Consultation.  I note that considerable care has 

107



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

53 

been exercised throughout the preparation and drafting of the Plan to ensure that the views of 

the whole community.  This should avoid unintentional negative impacts on particular groups.  

I am therefore of the opinion that there are unlikely to be any prejudicial effects on Human 

Rights and the related Equality Act 2010 if the Plan were to be made in accordance with my 

recommendations in this examination report. 

Conclusions and Recommendations 
 

7.1 I conclude that the OWNP policies, subject to my recommended alterations as set out in this 

examination report being accepted, would meet the Basic Conditions as defined in the Localism 

Act 2011, Schedule 10 and Schedule 4B, 8 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, which 

a neighbourhood plan is required to satisfy before proceeding to a referendum.  These are:  

i. Having regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by the 

Secretary of State it is appropriate to make the neighbourhood plan; 

 

ii. The making of the neighbourhood development plan contributes to the 

achievement of sustainable development; 

 

iii. The making of the neighbourhood development plan is in general conformity with 

the strategic policies contained in the development plan for the area of the 

authority (or any part of that area); 

 

iv. The making of the neighbourhood development plan does not breach, and is 

otherwise compatible with, EU obligations; and 

 

v. Prescribed conditions are met in relation to the neighbourhood plan and 

prescribed matters have been complied with in connection with the proposal for 

the neighbourhood plan. The prescribed condition is that the ‘making’ of the 

neighbourhood plan is not likely to have a significant effect on a European site (as 

defined in the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2012) or a 

European offshore marine site (as defined in the Offshore Marine Conservation 

(Natural Habitats etc.) Regulations 2007) (either alone or in combination with other 

plans or projects). 

7.2 I am satisfied that subject to the recommended policy revisions being accepted, that the draft 

OWNP has given adequate regard to the policies in the National Planning Policy Framework 

(NPPF 2012) and other relevant national planning guidance and would be in general conformity 

with the strategic policies of the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Council’s adopted 

108



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

54 

Local Plan (Incorporating Alterations Adopted June 2003) which sets out the planning strategy 

to deliver the social, economic and environmental needs for the Borough.  If the changes to the 

OWNP policies recommended in this examination report are accepted, I believe that the Plan 

will make a positive contribution to sustainable development, promoting economic growth, 

supporting social wellbeing, whilst conserving the natural and historic environment within the 

designated area and meet the neighbourhood planning, “basic conditions” in terms of: 

 having appropriate regard to national planning policy: 

 contributing to the achievement of sustainable development; 

  being in general conformity with the strategic policies in the development plans 

for the local area; 

 being compatible with human rights requirements; and  

 being compatible with European Union obligations. 

 

7.3 I therefore recommend that in accordance with Schedule 4B to the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990, paragraph 10 (2), b) that the modifications specified in this examination report are 

made to the submission draft OWNP and that the Plan as modified is submitted to a 

referendum. 

 

Referendum Area 

7.4  It is the independent examiner’s role to consider the referendum area appropriate if the 

Qualifying Body wishes to proceed to the referendum stage.  If Old Windsor Parish Council 

wishes to proceed to a referendum with this Plan, I consider that the referendum area should 

extend to those persons entitled to vote who are resident in the Designated Plan Area. 

 

Jeremy Edge BSc FRICS MRTPI  

20th May 2019 

 

 

109



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

55 

Appendix 1 
Background Documents 

In examining the OWNP I have had regard to the following documents: 

 

1. The Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan Submission Stage Consultation (Regulation 16) 

Version, August 2018 

2. Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Basic Conditions Statement, June 2018, 

Old Windsor Parish Council; 

3. Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Consultation Statement, June 2018, Old 

Windsor Parish Council; 

4. Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan Census and Evidence Base Analysis, October 2014, 

Old Windsor Parish Council; 

5. Archaeology in Old Windsor – a brief appraisal, Berkshire Archaeology October 2014; 

6. The Natural Environment in Berkshire Biodiversity Strategy 2014 – 2020, Berkshire 

Local Nature Partnership 2014; 

7. Biodiversity Resource Report – Figures, Acorn Ecology Limited, May 2015;  

8. Old Windsor Parish Heritage Survey,  Klara Spandl and Angela Warner, 20th July 2015;  

9. Neighbourhood Plan: Drainage Issues within the Parish, Old Windsor, Stilwell 

Partnership, October 2015. 

10. Regulation 16 consultation responses 

11. The Chief Planning Officer’s letter of 15th January 2019 to Chief Planning Officers relating 

to Habitats Regulations Assessments and the making of Neighbourhood Plans. 

12. Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 

13. The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) 

14. Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

15. The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010  

16. Localism Act 2011 

17. Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 

18. National Planning Policy Framework 2012 

19. National Planning Policy Framework 2018 

20. Planning practice guidance - GOV.UK 

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance 

21. National Planning Policy Framework, Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 

Government, published 24th July 2018. NPPF (2018) 

22. Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead Local Plan (Incorporating Alterations 

Adopted June 2003) – saved policies. 

23. Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Local Development Framework 

Sustainable Design and Construction SPD, June 2009 

110

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance


Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

56 

24. Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Housing and Economic Land Availability 

Assessment (HELAA) 2018, December 2018 

25. Site layout planning for daylight and sunlight: a guide to good practice, (BR209), P 

Littlefair, Building Research Establishment, 12 September 2011 

26. Parking Strategy, Planning Policy Unit, Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead, May 

2004 

27. The Chief Planning Officer’s letter of 15th January 2019 to Chief Planning Officers 

relating to Habitats Regulations Assessments and the making of Neighbourhood 

Plans. 

28. Conservation of Habitats and Species and Planning (Various Amendments) (England 

and Wales) Regulations 2018 

  

111



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

57 

Appendix 2 
Recommended Revised Policies (Tracked changes) 

 

POLICY OW1: SETTLEMENT BOUNDARY  

The development of Old Windsor village shall be focused within the settlement boundary as 

identified on the Policies Map.  

 

Development proposals will be supported within the settlement boundary subject to 

compliance with the other policies in the development plan. 

  

Development proposals outside the settlement boundary will not be permitted unless: 

• they represent land uses appropriate in the countryside Green Belt; and  

• they comply with national policy on development in the Green Belt. 

 

POLICY OW2: COALESCENCE WITH WINDSOR 

Development proposals in the gap between Old Windsor and Windsor should ensure that the 

separation between the settlements is maintained. 

 

POLICY OW3: DWELLING MIX 
Residential developments must provide a mix of dwelling sizes (market and affordable) that 

fall within the following ranges: 

•  1   bed dwellings: 10-15% of all dwellings  

•  2   bed dwellings: 25-35% of all dwellings  

•  3   bed dwellings: 25-35% of all dwellings  

•  4+ bed dwellings: 15-20% of all dwellings  

 

An alternative dwelling mix will only be permitted where it is demonstrated that the above 

mix would fundamentally compromise the viability of the scheme, taking into account other 

requirements of the development.  

  

Proposals for residential development Where a site is too small to secure the full required 

mix, development will be expected to provide a mix of dwelling sizes which maximises the 

potential number of dwellings on the plot whilst ensuring a high quality of design and without 

having a detrimental impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties. Development 

proposals for both housing to be sold in the market and for affordable housing delivering one 

and two bedroom dwellings will be encouraged. 

 

112



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

58 

POLICY OW4: RESIDENTIAL INFILL AND BACKLAND DEVELOPMENT  

Within the settlement area boundary shown on the Policies Map, planning permission for 

residential development proposals on infill and backland sites will be supported permitted 

subject to the following criteria:   

• Density - proposals that would lead to over-development of a site or the appearance of 

cramming will be resisted. It should be demonstrated that Ddevelopment proposals should 

be is of a similar density to properties in the immediate surrounding area  

• Plot width -– to ensure adequate amenity, development plots must be of sufficient width to 

allow proposeda building(s) to be sited with adequate separation between dwellings. Where 

division of a residential plot is proposed as a consequence of development, tThe width of the 

remaining and the new plot(s) should be similar to that prevailing in the immediate area.  

• Building line - where the prevailing depth of existing dwellings is a feature of the area, new 

development should respect that building line.   

• Visual separation - new dwellings must have similar spacing between buildings to that 

commonly found on the street frontage. Where houses are terraced in a locality, proposed 

the new contiguous development should normally be of a sympathetic terraced design.  

adjoin the adjacent property(s).  

• Building height - proposednew buildings should reflect the height of original, existing 

buildings in the locality. Where existing buildings are of a uniform height, proposed 

development new buildings should respect that height. 

• Daylight and sunlight -– Proposed development new buildings  which should not adversely 

affect the amenity of neighbouring properties by seriously reducing the amount of daylight 

and / or sunlight received by habitable rooms.available through windows. Blocking direct 

sunlight from reaching neighbouring properties can cause overshadowing and is not 

acceptable.  

• Development must not unacceptably reduce the level of private amenity space provision for 

existing residential properties.  

• Development should not adversely affect the significance of heritage assets, including the 

special interest, character and appearance of the Conservation Area.  

 

 

POLICY OW5: FLOODING AND DRAINAGE 

 

Add to the tracked changed supporting text at the end of paragraph 6.13 to the Submission draft 

OWNP: 

 

6.13  The 2014 RBWM Local Flood Risk Management Strategy4 considers the various causes of 

flooding, prevention strategies and RBWM’s statutory responsibility as Lead Local Flood 

Authority, to cooperate and work with a range of other bodies, including parish councils, 

113



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

59 

to prevent and manage flooding. It outlines a series of objectives that include the 

reduction of existing flood risk and ensuring that land use planning avoids, minimises and 

prevents an increase in flood risk. In addition, as noted by Thames Water in its Regulation 

16 response to the submission version of the neighbourhood plan, it is likely that need 

will arise for additional water and/or sewerage infrastructure over the life of the in flood 

risk areas. 

 

POLICY OW6: SUDS DESIGN AND MANAGEMENT 

 

Add to the tracked changed supporting text after paragraph 6.17 to the Submission draft OWNP: 

“Thames Water notes that it is the responsibility of a developer to make proper provision for 

surface water drainage to ground, water courses or surface water sewer. It must not be allowed 

to drain to the foul sewer, as this is the major contributor to sewer flooding.” 

 

 

POLICY OW7: SEWERAGE DISPOSAL AND WINDSOR SEWAGE TREATMENT WORKS 

 

Add the supporting text after paragraph 6.27 to the Submission draft OWNP 

 

“Where appropriate, planning permission for development resulting in the need for off-site 

upgrades, may be subject to a planning condition to ensure that first occupation is prohibited 

prior to the completion of necessary infrastructure upgrades.   

  

Developers are encouraged to contact the water/waste water management organisation as 

early as possible to discuss their development proposals and intended delivery programme to 

assist with identifying any potential water and wastewater network reinforcement 

requirements. Where there is a capacity constraint planning permission may be subject to a 

phasing condition requiring completion of necessary infrastructure upgrades prior to first 

occupation of the relevant phase of development.”   

 

 

POLICY OW7: SEWERAGE DISPOSAL AND WINDSOR SEWAGE TREATMENT WORKS  

Development will be supportedpermitted if the sewer network can accommodate the 

additional demand for sewerage disposal, both from the development itself and from 

permitted any accumulated developments in the area .where t This can be accommodated 

within the sewer network, either in its existing form or through planned improvements to the 

system, in advance of the construction or occupation of the development. Development 

proposals will not be supported unless it can be shown by a drainage study commissioned by 

the developer and carried out in consultation with Thames Water that there is sufficient 

114



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

60 

capacity in the local sewerage system and that any new connections will not increase the risk 

of system back up/flooding.  

 

Developers should be encouraged to engage with the appropriate water resources 

management organisation at the earliest opportunity, as indicated in paragraph 26 of the 

NPPF (February 2019), (or subsequent updates) to evaluate:  

• The development’s demand for Sewage/Wastewater Treatment and network infrastructure 

both on and off site and can it be met;  

• The surface water drainage requirements and flood risk of the development both on and off 

site; and 

• The development’s demand for water supply and network infrastructure, both on and off 

site. 

 

On individual sites of at least 10 dwellings or 500m2 of floorspace, planning permission will 

only be granted if the necessary wastewater infrastructure is either available or can be 

provided in time to serve the development. The planning authority will consult Thames Water 

on major applications and planning conditions will be imposed, if necessary to ensure that, in 

advance of any construction work:   

• a connection is provided to the existing local sewerage network at the nearest point of 

adequate capacity, or developers will need to provide alternative and proven methods of 

treating and disposing of wastewater that meet Environment Agency requirements and water 

quality objectives;   

• where a new Sewage Treatment Works is proposed by the developer, the whole route to 

the Sewage Treatment Works has adequate capacity and the risk of flooding is not increased 

in wet weather conditions;   

• a management plan is provided for future maintenance of any on-site wastewater 

treatment systems;   

• discharge into the River Thames meets Environment Agency requirements so that they do 

not endanger the ecology.  

 

The expansion of Windsor Sewage Treatment Works will be supported if the development 

does not cause harm to the significance of the Kingsbury Scheduled Monument or other 

archaeological remains (which might be either directly or by being within their setting) unless 

such harm is conclusively shown to be unavoidable, has been minimised or mitigated, and is 

clearly and convincingly justified by being outweighed by the public benefits of the 

development. 

 

 

 

115



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

61 

 

POLICY OW8: TOWNSCAPE (no change) 

 

Development proposals should reflect the character of the surrounding area and protect the 

amenity of neighbours. Development proposals must demonstrate how they are in keeping 

with and contribute positively to the respective townscape classification area, as defined by 

the RBWM Townscape Assessment, or any successor document. Opportunities for 

enhancement of the townscape through high quality design which reinforces the local 

distinctiveness of Old Windsor is encouraged.  

 

In particular, development proposals shall:   

1. where possible, seek to retain listed buildings and Buildings or Structures of Character 

(listed in Appendix C) that contribute to the distinctive character and historic and architectural 

interest of Old Windsor village; and  

2. ensure they do not detrimentally impact on the setting of buildings in the Old Windsor 

Conservation Area; and  

3. have a similar form of development to properties in the immediate surrounding area; (this 

is particularly the case for applications for two or more dwellings on a site currently or 

previously occupied by a single property); and  

4. provide appropriate parking and access arrangements, both for the new development and 

existing properties where they would be affected; and 5. reflect the boundary treatments 

prevailing in the surrounding area.  

 

 

POLICY OW9: HERITAGE ASSETS 

Development proposals within the designated areas shown on the Policies Map must 

demonstrate that they have fully considered the significance of the heritage assets within the 

designated area and have included appropriate measures to conserve those assets, based on 

their significance.   

Proposals within the setting of heritage assets as shown on the Policies Map must 

demonstrate that they will not affect the setting of the heritage assets, based on their 

significance.  

Planning permission will not be granted supported for development that would result in the 

loss of either listed buildings, or the following Buildings or Structures of Character:   

• Penny Royal Almshouses   

• Fox and Punchbowl building  

• Newtonside  

116



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

62 

• Manor Lodge Cottage (Glassworks)  

• The Tapestries  

• The Bells of Ouseley  

• The Jolly Gardeners  

• The Oxford Blue   

 

POLICY OW10: ARCHAEOLOGICAL ASSETS 

 

Due to the potential impact on assets of archaeological assetsinterest and the need to 

preserve andor enhance the historic environment, development proposals within the 

designated areas shown on the Policies Map should undertake the following action: must be 

informed by a programme of archaeological investigation completed in accordance with a 

written scheme of investigation agreed in writing with the Council’s archaeological advisors 

• 

Elsewhere within the plan area, proposals for development on greenfield land must be 

accompaniedshould be informed by an archaeological evaluation that assesses the risk of 

discovering unknown archaeological remains; or  

• proposals for replacement dwellings and other small-scale development are encouraged to 

seek and act on advice from RBWM’searly consultation with the Council’s archaeological 

advisor on the need for an , which should determine whether archaeological investigation and 

carry out any recommended action.  

  

On land outside the designated areas shown on the Policies Map,to inform development 

proposals will be required and, where there have been no previous disturbances of the ground 

are encouraged to undertake a programme of archaeological work. To be considered 

appropriatethey deem it necessary, such a programmeinvestigation should be agreed in 

advance with the local planning authority. completed before an application for consent is 

submitted.  

 

Where archaeological evaluation demonstrates that significant archaeology is present it may 

need to be preserved in situ.  

  

Where archaeological investigation demonstrates that remains of archaeological interest are 

present or likely to be present within the development site, development should be designed 

to preserve remains in situ, giving the highest priority to preserving archaeological remains of 

national importance.  Significant loss of remains of archaeological interest within the 

117



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

63 

designated areas is unlikely to be justified, unless it is to ensure the conservation and 

increased appreciation of the wider area of archaeological interest.  

 

Elsewhere in the neighbourhood plan area, any loss of archaeological remains would have to 

be robustly justified on the basis of delivering public benefits that could not otherwise be 

provided. Where the significance of remains does not merit their preservation an appropriate 

record should be made of any remains that will be lost and deposited with the Historic 

Environmental Record. 

 

POLICY OW11: PARKING STANDARDS FOR NEW RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT     

(Delete policy and supporting text) 

 

POLICY OW12: COMMERCIAL PARKING AND TRAVEL PLANNING 

Alter the explanatory text at paragraph 8.5 of the submission version of the Plan to read as 

follows:  

“All new commercial and service activities are encouraged to put in place a Travel Plan to 

introduce opportunities for the use of sustainable transport modes in order to maximise 

the potential for its staff to travel to work other than by non-private car.  modes of 

transport. “ 

 

POLICY OW12: COMMERCIAL PARKING AND TRAVEL PLANNING 

Proposals for new commercial development (A- or B-use class) must demonstrate that the  

additional vehicle parking created by its workforce will not have a detrimental impact on the 

highway network, neighbouring residential properties or existing businesses.  

 

Proposals for new commercial development (A- or B-use class) New commercial 

developments should seek to provide off-street parking for their workforce which meets the 

requirements of the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Parking Strategy or any 

successor document.   

 

Subject to demonstrating that they will not have an unacceptable detrimental impact on the 

highway network, neighbouring residential properties or existing businesses, proposals for 

new commercial activity that include for the provision of a Travel Plan, including the 

introduction of appropriate improvements to deliver sustainable travel, will be supported. 

 

118



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

64 

 

 

POLICY OW13: HIGHWAY CAPACITY   

 

Where development proposals are likely to give rise to adverse individual and / or cumulative 

transport impacts on relevant road junctions in Old Windsor, proposals which include 

appropriate mitigation to overcome identified adverse highway impact, and subject to other 

relevant planning considerations, will be supported. 

 

Development proposals which actively seek to address the cumulative transport impacts on 

road junctions in Old Windsor will be strongly encouraged. 

 

Transport Assessments (for larger sites) or Transport Statements (for smaller sites) - as 

required by Paragraph 32 of the National Planning Policy Framework - should address to the 

satisfaction of the highway authority the cumulative transport impact on road junctions, in 

particular including the following:   

1.  Straight Road junction (with St Lukes Road/St Peter’s Road)  

2.  Crimp Hill junction (with St Lukes Road/Burfield Road) 

3.  Old Windsor roundabout (junction of Albert Road/Straight Road/Datchet 

Road/Albany Road) 

 

Where mitigation measures are required, this will be expected to be provided either directly 

or through a financial contribution in the form of a planning obligation. 

 

POLICY OW14: PEDESTRIAN ROUTES 

New development whichshould provides good access to pedestrian routes, preferably from 

more than one access point, if possible.  and sSite layouts must be designed to provide safe 

routes to schools and other local amenities, giving consideration to footpaths and other off-

site schemes,  where appropriate, will be supported.   

 

POLICY OW15: PROTECTION OF NATURAL HABITATS, LANDSCAPE AND ECOLOGY  

In accordance with the NPPF Ddevelopment will not be supported which is likely to: 

a) Harm threaten any site which has been designated under the Habitats Regulations, or 

Wildlife and Countryside Act, or species protected by European or National legislation; will 

not be permitted.  

 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: Left:  1.25 cm, First

line:  0 cm, Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: a,

b, c, … + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:  1.25

cm + Indent at:  1.89 cm

119



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

65 

b) Result Development proposals that would result in the loss of, or cause unacceptable 

harm to a habitat or species of principal importance within the meaning of the Natural 

Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 NERC Act will not be permitted within the 

Parish unless the principales of avoidance, mitigation or compensation within the plan area 

are applied including the conservation and provision of a net gain in biodiversity and .  If it is 

not possible to reput in place the necessary compensatory measures to protect relevantthese 

habitats and species are secured in advance of implementation; , then development will not 

be permitted.  

 

c) Cause significant harm to well-established features of the landscape, including 

mature trees, species rich hedgerows and ponds particularly in areas of historic landscape 

integrity. 

Development retains well-established features of the landscape, including mature trees, 

species rich hedgerows and ponds will be supported. This is particularly important in the areas 

of historic landscape integrity.  

Where following development If there is  a significant loss of trees and/or shrubs occursas 

part of development, proposals which include appropriate mitigation through then new re-

provision in situ, or will be expected elsewhere on the site as appropriate will be supported, . 

The loss including of mature trees should be offset through there- planting of native tree 

species with local provenance .where such loss is of mature trees.  

 

POLICY OW16: LOCAL GREEN SPACES 

The following areas shown on the Policies Map are designated as a Local Green Spaces: 

A. Recreation Ground 

B. Allotments 

C. Newton Green 

D. Manor Riverside 

E. Ouseley Riverside 

F. Garden and green space behind Day Centre and Memorial Hall 

G. Green in front of the Fox & Castle and the Punchbowl 

H. Woodland at end of Burfield Road/Straight Road 

Proposals for development on these Local Green Spaces will only be permitted in very special 

circumstances in accordance with national policy on Green Belts. 

 

POLICY OW17: PROVISION OF COMMUNITY FACILITIES ADJACENT TO OLD WINDSOR 

RECREATION GROUND   

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.25 cm, First line:  0 cm

120



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

66 

Proposals for tThe demolition and reprovision of improved community facilities on the site of 

the existing Old Windsor community building including: 

will be strongly supported, including:  

• rebuilding of the community building, including an multifunctional activity hall; 

• kitchen facilities;  

• changing rooms; 

• Youth club  

will be supported. 

Improvements and new provision should seek to provide for the range of needs of all sectors 

of the community.  

 

Development must not have a detrimental impact on the adjacent Local Green Space at Old 

Windsor Recreation Ground. 

 

 

 

 

  

121



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

67 

Appendix 3 
Recommended Revised Policies (Clean) 
 

POLICY OW1: SETTLEMENT BOUNDARY  

The development of Old Windsor village shall be focused within the settlement boundary as 

identified on the Policies Map.  

 

Development proposals will be supported within the settlement boundary subject to 

compliance with the other policies in the development plan. 

  

Development proposals outside the settlement boundary will not be permitted unless: 

• they represent land uses appropriate in the Green Belt; and  

• they comply with national policy on development in the Green Belt. 

 

POLICY OW2: COALESCENCE WITH WINDSOR 

Development proposals in the gap between Old Windsor and Windsor should ensure that the 

separation between the settlements is maintained. 

 

POLICY OW3: DWELLING MIX 

Proposals for residential development will be expected to provide a mix of dwelling sizes 

which maximises the potential number of dwellings on the plot whilst ensuring a high quality 

of design and without having a detrimental impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties. 

Development proposals for both housing to be sold in the market and for affordable housing 

delivering one and two bedroom dwellings will be encouraged. 

 

 

POLICY OW4: RESIDENTIAL INFILL AND BACKLAND DEVELOPMENT 

 

Within the settlement area boundary shown on the Policies Map, planning permission for 

residential development proposals on infill and backland sites will be supported subject to 

the following criteria:   

• Density - proposals that would lead to over-development of a site or the appearance of 

cramming will be resisted. Development proposals should be of a similar density to properties 

in the immediate surrounding area  

122



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

68 

• Plot width – to ensure adequate amenity, development plots must be of sufficient width to 

allow proposed building(s) to be sited with adequate separation between dwellings. Where 

division of a residential plot is proposed as a consequence of development, the width of the 

remaining and the new plot(s) should be similar to that prevailing in the immediate area.  

• Building line - where the prevailing depth of existing dwellings is a feature of the area, new 

development should respect that building line.   

• Visual separation - new dwellings must have similar spacing between buildings to that 

commonly found on the street frontage. Where houses are terraced in a locality, proposed 

contiguous development should normally be of a sympathetic terraced design.   

• Building height - proposed buildings should reflect the height of existing buildings in the 

locality. Where existing buildings are of a uniform height, proposed development should 

respect that height. 

• Daylight and sunlight – Proposed development which should not adversely affect the 

amenity of neighbouring properties by seriously reducing the amount of daylight and / or 

sunlight received by habitable rooms.  

• Development must not unacceptably reduce the level of private amenity space for existing 

residential properties.  

• Development should not adversely affect the significance of heritage assets, including the 

special interest, character and appearance of the Conservation Area.  

 

 

POLICY OW5: FLOODING AND DRAINAGE 

 

Add to the tracked changed supporting text at the end of paragraph 6.13 to the Submission draft 

OWNP: 

 

6.13  The 2014 RBWM Local Flood Risk Management Strategy4 considers the various causes 

of flooding, prevention strategies and RBWM’s statutory responsibility as Lead Local Flood 

Authority, to cooperate and work with a range of other bodies, including parish councils, to 

prevent and manage flooding. It outlines a series of objectives that include the reduction of 

existing flood risk and ensuring that land use planning avoids, minimises and prevents an 

increase in flood risk. In addition, as noted by Thames Water in its Regulation 16 response to 

the submission version of the neighbourhood plan, it is likely that need will arise for additional 

water and/or sewerage infrastructure over the life of the in flood risk areas. 

 

 

 

 

 

123



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

69 

 

POLICY OW6: SUDS DESIGN AND MANAGEMENT 

 

Add the supporting text after paragraph 6.17 to the Submission draft OWNP:  

 

“Thames Water notes that it is the responsibility of a developer to make proper provision for 

surface water drainage to ground, water courses or surface water sewer. It must not be allowed 

to drain to the foul sewer, as this is the major contributor to sewer flooding.” 

 

 

POLICY OW7: SEWERAGE DISPOSAL AND WINDSOR SEWAGE TREATMENT WORKS 

 

Add the supporting text after paragraph 6.27 to the Submission draft OWNP 

 

“Where appropriate, planning permission for development resulting in the need for off-site 

upgrades, may be subject to a planning condition to ensure that first occupation is prohibited 

prior to the completion of necessary infrastructure upgrades.   

  

Developers are encouraged to contact the water/waste water management organisation as 

early as possible to discuss their development proposals and intended delivery programme to 

assist with identifying any potential water and wastewater network reinforcement 

requirements. Where there is a capacity constraint planning permission may be subject to a 

phasing condition requiring completion of necessary infrastructure upgrades prior to first 

occupation of the relevant phase of development.”   

 

 

POLICY OW7: SEWERAGE DISPOSAL AND WINDSOR SEWAGE TREATMENT WORKS  

 

Development will be supported if the sewer network can accommodate the additional 

demand for sewerage disposal, both from the development itself and from permitted 

developments in the area where this can be accommodated within the sewer network, either 

in its existing form or through planned improvements to the system, in advance of the 

construction or occupation of the development.  

 

Developers should be encouraged to engage with the appropriate water resources 

management organisation at the earliest opportunity, as indicated in paragraph 26 of the 

NPPF (February 2019), (or subsequent updates) to evaluate:  

• The development’s demand for Sewage/Wastewater Treatment and network infrastructure 

both on and off site and can it be met;  

124



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

70 

• The surface water drainage requirements and flood risk of the development both on and off 

site; and 

• The development’s demand for water supply and network infrastructure, both on and off 

site. 

 

The expansion of Windsor Sewage Treatment Works will be supported if the development 

does not cause harm to the significance of the Kingsbury Scheduled Monument or other 

archaeological remains (which might be either directly or by being within their setting) unless 

such harm is shown to be unavoidable, has been minimised or mitigated, and is justified by 

being outweighed by the public benefits of the development. 

 

 

POLICY OW8: TOWNSCAPE (no change) 

 

Development proposals should reflect the character of the surrounding area and protect the 

amenity of neighbours. Development proposals must demonstrate how they are in keeping 

with and contribute positively to the respective townscape classification area, as defined by 

the RBWM Townscape Assessment, or any successor document. Opportunities for 

enhancement of the townscape through high quality design which reinforces the local 

distinctiveness of Old Windsor is encouraged.  

 

In particular, development proposals shall:   

1. where possible, seek to retain listed buildings and Buildings or Structures of Character 

(listed in Appendix C) that contribute to the distinctive character and historic and architectural 

interest of Old Windsor village; and  

2. ensure they do not detrimentally impact on the setting of buildings in the Old Windsor 

Conservation Area; and  

3. have a similar form of development to properties in the immediate surrounding area; (this 

is particularly the case for applications for two or more dwellings on a site currently or 

previously occupied by a single property); and  

4. provide appropriate parking and access arrangements, both for the new development and 

existing properties where they would be affected; and 5. reflect the boundary treatments 

prevailing in the surrounding area.  

 

POLICY OW9: HERITAGE ASSETS 

Development proposals within the designated areas shown on the Policies Map must 

demonstrate that they have fully considered the significance of the heritage assets within the 

125



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

71 

designated area and have included appropriate measures to conserve those assets, based on 

their significance.   

Proposals within the setting of heritage assets as shown on the Policies Map must 

demonstrate that they will not affect the setting of the heritage assets, based on their 

significance.  

Planning permission will not be supported for development that would result in the loss of 

either listed buildings, or the following Buildings or Structures of Character:   

• Penny Royal Almshouses   

• Fox and Punchbowl building  

• Newtonside  

• Manor Lodge Cottage (Glassworks)  

• The Tapestries  

• The Bells of Ouseley  

• The Jolly Gardeners  

• The Oxford Blue 

 

 

POLICY OW10: ARCHAEOLOGICAL ASSETS 

 

Due to the potential impact on assets of archaeological interest and the need to preserve or 

enhance the historic environment, development proposals within the designated areas 

shown on the Policies Map must be informed by a programme of archaeological investigation 

completed in accordance with a written scheme of investigation agreed in writing with the 

Council’s archaeological advisors 

 

Elsewhere within the plan area, proposals should be informed by early consultation with the 

Council’s archaeological advisor, which should determine whether archaeological 

investigation to inform development proposals will be required and, where they deem it 

necessary, such investigation should be completed before an application for consent is 

submitted.  

 

Where archaeological investigation demonstrates that remains of archaeological interest are 

present or likely to be present within the development site, development should be designed 

to preserve remains in situ, giving the highest priority to preserving archaeological remains of 

126



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

72 

national importance.  Significant loss of remains of archaeological interest within the 

designated areas is unlikely to be justified, unless it is to ensure the conservation and 

increased appreciation of the wider area of archaeological interest.  

 

Elsewhere in the neighbourhood plan area, any loss of archaeological remains would have to 

be robustly justified on the basis of delivering public benefits that could not otherwise be 

provided. Where the significance of remains does not merit their preservation an appropriate 

record should be made of any remains that will be lost and deposited with the Historic 

Environmental Record. 

 

 

POLICY OW11: PARKING STANDARDS FOR NEW RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT     

(Delete policy and supporting text) 

 

POLICY OW12: COMMERCIAL PARKING AND TRAVEL PLANNING 

 

Alter the explanatory text at paragraph 8.5 of the submission version of the Plan to read as 

follows:  

“All new commercial and service activities are encouraged to put in place a Travel Plan to 

introduce opportunities for the use of sustainable transport modes to maximise the 

potential for staff to travel to work other than by private car.“ 

 

POLICY OW12: COMMERCIAL PARKING AND TRAVEL PLANNING 

 

Proposals for new commercial development (A- or B-use class) should provide off-street 

parking for their workforce which meets the requirements of the Royal Borough of Windsor 

and Maidenhead Parking Strategy or any successor document.   

 

Subject to demonstrating that they will not have an unacceptable detrimental impact on the 

highway network, neighbouring residential properties or existing businesses, proposals for 

new commercial activity that include for the provision of a Travel Plan, including the 

introduction of appropriate improvements to deliver sustainable travel, will be supported 

 

 

 

127



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

73 

POLICY OW13: HIGHWAY CAPACITY   

 

Where development proposals are likely to give rise to adverse individual and / or cumulative 

transport impacts on relevant road junctions in Old Windsor, proposals which include 

appropriate mitigation to overcome identified adverse highway impact, and subject to other 

relevant planning considerations, will be supported. 

 

POLICY OW14: PEDESTRIAN ROUTES 

New development which provides good access to pedestrian routes, preferably from more 

than one access point, and site layouts designed to provide safe routes to schools and other 

local amenities where appropriate will, be supported.   

 

 

POLICY OW15: PROTECTION OF NATURAL HABITATS, LANDSCAPE AND ECOLOGY  

 

Development will not be supported which is likely to: 

a) Harm any site designated under the Habitats Regulations, or Wildlife and Countryside 

Act, or species protected by European or National legislation; 

 

b) Result in the loss of, or cause unacceptable harm to a habitat or species of principal 

importance within the meaning of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities 

Act 2006 unless the principles of avoidance, mitigation or compensation within the 

plan area are applied including the conservation and provision of a net gain in 

biodiversity and necessary compensatory measures to protect relevant habitats and 

species are secured in advance of implementation; .  

 

c) Cause significant harm to well-established features of the landscape, including mature 

trees, species rich hedgerows and ponds particularly in areas of historic landscape 

integrity. 

 

Where following development a significant loss of trees and/or shrubs occurs, proposals 

which include appropriate mitigation through re-provision in situ, or elsewhere on the site, as 

appropriate will be supported, including re-planting of native tree species with local 

provenance where such loss is of mature trees.  

 

POLICY OW16: LOCAL GREEN SPACES  

(Delete Policy OW16 and supporting text) 

128



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

74 

 

POLICY OW17: PROVISION OF COMMUNITY FACILITIES ADJACENT TO OLD WINDSOR 

RECREATION GROUND   

Proposals for the demolition and reprovision of improved community facilities on the site of 

the existing Old Windsor community building including: 

• a multifunctional activity hall; 

• kitchen facilities;  

• changing rooms; 

will be supported. 

 

  

129



Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan 2018-2033 Submission Stage Version August 2018 – Examination Report 

     

 

Edge Planning & Development LLP         38 Northchurch Road    London   N1 4EJ       020 7684 0821  

75 

 

Appendix 4 

Berkshire Archaeology - Suggested Revisions to Policy OW10 Old Windsor 
Neighbourhood Plan – Submission Version 

Fiona Macdonald MA (Oxon) MCIfA,  
Principal Archaeologist 
Berkshire Archaeology 
Berkshire Record Office 
9 Coley Avenue 
Reading RG1 6AF 

 

Policy OW10 suggested edits: 

Due to the potential impact on archaeological assets and the need to preserve and enhance the 

historic environment, development proposals within the designated areas shown on the Policies 

Map should undertake the following action:  

• proposals for development on greenfield land must be accompanied by sufficient information 
to demonstrate their impact on both known and previously unrecorded archaeological assets. 
This is likely to require archaeological assessment and fieldwork evaluation, and may lead to a 
requirement for mitigation measures to conserve the significance of any archaeological assets 
present an archaeological evaluation that assesses the risk of discovering unknown 
archaeological remains; or  
• proposals for replacement dwellings and other small-scale development are encouraged to 
seek and act on advice from RBWM’s archaeological advisor prior to submission, regarding on 
the need for an archaeological investigation and/or mitigation,  and to carry out any 
recommended action.  
 

On land outside the designated areas shown on the Policies Map, development proposals where 

there have been no previous disturbances of the ground are encouraged to consider 

archaeological issues in advance, and undertake a programme of archaeological work if advised 

by. To be considered appropriate, such a programme should be agreed in advance with the local 

planning authority.  

Where archaeological evaluation demonstrates that significant archaeology is present it may 

need to be preserved in situ, or further stages of fieldwork to ensure preservation “by record” 

 

130



Appendix B – Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan

Examiner’s Recommended Changes

Location of
change

Page of
Plan

Proposed Change Commentary on examiner’s
view

Officer
recommendation

Policy OW1:
Settlement
Boundary

14 Refer to ‘land uses’ and Greenbelt
rather than ‘uses’ and ‘countryside’.

The revised policy complies better
with the NPPF.

Accept the change.

Policy OW3:
Dwelling Mix

17 Delete the section of the policy
which specifies the housing mix and
amend the rest of the policy to be
more generally applicable.

The approach is more appropriate
given the likely types of housing
developments that will be built in
Old Windsor.

Accept the change.

Policy OW4:
Residential
Infill and
Backland
Development

18 Detailed changes to the policy to
ensure that it is more appropriately
worded to ensure it is effective.

The revised policy is more
appropriately worded for use in
development management
decisions.

Accept the change.

Para 6.13 23 Add wording to the end of the
paragraph to reflect comments
made by Thames Water that there
is likely to a need for additional
water and sewerage infrastructure
over the plan period.

To give a clearer picture and
accord with a representation.

Accept the change.

Para 6.17 24 Add wording to make clear that it is
the developer’s responsibility to
ensure a site is sustainably drained.

This is helpful advice for future
developments.

Accept the change.

Para 6.27 26 Add new wording to the supporting
text for Policy OW7 Sewerage
Disposal and Windsor Sewage
Treatment Works.

This alteration seeks to ensure
that there will be sufficient capacity
in the sewage treatment system
before development is occupied
and comes into use.

Accept the change

131



Policy OW17:
Sewerage
Disposal and
Windsor
Sewage
Treatment
Works

27 Detailed wording changes to
implement the approach set out
above.

The revised policy wording should
make the use of the policy more
effective in operation over the life
of the plan.

Accept the change

Policy OW9:
Heritage
Assets

34 Changing a word in the policy from
‘granted’ to ‘supported’.

The revised wording is more
legally correct.

Accept the change

Policy OW10:
Archaeological
Assets

35 Detailed policy wording changes
are proposed to reinforce the policy.

These changes ensure the policy
reflects more accurately national
guidance for neighbourhood plans
and how policies should deal with
Archaeological Assets.

Accept the change

Policy OW11:
Parking
Standards for
New
Residential
Development

37 Deletion of the draft policy and
supporting text.

The approach and policy details
did not comply with national policy
and guidance.

Accept the change

Para 8.5 38 Detailed wording changes proposed
to the paragraph relating to the use
of Travel Plans.

The revised wording accords more
with guidance and practice.

Accept the change

Policy OW12:
Commercial
Parking and
Travel
Planning

38 Detailed wording changes proposed
to the policy relating to encouraging
the use of more sustainable modes
of transport and ensuring the
provision of an appropriate level of
workforce parking.

This is to simplify the policy and
avoid repetition.

Accept the change

132



Policy OW13:
Highway
Capacity

39 The policy is rewritten to make it
more generic.

The revised approach allows it to
be applied where it is relevant, as
there are more junctions in the
parish which may need assessing
than those listed in the original
policy.

Accept the change

Policy OW14:
Pedestrian
Routes

39 Minor changes to the wording are
proposed.

These changes are to improve
clarity.

Accept the change

Policy OW15:
Protection of
Natural
Habitats,
Landscapes
and Ecology

43 The policy wording is amended to
reflect the objective stated in the
plan for it, as well as respond to
Natural England’s comments.

These changes ensure the policy
reflects more accurately national
guidance for neighbourhood plans
and how policies should deal with
this policy area.

Accept the change

Policy OW16:
Local
Greenspaces

Pages 44
to 48

The policy and supporting text
should be deleted from the plan.

The evidence provided in and with
the plan does not meet the tests
set out in the NPPF to support the
proposed designations of the
areas listed as Local Greenspace.

Accept the change

Policy OW17:
Provision of
Community
Facilities
adjacent to Old
Windsor
Recreation
Ground

Page 50 Some minor changes to the policy
are proposed.

These changes are to improve the
wording of the policy.

Accept the change

133



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interest
	3 Minutes
	5 Forward Plan
	$$PDocPackPublic.version0001.pdf
	Plan


	6i) Highways and Transport Investment Programme 2019-20
	6ii) Energy Contract Procurement
	6iii) Financial Update
	6iv) Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan Decision to Proceed to Referendum

